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TASK: To strategise and provide oversight so that the

TASK: To strategise and provide oversight on the

Co-operative continues to meet profit targets and

Co-operative’s efforts to retain current members and

regulatory requirements for its capital adequacy and

recruit new members.

liquidity ratios.
CHAIRMAN:
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are
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laws
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implementation of IT projects approved by the Board.
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TASK: To set personnel and remuneration policies.

HEAD:
Mr Gong Wai Liat Ken

CHAIRMAN:
Mr Koh Wei Keong

MEMBER:
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Mr Soh Buck Nguan Bernard
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SHAREHOLDINGS IN COMPANIES WITH BOARD
REPRESENTATION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019*

The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Ltd

Premier Security

Secom (Singapore)

Choice Décor

SPCS Consultancy

Co-operative Ltd*

Pte Ltd*

Co-operative Society

Pte Ltd*

(42.25%)

(7%)

Ltd* (99.75%)

(100%)

Pro Vision
Technology
(Asia Pacific) Pte Ltd
(44.57%)

D’GARDE Security

Suites Hotel

Pte Ltd

Holding Ltd

(100%)

(10%)
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MINUTES OF
THE LAST (89TH) ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING
HELD ON 13 JUNE 2019 AT 1106 HOURS AT HOMETEAMNS–JOM
CLUBHOUSE, FUNCTION HALL, 31 AH HOOD ROAD, SINGAPORE 329979
PRESENT

MR HOONG WEE TECK
President, Commissioner of Police
And 86 members

AGENDA 1:

OPENING ADDRESS BY THE CHAIRMAN, MR MOH TSER LOONG ALVIN

1.1

Secretary, Mr Chong Huat Suang Alvin, called the 89th Annual General Meeting (AGM) to order at
1106 hours with a quorum of 57 members. 24 associate members were also present.
(Note: There were 86 members comprising 60 ordinary members and 26 associate members in
attendance eventually. 5 additional members attended the meeting after the quorum was
announced.)
He invited Chairman of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Ltd, Mr Moh Tser Loong Alvin, to
make his opening speech.
The opening address by the Chairman, Mr Moh Tser Loong Alvin, is attached at Annex A.

AGENDA 2:

ADDRESS BY THE PRESIDENT, COMMISSIONER OF POLICE, MR HOONG WEE TECK

2.1

Mr Hoong Wee Teck addressed members and declared the AGM open. The text of his speech is
attached at Annex B.

2.2

Following the address, Mr Hoong Wee Teck and Mr Koh Wei Keong, Vice-Chairman of Police
Co-operative, took their leave.

2.3

The meeting proceeded with Chairman of Police Co-operative, Mr Moh Tser Loong Alvin,
conducting the AGM.

07

AGENDA 3:

TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE 88TH AGM HELD ON 5 JUNE 2018 AT HOMETEAMNS-JOM
CLUBHOUSE

3.1

There being no objections from the meeting, the minutes were approved as proposed by Mr
Balakrishnan Anbarasan and seconded by Mr Chua Chuan Seng.

AGENDA 4:

MATTERS ARISING FROM THE SAID MINUTES

4.1

There were no matters arising.

AGENDA 5:

TO RECEIVE & IF APPROVED, TO ADOPT THE REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

5.1

The Report was approved as proposed by Ms Chong Hung Li Grace and seconded by Mr
Rambindan Tiwari.

AGENDA 6:

TO RECEIVE & IF APPROVED, TO ACCEPT THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

6.1

The Audited Financial Statements were approved as proposed by Mr Lee Chin Ek and seconded by
Mr Tan Chiat Hsiong.

AGENDA 7:

TO APPROVE THE APPROPRIATION OF NET SURPLUS OF $3,321,706 AS FOLLOWS:

7.1

Secretary read out the appropriation of net surplus as follows:
(1) To Central Co-operative Fund
@ 5% on the first $500,000 & @ 20% on the rest……………………………………………………………. $ 589,341
(2) To Payment of Dividends @ 3.00% on members’ shares and subscription
as on 31st December 2017……………………..……………………………………………………………..…………. $ 2,768,643
(3) To Scholarship Fund………………………………………………..…………………………………..…………….….…. $ 13,000
(4) To Honorarium………………………………………………………..…………………………..…………………….….….. $ 4,700
(5) To Common Good Fund……………………………………………..……………………………………………..…… $ 60,000
(6) To Accumulated Fund………………………………………………..…………………………………………..….……. $ (113,978)

7.2

The appropriation was approved as proposed by Mr Chua Chee Wai and seconded by Mr Boh Teck
Boon Kenard.
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AGENDA 8:

TO APPROVE A FINAL DIVIDEND PAYMENT OF 2.88% BASED ON MEMBERS’ SHARES AND
SUBSCRIPTION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 TO BE PAID IN FY2019

8.1

The dividend payment was approved as proposed by Mr Sujendran s/o Gnanasubramaniam and
seconded by Mr Amerulzaid Bin Aziz.

AGENDA 9:

TO APPROVE THE ADJUSTMENTS FOR FY2019 AND THE ESTIMATED EXPENDITURE FOR FY2020

9.1

The adjustments for FY2019 and the estimated Expenditure for FY2020 were approved as proposed
by Ms Yu Wanyi and seconded by Mr Ang Chun Hiang.

AGENDA 10:

TO AUTHORISE THE BOARD TO APPOINT A PROFESSIONAL AUDIT FIRM, WHERE NECESSARY, TO BE
INTERNAL AUDITORS OF THE CO-OPERATIVE FOR FY2019/2020 AND TO FIX ITS REMUNERATION

10.1

There being no objection from the meeting, the appointment of a professional audit firm as Internal
Auditors of the Co-operative for FY2019/2020 was approved as proposed by Mr Niam Chaur Shiuh
and seconded by Ms Chia Shu Hui.

AGENDA 11:

TO AUTHORISE THE BOARD TO APPOINT TWO MEMBERS, WHERE NECESSARY, AS INTERNAL
AUDITORS OF THE CO-OPERATIVE FOR FY2019/2020 AND TO FIX THEIR REMUNERATION

11.1

There being no objection from the meeting, the appointment of two members as Internal Auditors
of the Co-operative for FY2019/2020 was approved as proposed by Mr Mohd A’mran Bin Abdul
Rahman and seconded by Ms Mayasamy Kamala Letchimi.

AGENDA 12:

TO AUTHORISE THE BOARD TO APPOINT A PROFESSIONAL AUDIT FIRM AS EXTERNAL AUDITORS OF
THE CO-OPERATIVE FOR FY2019/2020 AND TO FIX ITS REMUNERATION

12.1

There being no objection from the meeting, the appointment of a professional audit firm as External
Auditors of the Co-operative for FY2019/2020 was approved as proposed by Mr Yong Chin Loong
and seconded by Mr Muhammad Firdaus Bin Abdullah Taufik.

AGENDA 13:

TO TRANSACT ANY OTHER BUSINESS IN RESPECT OF WHICH NOTICE HAS BEEN RECEIVED BY THE
SECRETARY THREE WORKING DAYS BEFORE THE MEETING

13.1

Secretary reported that no notice for any other business was received.

13.2

There being no other matters to discuss, Secretary thanked the members for their attendance. The
meeting ended at 1126 hours.

RECORDED BY

CONFIRMED BY

Chong Huat Suang Alvin

Moh Tser Loong Alvin

Secretary

Chairman
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OPENING ADDRESS FOR THE 89TH AGM BY CHAIRMAN (ANNEX A)
CP and President of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society,
Fellow Directors, and
Members,
1

A very good morning and welcome to the 89th

6

AGM.

I would also give an update on our Renovation
and

Construction

Business

line.

We

have

suspended bidding for new contracts under our
2

The Co-op had done relatively well for 2018.

subsidiary, Choice Décor. This is due to the

Despite challenging market conditions, the Co-op

challenging

remained profitable, chalking up a net surplus of

construction industry which has led to business

more than $3 million, with total assets and

failure in many industry players including our main

membership numbers both increasing.

sub-contractor. Consequently, we have impaired

business

environment

in

the

our investment in Choice Décor.
3

The

Subscription-to-Savings

Scheme

(STSS)

launched in 2018 at a fixed interest rate of 3.25%

4

7

On the property front, I am happy to report that

was well received. Members placed a total of $13

after ten years of persistent ‘courtship’, we have

million in the latest STSS, and members now have

successfully

$53 million parked under STSS. On subscription

investment that we are optimistic will add value to

savings, the Board has recommended a dividend

our investment portfolio. I will leave it to President

of 2.88% for 2018.

Co-op to share the good news.

There

has

been

significant

tightening

of

8

made

a

significant

property

The Co-op will continue to focus on serving our

regulations governing Credit Co-ops in the past

members by generating stable returns, providing

years. The Co-op is now required to park at least

affordable loans, and creating re-employment

70% of total assets in risk-free assets. Risk free

opportunities. While doing so, we will also

assets are cash, fixed deposits, and Singapore

maintain focus to ensure a high level of corporate

Government bonds. These assets now generate

governance in the management of the Co-op.

returns of about 2%. What this means is that the
ability of the co-op to generate market-level
returns is limited.

9

It is now my pleasure to call upon the
Commissioner of Police and President of the Police
Co-operative to deliver his address. CP Sir.

5

On the flip side, the down side risk is managed. For
example, if you have placed money in the Straits
Times Index at the start of 2018, you would have
lost 6.5% of your investment by end 2018. Whereas,
the Co-op was still able to offer STSS at 3.25% and
recommend a dividend of 2.88%. Our dividend
rate is on the higher end compared to other credit
co-ops that we looked at. These co-ops on
average declared a dividend rate of under 2%.
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SPEECH BY MR HOONG WEE TECK, COMMISSIONER OF POLICE,
AT THE 89TH AGM OF THE SINGAPORE POLICE CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY
THURSDAY, 11AM, 13 JUNE 2019, HTNS-JOM CLUBHOUSE (ANNEX B)
Chairman,
Directors,
Management Team,
and Members,
Good Morning.
1

THRIFT AND LOAN

I’m very happy to be here this morning for Co-op’s
AGM. After listening to Alvin, it seems like when

5

First, in the area of thrift and loan. The Co-op will

times are bad, you should park your money with

continue to help members in their aspirations and

Co-op. When times are good, you should take out

needs by offering loans at affordable interest rates.

and deposit your money elsewhere.
6
2

Jokes aside, is this what you should do? What is the

loan applications, bringing the total loans to about

objective of Co-op? The Singapore Police

$30 million.

Co-operative was set up 93 years ago in 1926.
Over the years, the Co-op has grown to become a
$253 million co-operative, with close to 13
thousand members.
3

There is a reason for this growth. It is due to the
way Co-op operates. We are careful because we
have a responsibility to properly manage your
monies. We adhere strictly to the tight restrictions
placed by the regulators.

4

In 2018, the Co-op approved close to 99% of the

Despite the growth and progress, the Co-op
remains steadfast to its mission, adding value to
the well-being of its members. This is achieved in
several ways.
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INVESTING FOR THE FUTURE
7

13 I encourage the Board to continue its good work

In maximising value for members, the Co-op team

in securing employment opportunities for our

will continue to think and plan ahead for the future.

retired members.

In FY2018, the Co-op purchased the entire level 1 of
LOOKING AHEAD

SPCS Building from DBS.

14 As the Co-op continues to grow, it is important to
8

The Co-op is now the sole owner of the SPCS

maintain

Building. This freehold property is an excellent

governance. In this aspect, the Co-op has made

investment in my view, located close to the MRT

significant enhancement over the past years.

the

high

standards

of

corporate

station. It is strategically located and has good
potential to yield returns in the future when the
Co-op redevelops or sells the property.

15 The various measures and audits put in place by
the Co-op have strengthened governance in areas
such as internal controls, tax compliance, as well as

9

Such returns and any rental generated will, of

compliance to the Co-operative Societies Act.

course, benefit members.
16 Beyond corporate governance, the Board should
RE-EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES

also carry on its work in maximising value to

10 In my address last year, I asked the Board to further
explore

employment

opportunities

for

our

members and ensure members benefit from its
various initiatives.

members, especially those who are retiring. I am
glad that the Board, through SPCS Consultancy, is
making progress in this area.

17 While doing so, the Board should also have an eye
for the future and seize any opportunity which will
put the Co-op in a strong position for future years.

11

In FY2018, SPCS Consultancy offered jobs to 39
retirees from projects secured by the company.
This number is expected to increase in FY2019 as

18 I wish the Co-op and the Board of Directors a
successful year ahead.

the company has already secured more projects.
19 It now gives me great pleasure to declare the 89th
12 Retirees may have the opportunity to train and
provide consultancy services to overseas law
enforcement agencies.

AGM open. Thank you.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’
REPORT FOR FY2019
Dear Members,
The Board of Directors is pleased to present the Annual Report, Statement of Accounts and Balance Sheet for the year
ending 31 December 2019.

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
1. NET SURPLUS
The Co-operative recorded a net surplus of $3,636,705 for the year under review. This was an increase of 9.48% as
compared to FY2018’s net surplus of $3,321,706.
GRAPH 1: NET SURPLUS FROM FY2015-2019
4,321,085

4,001,034

4,106,215
3,321,706

2015

2016

2017

2018

3,636,705

2019

TABLE 1: CHANGE IN NET SURPLUS FOR FY 2015-2019
FINANCIAL YEAR

NET SURPLUS

% CHANGE (YEAR ON YEAR)

2015

$4,321,085

0.45%

2016

$4,001,034

7.41%

2017

$4,106,215

2.63%

2018

$3,321,706

19.11%

2019

$3,636,705

9.48%
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2. CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO (CAR)
In its Updated Written Direction for Credit Co-operatives dated 29 June 2016, the Registry of Co-operative Societies
indicated that the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) for credit societies would have to be increased according to the
following time frame:
TABLE 2: CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO AND LOAN LIMITS
EFFECTIVE DATES AND QUALIFYING CONDITIONS

LOAN LIMITS ON UNSECURED GENERAL LOANS

From 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2020

Tier A:

Tier A: at least 10% CAR and 15% MLA

$50,000 or 6 months’ income**, whichever is lesser

Tier B: at least 8% CAR and 15% MLA

$30,000 or 4 months’ income*, whichever is lesser

Tier C: less than 8% CAR or 15% MLA

Tier B:

1

$40,000 or 6 months’ income**, whichever is lesser

From 1 July 2020 onwards
Tier A: at least 12% CAR and 15% MLA
Tier B: at least 10% CAR and 15% MLA
Tier C: less than 10% CAR or 15% MLA

$20,000 or 4 months’ income*, whichever is lesser
Tier C:
$20,000 or 4 months’ income**, whichever is lesser
$10,000 or 2 months’ income*, whichever is lesser

** loan to be granted has salary check-off or at least one qualified surety
* loan to be granted has no salary check-off and no qualified surety

TABLE 3: CALCULATION OF CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO
CAR is calculated as follows:
CAR (%)= (Institutional Capital)
(Total Assets )

x 100

Institutional Capital = Accumulated Fund + General Reserve Fund
CAR would ensure that the Co-operative will have sufficient institutional capital to absorb unforeseen operating losses.
As at 31 December 2019, the Co-operative had a CAR of 8.90% after appropriations for FY2019 and an MLA of 49.4%,
which was much higher than the regulatory requirement of 15%. Loans were granted under Tier B limits in FY2019.
1

MLA stands for Minimum Liquid Assets – which consist of low risk assets such as cash, deposits in savings, current and fixed deposit accounts,
and Singapore Government Securities.

14

Annual Report 2019

With a growing total asset base coupled with restrictions on investments, it has been difficult for the Co-operative to
attempt to reach the CAR of 10% by 1 July 2020 in spite of the Co-operative taking the following actions:
a)

Implemented cap for subscription at $200 monthly with effect from 1 January 2017 for existing members whose
monthly contributions exceed $200. The Co-operative had capped monthly contributions for new members
with effect from 1 October 2002; and

b)

Implemented cap for specific deposits at $500 monthly with effect from 1 October 2016 (reduced from $2,500).

The Co-operative, together with some other credit co-operatives, had sought conditional approval from the Registrar
of Co-operative Societies for an extension period of up to 3 years to fulfil its CAR requirements.
3. DIVIDENDS
The Board of Directors has recommended a dividend payment of 1.50% based on the total subscription balance as at
31 December 2019. For share capital, dividends would be paid out on a pro-rata basis, from 1 January to 31 December
2019, provided the member was still a shareholder as at 31 December 2019.
The lower dividend payout for FY2019 will help the Co-operative fulfill its CAR requirements per the Written Direction
to Credit Societies. While the Co-operative remains in a strong capital position, taking a prudent approach towards
dividends is necessary and timely, given the risk of prolonged economic uncertainty due to COVID-19. With a lower
dividend payout, the Co-operative can build up its institutional capital, strengthen its ability to operate under stress
conditions, better protect its depositors, and position itself to meet future challenges.
TABLE 4: DIVIDEND RATES
FINANCIAL YEAR

DIVIDEND RATE

2015

3.50%

2016

3.00%

2017

3.00%

2018

2.88%

2019

1.50%

4. MEMBERSHIP
In 2019, the Co-operative recruited 462 new ordinary and associate members to join the Co-operative.
TABLE 5: NUMBER OF MEMBERS
FINANCIAL
YEAR

NEW &
CONTINUED

RESIGNATIONS

ORDINARY

ASSOCIATE

TOTAL (ORDINARY
& ASSOCIATE)

2015

1,185

462

10,059

2,131

12,190

2016

1,002

482

10,504

2,206

12,710

2017

853

707

10,507

2,349

12,856

2018

547

496

10,466

2,441

12,907

2019

462

495

10,319

2,555

12,874
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GRAPH 2: PERCENTAGE OF ORDINARY AND ASSOCIATE MEMBERS
100%
90%

2,131

2,206

2,349

2,441

2,555

10,059

10,504

10,507

10,466

10,319

FY2015

FY2016

FY2017

FY2018

FY2019

80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

Ordinary

Associate

GRAPH 3: AGE OF MEMBERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
2,239 | 17%

7,851 | 61%
30 to less than 50 years

Less than 30 years

713 | 6%
65 or more years

4.1

2,071 | 16%
50 to less than 65 years

Recruitment Talks
In FY2019, the Co-operative conducted 11 recruitment/awareness talks/roadshows at various Police divisions,
Internal Security Department and AETOS2, reaching out to an estimated audience size of 1,075.

4.2 Common Reporting Standard: Individual Tax Residency Self-Certification
In compliance with changes to the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore (IRAS) income tax laws, all credit
co-operatives are required to obtain an Individual Tax Residency Self-Certification from the account holder upon
the opening of a new membership account with the Co-operative with effect from 1 January 2017.
The Co-operative has consistently reviewed members’ records to identify the tax residency of pre-existing
account holders. It is obliged to terminate the accounts of affected members who could not provide the
requisite documents to satisfy the requirements of IRAS.
To ensure that the Co-operative shall have the requisite set of documents for submission to IRAS, a complete set
of documents for new membership application must be submitted in person at the Co-operative’s office.
2

15 recruitment talks were conducted in FY2018.

16

Annual Report 2019

4.3 Membership Recruitment Drive: Incentives for Existing Members
The Co-operative gives an existing member $25 for every new applicant proposed by him and successfully
accepted as a member of the Co-operative. An amount of $6,950 was spent on this initiative in FY2019 compared
to $7,300 in FY2018.
4.4 25 Years Loyalty Award
There were 133 members who joined the Co-operative during the period 1 July 1993 to 30 June 1994. Each
eligible member received $150 credited into his/her bank account. A total of $19,950 (FY2018: $23,850) was
disbursed for the award.
5. TOTAL DEPOSITS
As at 31 December 2019 total deposits (subscription, subscription-to-savings, specific and fixed deposits) collected
from members (excluding staff) amounted to $226,845,2893.
GRAPH 4: TOTAL DEPOSITS FOR FY2015 TO 2019
$120,000,000
$100,000,000
$80,000,000
$60,000,000
$40,000,000
$20,000,000
$0
FY2015
Subscription
5.1

FY2016
Specific Deposit

FY2017
Fixed Deposit

FY2018

FY2019

Subscription-to-Savings

Subscription
The total subscription for FY2019 was $101,353,298.
This is a compulsory monthly savings scheme. The current minimum monthly contribution per month is $40.
The current cap for subscription savings is $200 monthly.
The Co-operative has capped the monthly subscription at $200 in order to manage the Capital Adequacy Ratio
(See Section 2).
Dividends were paid out based on a member’s subscription balance as at 31 December 2019.

3

Total deposit collected in FY2018 was $220,974,713.
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TABLE 6: SUBSCRIPTION BALANCE FROM FY2015 TO FY2019
FINANCIAL
YEAR

SUBSCRIPTION
BALANCE
SGD

ABSOLUTE INCREASE (DECREASE)
OVER PRECEDING YEAR
SGD

% INCREASE (DECREASE)
OVER PRECEDING YEAR
SGD

2015

76,866,566

13,396,545

21.11%

2016

79,158,636

2,292,070*

2.98%

2017

91,309,160

12,150,524

15.35%

2018

89,688,173

(1,620,987)*

(1.78%)

2019

101,353,298

11,665,125

13.01%

* Transfer to STSS in 2016 – $10,521,726
Transfer to STSS in 2018 – $12,923,404

5.2

Subscription-to-Savings (STS)
The STS Scheme was launched in 2011 by the Co-operative. Eligible members were issued letters of participation
from the Co-operative. Upon agreeing, they were required to transfer funds from their Subscription Account to
the STS Account.
Series 1
Series 1 matured on 31 October 2014 and was replaced by Series 3.
Series 2
Series 2 matured on 31 October 2016 and was replaced by Series 5.
Series 3
Series 3 matured on 31 October 2019 and was replaced by Series 9.
Series 4
Series 4 matured on 31 October 2018 and was replaced by Series 7.
Series 5
The Co-operative launched Series 5 to replace Series 2. Under Series 5, members would enjoy an interest rate
of 3.50% per annum for the period 1 November 2016 to 31 October 2020. There would be claw-back of interest
in the event of early redemptions. A principal amount of $3,930,228 was rolled over from Series 2 to Series 5 by
931 members on 1 November 2016. As at 31 December 2019, the amount was $3,674,208 (FY2018: $3,835,649).
Series 6
Under Series 6 of the STSS, members would enjoy an interest rate of 3.25% per annum for the period 1 November
2016 to 31 October 2021. There would be claw-back of interest in the event of early redemptions. An amount of
$10,521,726 was transferred to Series 6 by 2,058 members on 1 November 2016. As at 31 December 2019, the
amount was $9,822,728 (FY2018: $10,088,478).
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Series 7
The Co-operative launched Series 7 to replace Series 4. Under Series 7, members would enjoy an interest rate of
3.25% per annum for the period 1 November 2018 to 31 October 2022. There would be claw-back of interest in
the event of early redemptions. A principal amount of $9,555,241 was rolled over from Series 4 to Series 7 by
1,605 members on 1 November 2018. As at 31 December 2019, the amount was $9,329,324 (FY2018: $9,553,801).
Series 8
Under Series 8 of the STSS, members would enjoy an interest rate of 3.25% per annum for the period 1 November
2018 to 31 October 2022. There would be claw-back of interest in the event of early redemptions. An amount of
$12,923,404 was transferred to Series 8 by 1,840 members on 1 November 2018. As at 31 December 2019, the
amount was $12,720,054 (FY2018: $12,923,404).
Series 9
The Co-operative launched Series 9 to replace Series 3. Under Series 9, members would enjoy an interest rate
of 3.00% per annum for the period 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2023. There would be claw-back of interest
in the event of early redemptions. A principal amount of $14,104,560 was rolled over from Series 3 to Series 9 by
1,146 members on 1 November 2019. As at 31 December 2019, the amount was $14,079,129.
Total
The total Subscription-to-Savings for FY2019 was $49,625,443 (FY2018: $53,332,225).
5.3

Specific Deposits
The specific deposits total for FY2019 was $62,370,490.
This is a discretionary savings scheme. The current minimum and maximum monthly savings sum is $10 and $500
respectively.
Interest is calculated on daily balances with half-yearly crediting on 1 January and 1 July yearly.
TABLE 7: SPECIFIC DEPOSIT BALANCE FROM FY2015 TO FY2019
FINANCIAL
YEAR

SPECIFIC DEPOSITS
BALANCE
SGD

ABSOLUTE INCREASE OVER
PRECEDING YEAR
SGD

% INCREASE OVER
PRECEDING YEAR
SGD

2015

47,657,533

6,062,715

14.58%

2016

53,176,269

5,518,736

11.58%

2017

57,946,358

4,770,089

8.97%

2018

60,617,317

2,670,959

4.61%

2019

62,370,490

1,753,173

2.89%
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TABLE 8: COMPARISON BETWEEN CO-OP’S SPECIFIC DEPOSIT RATES AND FI’S SAVINGS RATES
RATES FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTION (FI)

PERIOD

POLICE CO-OP’S
SPECIFIC DEPOSIT
RATES

BANK SAVINGS
DEPOSITS*

FINANCE COMPANIES
SAVINGS DEPOSITS*

1 January to
31 December 2019

0.60% per annum

0.16% per annum

0.17% per annum

* Information obtained from the website of the Monetary Authority of Singapore

5.4 Fixed Deposits
There was an outflow of fixed deposit monies amounting to $3,840,940 in FY2019 (FY2018: $4,175,704). Total fixed
deposit in the Co-operative in FY2019 was $13,496,0584, a decrease of 22.15% as compared to FY2018.
TABLE 9: FIXED DEPOSIT RATES
RATES (PER ANNUM) FROM 1 DECEMBER 2016
AMOUNT

6 MONTHS

12 MONTHS

24 MONTHS

36 MONTHS

$500 - $49,999

0.50%

0.60%

0.70%

0.80%

$50,000 - $99,999

0.50%

0.60%

0.70%

0.80%

$100,000 and above

0.50%

0.60%

0.70%

0.80%

GRAPH 5: FIXED DEPOSIT BALANCE AND OUTFLOW FROM FY2015 TO FY2019
$35,000,000
$30,000,000
$25,000,000
$20,000,000
$15,000,000
$10,000,000
$5,000,000
$0
-$5,000,000
-$10,000,000
FY2015

FY2016
Fixed Deposits

4

Total fixed deposit in the Co-operative in FY2018 was $17,336,998.

FY2017
Outflow

FY2018

FY2019
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6. PERSONAL LOANS TO MEMBERS
6.1

Quantum of Loan
The number of applications and loan quantum dropped by 6.52% and 21.89% respectively as compared to
FY2018.
TABLE 10: NUMBER OF LOAN APPLICATIONS FROM FY2015 TO FY2019
FINANCIAL
YEAR

NUMBER OF
APPLICATIONS
APPROVED

TOTAL PERSONAL LOANS
GRANTED BY THE
CO-OPERATIVE

AVERAGE LOAN
PER APPLICATION

2015

1,473

$18,205,810

$12,360

2016

1,849

$24,039,520

$13,001

2017

1,806

$23,172,390

$12,831

2018

1,396

$18,600,580

$13,324

2019

1,305

$14,528,920

$11,133

6.2 Bad Debts
The Co-operative wrote off $156,294.20 (FY2018: $101,373.91) from 16 ex-members (FY2018: 24) as bad debts for
FY2019.
7. INVESTMENTS
7.1

Restricted and Non-Restricted Investments
As at 31 December 2019, the Co-operative has $74,137,778 (FY2018: $74,802,623) in restricted investments and
$154,877,642 (FY2018: $140,575,171) in non-restricted investments. Including loans, fixed assets, cash and
receivables amounting to $30,861,241 (FY2018: $37,314,880), the Co-operative has total assets of $259,876,661
(FY2018: $252,692,674).
GRAPH 6: PERCENTAGE OF RESTRICTED AND NON-RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS AS AT 31ST DECEMBER 2019

60%
Non-Restricted
12%
Loans & Others

28%
Restricted
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7.2 Restricted Investment (RI) Limit
The default RI limit is 10%.
Based on the revised Written Direction dated 1 November 2018, credit co-operatives are allowed to apply to the
Registrar of Co-operative Societies for a higher RI limit of 20% to 30% subject to conditions imposed.
The Co-operative applied for the 30% RI limit and written approval was granted to the Co-operative on 25
August 2017 for a period of 3 years up to 30 June 2020 or up to the Co-operative’s Annual General Meeting date
in 2020, whichever is earlier.
The Registrar has extended the timeline to 31 August 2020 or the date of the Co-operative’s Annual General
Meeting, whichever is earlier, due to COVID-19.
7.3 Assets Allocation
On 1 June 2017, the general meeting approved the asset allocation mix as follows:
a)

Corporate Bonds (including variable notes)

max 87.5%

b)

Securities listed on SGX

max 10%

c)

Investment Properties

max 10%

d)

Joint Venture

max 10%

e)

Unit Trusts

nil

f)

Managed Funds

max 80%

Total

100%

7.4 Investment Performance of Restricted Investments
On 1 June 2017, members gave approval for the Co-operative to invest up to 30% of its total assets in restricted
investments for a period of 3 years.
The Registrar has also given approval for the 30% limit, for a 3-year period up to 30 June 2020, or the date of the
Co-operative’s Annual General Meeting in 2020, whichever is earlier. The Registrar has extended the timeline to
31 August 2020 or the date of the Co-operative’s Annual General Meeting, whichever is earlier, due to COVID-19.
As at 31 December 2019, our restricted investments amounted to $74,137,778 or 28% of total assets, as follows:

RESTRICTED
INVESTMENTS

AS AT 31
DECEMBER 2019

AS AT 31
DECEMBER 2018

INCOME
2019

INCOME
2018

a) Securities listed
on SGX

$5,568,469

$4,700,457

$263,398

$266,923

b) Corporate Bonds
(including variable notes)

$58,196,541

$59,684,034

$2,006,238

$2,273,737

c) Shares in Joint Venture
Companies (private limited)

$5,724,501

$5,629,008

$296,000

$168,000
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RESTRICTED
INVESTMENTS

AS AT 31
DECEMBER 2019

AS AT 31
DECEMBER 2018

INCOME
2019

INCOME
2018

-

-

-

$30,000

$4,648,267

$4,789,124

$133,500

$5,867

$74,137,778

$74,802,623

$2,699,136

$2,744,527

3.64%

3.67%

d) Shares in other co-operatives
(invest after 30 June 2010)
e) Investment Properties
Total
Annual Return

As reported in the Annual General Meeting on 1 June 2017, the Board hopes to generate annual returns of
between 2.5% to 4% per annum from these restricted investments for the 3-year period.
8. WELL-BEING PROGRAMMES FOR MEMBERS
8.1

Common Good Fund
A total sum of $14,000 was disbursed in FY20195 under the Common Good Fund. This sum included grants
offered to members under the following circumstances:
$100/a) Demise of member’s parent
b)

Demise of member’s child

$200/-

c)

Demise of member’s spouse

$200/-

d)

Demise of member on active duty

$1,000/-

e)

Demise of member on inactive duty

$500/-

8.2 Scholarship Fund
The Police Co-operative contributed $13,000 to the SPF-Lee Foundation Study Award in 20196. This study award
aims to assist children of Police Central Welfare Fund (PCWF) members who have attained excellent academic
achievements as well as to support children from low-income families in their studies.
8.3 Sponsorship of Divisions' Functions
The Police Co-operative allocated a sum of $2 per member per year for the Appreciation Night of units or other staff
functions. The Police Co-operative spent $8,721.05 for sponsorship of the functions of various Divisions in 20197.
8.4 Activities in FY2019
In 2019, the Co-operative spent an amount of $26,594 (FY2018: $80,304) on the following for members:
• 1,000 pairs of Golden Village movie vouchers;
• $10 CapitaLand Voucher for each member who participated in a Membership & Well-Being Events
Survey; and
• Soap Making Workshop.
Common Good Fund: A total of $14,600 was disbursed in FY2018.
Similarly, $13,000 was contributed to the SPF-Lee Foundation Study Award in FY2018.
7
In FY2018, the Co-operative spent an amount of $10,944 for sponsorship of Divisions’ functions.
5

6
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9. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
9.1

Attendance of Directors
The Board held five board meetings for the period 1 January to 31 December 2019. The attendance of each
director at the Board Meetings was as follows:

NAME

POSITION

NO OF
MEETINGS HELD

NO OF
MEETINGS ATTENDED

Mr Moh Tser Loong Alvin

Chairman

5

5

Mr Koh Wei Keong

Vice-Chairman

5

5

Mr Chong Huat Suang Alvin

Secretary

5

4

Ms Ng Eee Fong Evon

Treasurer
Director

3
2

2
2

Mr Chan Liang Hua Leon

Asst Treasurer
Treasurer

3
2

2
2

Mr Chong Zunjie

Asst Secretary

5

5

Mr Lim Wei-Yang Julius
(co-opted on 24 July 2019)

Asst Treasurer

3

1

Mr Balakrishnan Anbarasan
(stepped down on 19 October 2019)

Director

4

3

Mr Cheong Sin Ee Alfred
(stepped down on 14 June 2019)

Director

2

0

Ms Chong Hung Li Grace

Director

5

3

Mr Chua Chee Wai

Director

5

5

Mr Chua Chuan Seng
(stepped down on 24 July 2019)

Director

2

2

Mr Gong Wai Liat Ken

Director

5

4

Mr Lee Chin Ek

Director

5

5

Mr Mohaideen Abdul Kadir Bin
Gose Ahmad Sha
(co-opted on 6 November 2019)

Director

1

0

Mr Soh Buck Nguan Bernard

Director

5

3

Mr Teo Hoon San

Director

5

5

9.2 Internal Audit
The Audit Committee appointed RSM Risk Advisory Pte Ltd for internal audit work for FY2019. The scope of work
for this period covered the following:
•

Review internal controls on purchase/procurement and payment processing (including disbursement of
members’ loans and deposits); and

•

Review Police Co-operative’s quarterly Goods and Services Tax (GST) return for FY2019.
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9.3 Audit Committee
The Co-operative formed its first Audit Committee (AC) on 26 October 2004. The terms of reference for the Audit
Committee were reviewed in 2016. The revised terms of reference cover the following:
1.

Review the scope and cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity of the auditors (internal and
external). Where the external auditors also supply a substantial volume of non-audit services to the
Co-operative, the AC should keep the nature and extent of such services under review, seeking to balance
the maintenance of objectivity and value for money;

2. Review financial reporting issues and audit findings so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements
of the Co-operative and any formal announcements relating to the Co-operative;
3. Review the adequacy of the Co-operative’s internal controls;
4. Review the effectiveness of the Co-operative’s internal audit functions;
5. Make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditors, and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor;
6. Review the report of the auditors (internal and external) and ensure that issues highlighted are being
addressed by the relevant officers (review should be done at least once a year); and
7.

Ensure that all its meetings are properly recorded.

8. During FY2019, the AC’s activities included the following:
a)

Performed independent review of Police Co-operative’s audited consolidated financial statement for
year ended 31 December 2019 before submission to the Board. In conducting its review of the audited
consolidated financial statements of Police Co-operative, the AC had discussed with Management and
the external auditors the accounting principles that were applied. Based on the review and discussion
with Management and the external auditors, the AC was of the view that the financial statements were
fairly represented and conformed to generally accepted accounting principles in all material aspects.

b)

The AC reviewed and approved the audit plan and scope of the external auditors related to the audit
of the full-year financial results.

c)

The AC reviewed the nature and extent of the non-audit services provided to Police Co-operative by
the external auditors for the financial year and was satisfied that the nature and extent of such services
would not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.
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The aggregate amount of audit fees paid and payable by the Group to the external auditors for FY2019
was $67,800 of which audit fees amounted to $31,600 and non-audit fees amounted to $36,200.
The non-audit fees paid/payable to the external auditors were related to general tax compliance.
d)

The AC had reviewed the following internal audit reports submitted by the appointed professional
internal auditor from RSM Risk Advisory Pte Ltd and was assured that issues highlighted had been
addressed by the relevant officers;
i.

The internal controls on purchase/procurement and payment processing (including disbursement
of members’ loans and deposits); and

ii.

SOP on purchase/procurement and payment processing.

In FY2019, the AC held four meetings. The attendance for each member was as follows:

NAME

POSITION

NO OF
MEETINGS HELD

NO OF
MEETINGS ATTENDED

Mr Chua Chuan Seng
(stepped down on 24 July 2019)

Chairman

2

2

Ms Chong Hung Li Grace

Member
Chairman

2
2

2
2

Mr Gong Wai Liat Ken
(stepped down on 24 July 2019)

Member

2

1

Ms Ng Ee Fong Evon
(from 24 July 2019)

Member

2

1

Mr Soh Buck Nguan Bernard
(from 24 July 2019)

Member

2

1

9.4 Code of Governance
The Registry of Co-operative Societies issued a revised Code of Governance for Credit Co-operatives on 17
October 2016.
The Co-operative will abide by the revised Code.
9.5 Director’s Appointment Declaration
With effect from 2009, all directors have been required to sign the Director’s Appointment Declaration as
required under Section 64 of the Act. This section deals with disclosure of interests in transactions, property,
office, etc, which the directors might have with the Co-operative so as to prevent potential conflicts of interest.
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10. THE YEAR AHEAD
It has not been an easy task for the Co-operative to aim to meet at least 10% Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) by 1 July
2020 considering the prohibitive restrictions on investments and a growing total assets base. The Co-operative has
been engaging the Registrar of Co-operative Societies to extend the fulfilment period by another 3 years and will
continue to do so.
COVID-19 has given further uncertainty to fulfil the CAR requirements in the immediate future. With a falling interest
rate environment, our new investments in corporate bonds will be affected. With cuts in dividend rates announced
by REITS, our dividend income from quoted equity securities will also be reduced. To withstand the headwinds ahead,
the Co-operative must look at various means to shore up its institutional capital, including adjusting dividend payouts
to members. However, the Board will balance fulfilling regulatory requirements with the financial interests of our
members.
Barring unforeseen circumstances, the Board is cautiously optimistic that the Co-operative will deliver a reasonable set
of results for the year.
11. APPRECIATION
The Directors of the Board would like to express their appreciation to the staff for their dedication and commitment
to work and to members for their continued support and co-operation. The Directors would also like to express their
appreciation to the following persons for their advice and guidance:
a)

The President, Commissioner of Police, Mr Hoong Wee Teck;

b)

1st Vice-President, Mr Christopher Ng;

c)

2nd Vice-President, Ms Winnie Tan; and

d)

The Registrar of Co-operative Societies.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors,

Chong Huat Suang Alvin
Secretary
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AUDITOR’S REPORT
AND AUDITED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR FY2019
DIRECTORS' STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019
The directors present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of The
Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited (the “Society”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the statements of
comprehensive income and financial position of the Society for the year ended 31 December 2019.
OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS:
In the opinion of the directors,
a)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statements of comprehensive income and financial
position of the Society and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the
Group and of the Society as at 31 December 2019, and of the consolidated changes in equity and consolidated
cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and

b)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Society will be able to pay its debts
when they fall due.

The directors approved and authorised these financial statements for issue.
DIRECTORS:
The directors of the Society in office for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:
CHAIRMAN

Mr Moh Tser Loong Alvin

VICE-CHAIRMAN

Mr Koh Wei Keong

SECRETARY

Mr Chong Huat Suang Alvin
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DIRECTORS' STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (cont’d)
TREASURER

Mr Chan Liang Hua Leon (from 24 July 2019)
Ms Ng Ee Fong Evon (up to 24 July 2019)

ASST SECRETARY

Mr Chong Zunjie

ASST TREASURER

Mr Chan Liang Hua Leon (up to 24 July 2019)
Mr Lim Wei-Yang Julius (co-opted on 24 July 2019)

BOARD MEMBERS

Mr Balakrishnan Anbarasan (stepped down on 19 October 2019)
Mr Cheong Sin Ee Alfred (stepped down on 14 June 2019)
Ms Chong Hung Li Grace
Mr Chua Chee Wai
Mr Chua Chuan Seng (stepped down on 24 July 2019)
Mr Gong Wai Liat Ken
Mr Lee Chin Ek
Mr Mohaideen Abdul Kadir Bin Gose Ahmad Sha (co-opted on 6 November 2019)
Ms Ng Ee Fong Evon (from 24 July 2019)
Mr Soh Buck Nguan Bernard
Mr Teo Hoon San

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND
DEBENTURES:
Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement
whose object is to enable the directors of the Society to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Society or related corporations.
DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES:
According to the Register of Members' shareholdings kept by the Society, none of the directors of the Society holding
office at the end of the financial year had held more than 20% interest in shares or debentures of the Society and its
related corporations except as disclosed in the financial statements.
SHARE OPTIONS:
During the financial year, there were:
•

no share options granted by the Society or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued shares in the Society
and its subsidiaries; and

•

no shares issued by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the Society and its subsidiaries.

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Society or its subsidiaries under options.

29

DIRECTORS' STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (cont’d)
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR:
The independent auditor, P G Wee Partnership LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment as external
auditor.
On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Moh Tser Loong Alvin
Chairman

Chong Huat Suang Alvin
Secretary

Chan Liang Hua Leon
Treasurer
28 May 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Members of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OPINION
We have audited the financial statements of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited (the “Society”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the
statement of financial position of the Society as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income of the Group and the statement of comprehensive income of the Society, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and statements of financial position
and comprehensive income of the Society are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore
Co-operative Societies Act, Chapter 62 (“the Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Society as at
31 December 2019, the consolidated financial performance of the Group and the financial performance of the Society,
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.
BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority
(ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion.
OTHER INFORMATION
Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report the fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Members of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited (cont’d)
RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
The directors' responsibilities include overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosure made by management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Members of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited (cont’d)
•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Society and by those
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention to cause us to believe that the receipts, expenditure
and investments of monies and acquisition and disposal of assets made by the Society during the financial year
ended 31 December 2019 have not been made in accordance with the by-laws of the Society and the provisions of
the Act.

P G Wee Partnership LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
28 May 2020
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

NOTE

GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Income
256,399

277,514

256,399

277,514

27,372

7,466

27,372

7,466

333,768

544,768

468,768

370,768

263,398

266,923

263,398

266,923

Entrance fees

4,441

4,955

4,441

4,955

Grant income

55,958

107,212

48,039

97,129

1,786,863

1,317,557

1,771,368

1,306,610

2,851,400

3,100,209

2,760,532

3,039,607

137,026

30,445

137,026

30,445

3,243,905

3,560,844

3,243,905

3,560,844

-

-

15,475

20,793

57,937

63,847

57,937

63,847

1,350,218

1,300,696

1,318,783

1,248,798

4,592,206

4,063,901

-

-

10,606

51,742

10,606

51,742

-

77,209

-

77,209

90

5,250

250

5,875

14,971,587

14,780,538

10,384,299

10,430,525

Administrative and general expenses

865,004

918,665

465,866

709,512

Allowance for impairment on receivables

336,359

1,627,966

336,359

303,568

552,780

435,010

507,274

386,671

2,000

13,000

2,000

12,000

Administrative levy
Bad debts recovery
Dividend income (gross) - unquoted
- quoted

Interest on cash and cash equivalents
Interest on financial assets at
- amortised cost
- fair value through other comprehensive
income
Interest on loans to members
Interest on loans to a subsidiary
Recovery of investment loss
Rental income and service charges
Revenue

4

Reversal of impairment loss on investment at
amortised cost
Reversal of provision expenses
Other income
Less:
Expenditure

Depreciation and amortisation

5

Donation
Employee benefits

6

1,611,612

1,682,848

1,262,864

1,253,583

Finance costs

7

2,257,788

2,461,410

2,257,788

2,461,410

-

-

-

1,000,000

975,000

533,938

975,000

533,938

-

-

470,000

-

85,817

99,524

85,817

99,524

Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary
Impairment loss on investment at amortised
cost
Impairment loss on loan to subsidiary
Membership promotion and related
expenses
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (cont’d)

NOTE
Purchase of materials and consumables
Property maintenance and related expenses

Surplus for the year
Finance costs

7

Surplus Before Income Tax and Contributions
Income Tax Benefit (Expenses)
Contribution to Central Co-operative Fund
Surplus After Income Tax and Contributions

8

GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

4,409,382

4,446,121

-

-

398,920

363,192

384,626

348,613

11,494,662

12,581,674

6,747,594

7,108,819

3,476,925

2,198,864

3,636,705

3,321,706

(2,644,453)

(2,768,643)

(2,644,453)

(2,768,643)

832,472

(569,779)

992,252

553,063

(26,034)

(2,100)

-

-

(652,341)

(589,341)

(652,341)

(589,341)

154,097

(1,161,220)

339,911

(36,278)

956,672

(317,808)

926,935

(465,858)

956,672

(317,808)

926,935

(465,858)

1,110,769

(1,479,028)

1,266,846

(502,136)

155,518

(1,155,361)

339,911

(36,278)

(1,421)

(5,859)

-

-

154,097

(1,161,220)

339,911

(36,278)

1,112,190

(1,473,169)

1,266,846

(502,136)

(1,421)

(5,859)

-

-

1,110,769

(1,479,028)

1,266,846

(502,136)

Other Comprehensive Income
Item that will not be classified to profit or loss
Net (loss) gain on fair value changes of
financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Total Comprehensive Income
Attributable to:
Owners of the Society
Non-Controlling Interests
Surplus After Income Tax and Contributions
Attributable to:
Owners of the Society
Non-Controlling Interests
Total Comprehensive Income
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2019

NOTE

GROUP
2019
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

2018
SGD

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment

9

1,339,389

1,399,975

1,079,120

1,097,178

Intangible Assets

10

484,650

1,575

484,650

1,575

Investment Properties

11

13,435,924

13,845,962

13,435,924

13,845,962

Investment Securities

12

79,259,132

76,710,070

76,742,641

73,932,670

Investment In Subsidiaries

13

-

-

4,517,155

4,517,155

Loan To Subsidiary

14

-

-

-

150,152

Loan To Members

15

15,255,452

18,562,513

15,255,452

18,562,513

109,774,547

110,520,095

111,514,942

112,107,205

Total Non-Current Assets
Current Assets
Investment Securities

12

26,319,698

43,098,557

26,319,698

42,082,007

Trade and Other Receivables

16

2,645,034

3,788,324

2,072,631

3,155,980

Loan To Subsidiary

14

-

-

-

498,811

Loan To Members

15

10,612,699

12,015,597

10,612,699

12,015,597

Other Assets

17

150,948

470,865

101,959

411,156

Cash and Cash Equivalents

18

111,296,810

84,367,419

109,254,731

82,421,918

151,025,189

143,740,762

148,361,718 140,585,469

260,799,736 254,260,857

259,876,660 252,692,674

Total Current Assets
Total Assets
Accumulated Fund And Liabilities
Funds
General Reserve Fund

19

16,200,142

16,200,142

16,200,142

16,200,142

Common Good Fund

20

663,366

674,510

658,366

669,510

Scholarship Fund

21

13,000

13,000

13,000

13,000

Fair Value Reserve

22

4,335,392

3,378,720

3,728,905

2,801,970

6,722,664

6,647,862

6,923,048

6,660,837

27,934,564

26,914,234

27,523,461

26,345,459

(989)

(2,507)

-

-

27,933,575

26,911,727

27,523,461

26,345,459

Accumulated Fund
Attributable to Owners of the Society
Non-Controlling Interest
Total Funds
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2019 (cont’d)

NOTE

GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Non-Current Liabilities
Term Deposits

23

3,643,912

4,454,021

3,643,912

4,454,021

Members' Specific Deposits

24

42,411,933

41,219,775

42,411,933

41,219,775

Subscription-To-Savings Scheme

25

45,951,235

36,401,332

45,951,235

36,401,332

Share Capital

26

2,139,600

2,167,514

2,139,600

2,167,514

Subscription Capital

27

92,231,501

81,616,237

92,231,501

81,616,237

186,378,181

165,858,879

Total Non-Current Liabilities

186,378,181 165,858,879

Current Liabilities
Term Deposits

23

9,886,097

12,916,725

9,886,097

12,916,725

Members' Specific Deposits

24

19,958,557

19,397,542

19,958,557

19,397,542

Subscription-To-Savings Scheme

25

3,990,278

17,417,963

3,990,278

17,417,963

Share Capital

26

89,150

67,036

89,150

67,036

Subscription Capital

27

9,194,697

8,114,276

9,194,697

8,114,276

72,284

69,570

72,284

69,570

Interest and Premium Received In Advance
Trade and Other Payables

28

1,644,760

1,989,628

1,184,493

999,533

Other Liabilities

29

300,781

264,781

274,356

254,356

43,602

26,781

43,602

26,781

624,463

630,513

624,463

630,513

26,270

1,395

-

-

Ex-Members’ Accounts
Provision

30

Income Tax Payables
Central Co-Operative Fund

31

652,341

589,341

652,341

589,341

Honorarium

32

4,700

4,700

4,700

4,700

Total Current Liabilities

46,487,980

61,490,251

45,975,018

60,488,336

Total Liabilities

232,866,161

227,349,130

232,353,199

226,347,215

Total Accumulated Fund And Liabilities

260,799,736 254,260,857

259,876,660 252,692,674

27,933,575 27,934,564

16,200,142

(52,724)
(3,398)
(1,473,169)
-

(52,724)
(3,398)
(1,479,028)
26,911,727 26,914,234

Net movement

Honorarium

Balance as at 31 December 2018

Transfer from accumulated fund

Total comprehensive income for the year
-

-

-

16,200,142

28,443,525

28,446,877

Balance as at 1 January 2018, restated

FRS 109

1,131,500
-

16,200,142

-

1,131,500

Adjustments from initial application of

Balance as at 1 January 2018

Group

Balance as at 31 December 2019

27,312,025

16,200,142

(3,016)

-

Transfer from accumulated fund

27,315,377

-

1,112,190

1,110,769

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

(4,700)

(4,700)

Honorarium

-

(84,144)

674,510

60,000

-

-

(39,724)

654,234

-

654,234

663,366

60,000

-

-

(71,144)

674,510

SGD

SGD

16,200,142

COMMON
GOOD FUND

GENERAL
RESERVE

(84,221)

26,911,727 26,914,234

TOTAL ATTRIBUTABLE
FUND TO OWNERS OF
THE SOCIETY
SGD
SGD

Net movement

Balance as at 1 January 2019

Group

NOTE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

13,000

13,000

-

-

(13,000)

13,000

-

13,000

13,000

13,000

-

-

(13,000)

13,000

SGD

SCHOLARSHIP
FUND

3,378,720

-

(317,808)

-

-

3,696,528

1,131,500

2,565,028

4,335,392

-

956,672

-

-

3,378,720

6,647,862

(73,000)

(1,155,361)

(3,398)

-

7,879,621

-

7,879,621

6,722,664

(76,016)

155,518

(4,700)

-

6,647,862

(2,507)

-

(5,859)

-

-

3,352

-

3,352

(989)

3,016

(1,421)

-

(77)

(2,507)

FAIR VALUE ACCUMULATED
NONRESERVE
FUND CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
SGD
SGD
SGD
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

NOTE

GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
832,472

(569,779)

336,359

1,627,966

1,125

5,850

Depreciation of plant and equipment

141,617

136,503

Depreciation of investment properties

410,038

292,657

(597,166)

(811,691)

Reversal of impairment loss on investment at amortised cost

(77,209)

(51,742)

Reversal of provision expenses

(10,606)

(77,209)

Impairment loss on investment at amortised cost

975,000

533,938

39,053

39,053

4,902,241

5,230,053

(5,030,768)

(4,878,401)

1,922,156

1,477,198

4,373,600

1,265,388

1,143,290

3,588,191

319,917

406,912

Amounts owing to members

5,724,539

7,240,052

Trade and other payables

(342,154)

833,158

Ex-member's accounts

16,821

9,119

Payment of provision expenses

32,106

(106,712)

Other liabilities

36,000

2,130

Cash Flows From (Used In) Operations

13,226,275

14,715,436

Interest paid

(4,902,241)

(5,230,053)

3,243,905

3,560,844

(589,341)

(748,789)

(1,159)

-

10,977,439

12,297,438

1,786,863

1,317,557

597,166

811,691

(82,003)

(81,582)

Surplus Before Income Tax and Contributions
Adjustments for:
Allowance for impairment of receivables
Amortisation

Dividend income

Provision expenses
Interest expenses
Interest income
Operating Cash Flows Before Changes in Working Capital
Changes in Working Capital
Loans to members
Trade and other receivables
Other assets

Interest received
Payment of central co-operative fund
Income taxes paid
Net Cash Flows From (Used In) Operating Activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Interest received
Dividend received
Purchase of plant and equipment
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (cont’d)

NOTE
Purchase of investment property

GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

-

(4,812,600)

(484,200)

-

972

-

14,222,075

(10,623,262)

16,040,873

(13,388,196)

(77)

-

Payment of common good fund

(71,144)

(39,724)

Payment of scholarship fund

(13,000)

(13,000)

(4,700)

(4,691)

(88,921)

(57,415)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

26,929,391

(1,148,173)

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Statement of Cash Flows, Beginning Balance

84,367,419

85,515,592

111,296,810

84,367,419

Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment
Net (purchase) proceeds from sale/maturity of investments
Net Cash Flows From (Used In) Investing Activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Dividend paid to NCI

Payment of honorarium
Net Cash Flows From (Used In) Financing Activities

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Statement of Cash Flows, Ending Balance

18
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019
These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited (the “Society”) is incorporated in Singapore. The Society's registered
office is located at 250 Sims Avenue #04-01 SPCS Building Singapore 387513. The Society is situated in Singapore.
The Board of Directors approved and authorised these financial statements for issue.
The principal activities of the Society, which are governed by the Co-operative Societies Act, Chapter 62 are to
promote, in accordance with co-operative principles, co-operation and self-help, to encourage thrift, to receive
subscriptions and deposits from members and to assist members by enabling them to take loans on reasonable
terms, and to undertake any co-operative venture or project subject to the approval of the Registrar of Co-operative
Societies.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are stated in note 13.
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Society have been
prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Co-operative Societies Act, Chapter 62 and Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
The financial statements expressed in Singapore Dollar (“SGD”) are prepared in accordance with the historical cost
convention except as disclosed, where appropriate, in the accounting policies below.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the financial year. Although these
estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates.
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the current
financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards and interpretations of FRS ("INT FRS") that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Except the adoption of FRS 116 Leases as described
below, the adoption of these standards does not have any material effect on the financial performance or position of
the Group.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

FRS 116 LEASES
FRS 116 supersedes FRS 17 Leases, INT FRS 104 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, INT FRS 15
Operating Leases-Incentives and INT FRS 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a
Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to recognise most leases on the statement of financial position.
The Group adopted FRS 116 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial application
of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially
applying the standard recognised at the date of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings. The Group elected to use the transition requirements and practical expedient to not reassess
whether a contract is, or contains a lease at 1 January 2019. Instead, the Group applied the standard only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying FRS 17 and INT FRS 104 at the date of initial application.
The Group has lease contracts for buildings. Before the adoption of FRS 116, the Group classified each of its leases (as
lessee) at the inception date as either a finance lease or an operating lease. The accounting policy prior to 1 January
2019 is disclosed under Leases.
Upon adoption of FRS 116, the Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The accounting policy beginning on and after 1 January 2019 is
disclosed under Leases. The standard provides specific transition requirements and practical expedients, which have
been applied by the Group.
Leases previously accounted for as operating leases
The Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases previously classified as operating leases,
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The right-of-use assets for the leases were recognised
based on the carrying amount as if the standard had always been applied, using the incremental borrowing rate at
the date of initial application. Lease liabilities were recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
The Group also applied the available practical expedients wherein it:
•

used a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

•

relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial application as an
alternative to performing an impairment review;

•

applied the short-term leases exemption to leases with lease term that ends within 12 months of the date of initial
application;

•

excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application;
and

•

used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend or terminate the
lease.

42

Annual Report 2019

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

The effect of FRS 116 Leases as described above does not have any material effect on the financial performance or
position of the Group as at 1 January 2019.
CURRENCY TRANSLATION
a) Functional and Presentation Currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar
(“SGD”), which is the Group's functional and presentation currency.
All financial information presented are denominated in Singapore Dollar unless otherwise stated.
b) Transactions and Balances
Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency ("foreign currency") are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
JOINT OPERATIONS
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby parties that have joint control of the arrangement (i.e. joint operators)
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
The joint operator recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:
a) Its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
b) Its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
c) Its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;
d) Its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and
e) Its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.
The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the accounting policies applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
When the Group enters into transaction involving a sale or contribution of assets with a joint operation in which it is a
joint operator, the Group recognises gains or losses resulting from such a transaction only to the extent of the interests
held by the other parties of the joint operation.
When the Group enters into a transaction involving purchase of assets with a joint operation in which it is a joint
operator, the Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to a third party.
When such transactions provide evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of the assets to be purchased or
of an impairment loss of those assets, the Group recognises its share of those losses.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service
to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the goods or services. A performance obligation may
be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied
performance obligation.
Revenue is recognised as follows:
a) Service Income
Revenue from rendering services is recognised over the period in which the services are rendered, by reference
to the completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion
of the total services to be performed.
b) Interest Income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest rate method.
c) Rental Income
Rental income is recognised as monthly rental accrues in accordance with the terms and conditions of the rental agreements.
d) Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
e) Sale of Investments
Revenue from sale of investments is recognised upon transfer of ownership rights, net of brokerage, clearing and
trading fees incurred.
GOVERNMENT GRANTS
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attached conditions will be compiled with. A government grant that becomes receivables as compensation for
expenses or losses incurred is recognised as income in profit or loss of the period in which it becomes receivable.
FINANCE COSTS
Interest expenses and similar charges are expensed in the income statement in the financial year in which they are
incurred. Interest expense is recognised on a time-proportion basis in the income statement using the effective
interest method.
RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS
Contributions to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recorded as an expense as they fall due.
Contributions made to government managed retirement benefit plan such as the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”)
which specifies the employer’s obligations are dealt with as defined contribution retirement benefit plans.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to the employees. The
estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting year.
LEASES
These accounting policies are applied on and after the initial application date of FRS 116, 1 January 2019:
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of office premise (i.e. those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
These accounting policies are applied before the initial application date of FRS 116, 1 January 2019:
a) When the Group is the lessee
Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to
the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.
b) When the Group is the lessor
Assets leased out under sub-lease properties. Rental income (net of any incentives given to the lessee) is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties and are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessee) is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Society and its subsidiaries as at the
end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Society. Consistent accounting policies are
applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
•

De-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date
when control is lost;

•

De-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

•

De-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

•

Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

•

Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

•

Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;

•

Re-classifies the group's share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or
loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services
are received.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will
be recognised either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity, it is not to be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any),
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of a
liquidation, is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share
of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.
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Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of
non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the group's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. In
instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit
or loss on the acquisition date.
Business combination does not apply to the formation of a joint venture, the acquisition of an asset or a group of
assets that does not constitute a business and a combination of entities or businesses under common control.
TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the
parent (“Society”), and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable to owners of the parent
(“Society”).
Changes in the Society owners' ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and attributed to owners of the parent (“Society”).
INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
Investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the Society's statement of financial
position. On disposal of investment in subsidiaries, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the investment is recognised in profit or loss.
INCOME TAX BENEFIT (EXPENSE)
a) Current Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year.
b) Deferred Tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting
year between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at end of each reporting year and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting year and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting year.
The Society is a registered co-operative society under the Singapore Co-operative Societies Act, Chapter 62 and
its income is exempted from income tax under Section 13(1)(f)(ii) of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134.
c) Sales Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:
• Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense
item as applicable; and
• Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets represent the Society's computer software that is not an integral part of a computer-controlled
machine. The intangible assets are initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase price (net of any
discounts and rebates) and other directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use. Direct
expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of the intangible assets beyond its specifications and
which can be reliably measured, is added to the original cost of the intangible assets. Costs associated with
maintaining the intangible assets are recognised as an expense when incurred. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
The useful life of the intangible assets is assessed to be finite. Amortisation is computed using the straight-line
method over five years. It is assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets may
be impaired. The amortisation period and amortisation method are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting
year. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in statement of comprehensive
income when the asset is derecognised.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the assets over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful lives have been taken as follows:
Freehold property ……………………….……………………………………….……………………….…………………………………………………….. 50 years
Leasehold property …………….……………………………………………….……………………….…………………………………………………….. 50 years
Computer hardware and software …………………………………….……………………….…………………………………………………….. 2 to 5 years
Furniture and fittings …………….……………………………………………………………………….…………………………………………………….. 5 years
Office equipment …………….…………………………………………………..……………………….…………………………………………………….. 5 years
Renovation ……………..……………………………………………………………..……………………….…………………………………………………….. 5 years
The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the
end of each reporting year.
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use.
On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Investment properties are held for long-term rental yields and are not occupied by the Society. Investment properties
are initially stated at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the properties over their estimated
useful lives of 50 years.
The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the
end of each reporting year.
On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is
taken to profit or loss.
IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of
the asset's recoverable amount.
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An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset are discounted to their present value. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recovered amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable
amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in the profit or loss.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.
Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of
third party, if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component at initial recognition.
Subsequent measurement
Investments in debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The three measurement categories for classification of debt
instruments are amortised cost, FVOCI and FVTPL. The Society only has debt instruments at amortised cost.
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets
are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
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Non-derivative financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost; fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”). Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its
business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day
of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.
Financial assets at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as FVTPL:
•

it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

•

its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt investments at FVOCI
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as FVTPL:
•

it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

•

its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Equity investments at FVOCI
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held-for-trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Financial assets at FVTPL
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL.
On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements
to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI or at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.
Financial assets: Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio
level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The
information considered includes:
•

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include
whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest
rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash
outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;
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•

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

•

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
model) and how those risks are managed;

•

how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the
assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

•

the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered
sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of the assets.
Financial assets that are held-for-trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis
are measured at FVTPL.
Non-derivative financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition.
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term
that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers:
•

contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

•

terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features;

•

prepayment and extension features; and

•

terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment
amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which
may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial
asset acquired at a significant discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires
prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid)
contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as
consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition.
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Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial assets at FVTPL
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income,
are recognised in profit or loss.
Financial assets at amortised cost
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is
reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
Debt investments at FVOCI
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.
Equity investments at FVOCI
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised
in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss.
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.
All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration received plus, in the case of a financial
liability not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent measurement
After intial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.
Non-derivative financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as FVTPL if it is
classified as held-for-trading or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured
at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Directly
attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. They are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. These financial liabilities comprised borrowings, and trade and other
payables.
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. On
derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial assets measured at amortised
costs.
Loss allowances of the Group are measured on either of the following basis:
12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months); or
Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
Simplified approach
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs for all trade receivables. The simplified approach
requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
General approach
The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial instruments. Under the general
approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs at initial recognition.
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the
Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and includes forward-looking information.
If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the financial instruments
improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.
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The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
•

the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or

•

the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are measured at the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A
financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
•

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

•

a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

•

the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise; or

•

it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of
these assets.
Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.
However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with
the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
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FUNDS PLACED WITH FUNDS MANAGERS
The Group classifies a portfolio of financial assets that is managed and which performance is evaluated on a fair value
basis as financial assets at FVOCI. Such portfolio of financial assets is neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor
held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. The collection of contractual cash flows is only
incidental to achieving the business model’s objective. The Group’s primary focus on a portfolio of financial assets is
on the fair value information and uses that information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions.
FUND ACCOUNTING
In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to the Society,
the financial statements of the Society are maintained substantially in accordance with the principles of “fund
accounting” whereby the resources for various purposes are classified for accounting and reporting purposes into
specific funds that are in accordance with activities or objectives specified.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
This include cash on hand and deposits with financial institutions.
PROVISIONS
A provision is recognised when there is a present obligation (legal and constructive) as a result of a past event. It is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting
year and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS, ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES
The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability effected in the
future.
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting year, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Management
estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be within 2 to 50 years. The carrying amount of the
Group's property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2019 is disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements.
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and
the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.
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Useful Lives of Investment Properties
Investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Management
estimates the useful lives of these investment properties to be within 50 years. The carrying amount of the Group's
investment properties as at 31 December 2019 is disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements. Changes in the
expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual
values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.
Provision for expected credit losses of loan to members
The Group uses a probability of default approach to calculate ECLs for loans to members. The provision rates are
based on historical default rates for each category of loan and adjusts for forward-looking factors on the probability
of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor or significant delays in payments.
The probability of default approach is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will
compute expected credit loss for this group of financial assets using the probability of default approach and
recognise amount based on computed figures recognised as at to date. At every reporting date, historical default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs
is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic
conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s loans to
members is disclosed in Note 15.
Classification of Current and Non-Current Liabilities
The Group is required to classify and apportion any liabilities that are due within one year after the end of the
reporting year. Management is to classify members' specific deposits, share capital and subscription capital as current
and non-current liabilities based on the pattern of withdrawals and infusion of funds by members for their specific
deposits accounts, share capital accounts and subscription capital accounts for the last 3 years. Management
exercises judgement based on the withdrawal patterns and infusion of funds in the last 3 years to estimate the
apportion rate as current liabilities that are due within one year after the end of the reporting year.
The basis of estimates is reviewed at the end of each reporting year and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
The carrying amount and apportionment of members' specific deposits, share capital and subscription capital are set
out in note 24, note 26 and note 27 to the financial statements respectively.
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FRS 24 defines a related party as a person or entity that is related to the reporting entity and it includes:
a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person:
i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or
iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting entity.
b) An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following conditions apply:
i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group.
ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity.
iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting entity or an
entity related to the reporting entity.
vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
3.1

Related companies
Related companies in these financial statements are members of the Group. There are transactions and
arrangements between the reporting entity and members of the Group and the effects of these on the basis
determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements. The current intercompany balances
are unsecured, without fixed repayment terms and interest unless stated otherwise. Intragroup transactions and
balances that have been eliminated in these financial statements are not disclosed as related party transactions
and balances below.
Significant related companies’ transactions:
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the financial statements, this
item includes the following:
SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Transactions with subsidiaries
Dividend income

135,000

51,000

Rental income

18,900

18,900

Interest income

15,475

20,793

250

625

Other income
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3.2

Related parties
There are transactions and arrangements between the reporting entity and related parties and the effects of
these on the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements. The current
related party balances are unsecured, without fixed repayment terms and interest unless stated otherwise.
There is no related parties’ transaction during the financial year.

4. REVENUE
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Consultancy services and other related services

896,641

566,958

-

-

Commission income

349,504

325,537

-

-

3,346,061

3,171,406

-

-

4,592,206

4,063,901

-

-

Renovation, décor and other services

Revenue are recognised at a point in time. Transactions within the Group have been excluded from consolidated revenue.
5. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties

GROUP
2019
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

1,125

5,850

1,125

5,850

141,617

136,503

96,111

88,164

410,038

292,657

410,038

292,657

552,780

435,010

507,274

386,671

2018
SGD

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
GROUP
2019
SGD
Contributions to defined Contribution plan (“CPF”) and
Skills Development Levy (“SDL”)
Medical expenses
Directors' fee - current year
Directors' fee - prior year
Foreign worker levy
Salaries and bonus
Staff training and incentive

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

210,649

210,395

167,486

167,486

9,152

10,467

5,702

6,362

10,000

10,000

-

-

(48)

-

-

-

-

7,791

-

-

1,361,071

1,424,175

1,076,934

1,072,565

20,788

20,020

12,742

7,170

1,611,612

1,682,848

1,262,864

1,253,583
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7. FINANCE COSTS
GROUP
2019
SGD
Interest on members' specific deposits
Interest on members' term deposits
Interest on members' subscription-to-savings scheme
# Dividend paid on share capital and subscription capital

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

367,066

357,344

367,066

357,344

94,702

133,118

94,702

133,118

1,796,020

1,970,948

1,796,020

1,970,948

2,257,788

2,461,410

2,257,788

2,461,410

2,644,453

2,768,643

2,644,453

2,768,643

4,902,241

5,230,053

4,902,241

5,230,053

# Share capital and subscription capital are classified as liability. Thus, dividends thereon are recognised as finance
costs in the profit or loss.
At the end of the reporting year, finance cost of SGD 16,983 (2018: SGD 20,938) was paid to the Society's staff.
8. INCOME TAX BENEFIT (EXPENSE)
GROUP
2019
SGD
Current income tax

2018
SGD

(26,000)

(2,100)

(34)

-

(26,034)

(2,100)

1,004,209

(569,779)

170,716

(96,862)

-

(38,250)

10,135

579

Tax exempt revenue and tax incentives

(146,422)

136,278

(Over) under provision in previous year

34

-

Other items

(8,429)

355

Total income tax expense

26,034

2,100

Over (under) provision in previous year
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Surplus before income tax
Tax using the Singapore tax rate at 17% (2018: 17%)
Non-taxable items
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose

The Societies are exempted from income tax under Section 13(1)(f)(ii) of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134.

980,390

At 31.12.2018
293,708

255,870

278,636

-

37,838

240,798

-

37,838

202,960

534,506

-

-

534,506

-

-

47,967

24,785

372,039

(1,088)

32,838

340,289

-

35,027

305,262

396,824

(2,060)

10,628

388,256

-

34,922

353,334

COMPUTER
HARDWARE
& SOFTWARE
SGD

51,038

88,842

232,986

-

30,526

202,460

-

20,944

181,516

321,828

-

68,330

253,498

-

46,660

206,838

SGD

FURNITURE
& FITTINGS

13,403

9,358

93,703

-

7,090

86,613

(3,599)

9,319

80,893

103,061

-

3,045

100,016

(3,599)

-

103,615

SGD

OFFICE
EQUIPMENT

13,469

8,979

122,407

-

4,490

117,917

-

4,540

113,377

131,386

-

-

131,386

-

-

131,386

SGD

RENOVATION

1,399,975

1,339,389

1,589,966

(1,088)

141,617

1,449,437

(3,599)

136,503

1,316,533

2,929,355

(2,060)

82,003

2,849,412

(3,599)

81,582

2,771,429

SGD

TOTAL

the holding company (note 14).

The subsidiary's leasehold property with carrying amount of SGD Nil (2018: SGD 293,708) was mortgaged to secure for a commercial property loan with

951,555

490,195

At 31.12.2019

Net Carrying Amount

At 31.12.2019

-

28,835

Depreciation for year

Disposals

461,360

At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019

-

28,835

Depreciation for year

Disposals

432,525

At 1.1.2018

Accumulated Depreciation

1,441,750

-

Disposals

At 31.12.2019

-

Additions

1,441,750

-

Disposals

At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019

-

Additions

534,506

SGD

SGD

1,441,750

LEASEHOLD
PROPERTY

FREEHOLD
PROPERTY

At 1.1.2018

Cost

Group

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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-

Disposals

28,835
490,195

Depreciation for year

At 31.12.2019

951,555
980,390

At 31.12.2019

At 31.12.2018

Net Carrying Amount

461,360

At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019

-

28,835

Depreciation for year

Disposals

432,525

1,441,750

-

At 1.1.2018

Accumulated Depreciation

At 31.12.2019

Additions

1,441,750

-

Additions

At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019

1,441,750

SGD

FREEHOLD
PROPERTY

At 1.1.2018

Cost

Society

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

44,123

21,848

331,352

28,953

302,399

-

30,431

271,968

353,200

6,678

346,522

-

32,298

314,224

COMPUTER
HARDWARE
& SOFTWARE
SGD

48,858

87,622

201,340

29,566

171,774

-

19,418

152,356

288,962

68,330

220,632

-

46,660

173,972

SGD

FURNITURE
& FITTINGS

10,338

9,116

51,808

4,267

47,541

(3,599)

4,990

46,150

60,924

3,045

57,879

(3,599)

-

61,478

SGD

OFFICE
EQUIPMENT

13,469

8,979

14,905

4,490

10,415

-

4,490

5,925

23,884

-

23,884

-

-

23,884

SGD

RENOVATION

1,097,178

1,079,120

1,089,600

96,111

993,489

(3,599)

88,164

908,924

2,168,720

78,053

2,090,667

(3,599)

78,958

2,015,308

SGD

TOTAL
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
COMPUTER SOFTWARE
SGD
Group and Society
Cost
At 1.1.2018

360,755

At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019

360,755

Additions

484,200

At 31.12.2019

844,955

Accumulated Amortisation
At 1.1.2018
Amortisation for year
At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019
Amortisation for year
At 31.12.2019

353,330
5,850
359,180
1,125
360,305

Net Carrying Amount
At 31.12.2019

484,650

At 31.12.2018

1,575

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
FREEHOLD PROPERTIES
SGD
Group and Society
Cost
At 1.1.2018

18,805,840

At 31.1.2018 and 1.1.2019

18,805,840

At 31.12.2019

18,805,840

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1.1.2018
Depreciation for year
At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019
Depreciation for year
At 31.12.2019

4,667,221
292,657
4,959,878
410,038
5,369,916

Net Carrying Amount
At 31.12.2019

13,435,924

At 31.12.2018

13,845,962
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11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT’D)

The investment properties held by the Society as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:
Description and location

Existing use

Tenure

* Two adjoining 2-storey intermediate shophouses

Commercial

Freehold

Commercial

Freehold

Commercial

Freehold

- 259 Holland Avenue, Singapore
- 261 Holland Avenue, Singapore
4-storey commercial building with a basement carpark known as SPCS
Building, 250 Sims Avenue, Singapore
- #01-01
- #02-01
- #03-01
Two office units of a 4-storey shop-cum-office building with a basement
carpark known as Guthrie Building
- #01-01
- #02-01
- #02-01A
* Investment properties with carrying amount of SGD 4,315,476 (2018: SGD 4,464,286) were mortgaged to secure for
banking facilities (note 18).
The rental income earned by the Society for the year ended 31 December 2019 from investment properties leased out
under operating leases amounted to SGD 1,123,055 (2018: SGD 1,046,733).
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from rental generating properties amounted
to SGD 311,316 (2018: SGD 282,725).
The investment properties were valued at SGD 41,620,000 (2018: SGD 37,060,000) on 31 December 2019 by JLL
Singapore, an independent professional valuer with recognised and relevant professional qualifications and with
recent experience in the location and category of the properties being valued. The valuations are based on the
properties highest-and-best-use using the Market Approach and Income Approach.
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12. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Non-current
At amortised cost
Quoted bonds and notes

48,435,916

44,428,189

45,919,595

41,650,789

Bonds from statutory board

20,022,357

23,597,834

20,022,357

23,597,834

Less: Accumulated impairment losses

(3,000,000)

(2,029,963)

(3,000,000)

(2,029,963)

65,458,273

65,996,060

62,941,952

63,218,660

5,568,469

4,731,912

5,568,469

4,731,912

5,124,875

-

5,124,875

-

-

(31,455)

-

(31,455)

10,693,344

4,700,457

10,693,344

4,700,457

-

3,001,700

-

3,001,700

1,900,000

1,900,000

1,900,000

1,900,000

1,207,345

1,111,853

1,207,345

1,111,853

170

-

-

-

79,259,132

76,710,070

76,742,641

73,932,670

NTUC Income Insurance Co-operative Limited

250,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

NTUC Choice Homes Co-operative

200,000

200,000

200,000

200,000

1,450,000

1,450,000

1,450,000

1,450,000

1,900,000

1,900,000

1,900,000

1,900,000

At fair value through other comprehensive income
Quoted equity securities
Funds placed with fund managers
Less: Accumulated impairment losses
Non-current
Singapore government securities bonds
Unquoted equity securities, at cost
Unquoted equity securities, at fair value
Secom (Singapore) Private Limited
Suites Hotel Holding Limited
Total non-current investment securities
Unquoted equity securities, at cost

Premier Security Co-operative Limited

Unquoted equity securities amounting to SGD 1,900,000 was stated at cost as these are shares held in co-operative societies
and the share value of co-operative are fixed at its par value and there are no market to determine the fair value.
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12. INVESTMENT SECURITIES (CONT’D)

GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Current
At amortised cost
Quoted bonds and notes

15,276,946

20,058,245

15,276,946

20,058,245

8,037,952

15,015,262

8,037,952

15,015,262

23,314,898

35,073,507

23,314,898

35,073,507

3,004,800

7,008,500

3,004,800

7,008,500

-

1,016,550

-

-

26,319,698

43,098,557

26,319,698

42,082,007

105,578,830

119,808,627

103,062,339

116,014,677

2,061,418

4,589,802

2,061,418

4,589,802

Impairment charged to profit or loss

975,000

533,938

975,000

533,938

Reversal charged to profit or loss

(10,606)

(51,742)

(10,606)

(51,742)

Written off against impairment

(25,812)

(3,010,580)

(25,812)

(3,010,580)

3,000,000

2,061,418

3,000,000

2,061,418

Bonds from statutory board
At fair value through other comprehensive income
Singapore government securities bonds, at fair value
Unquoted equity securities, at fair value
AA-SPCS Services Pte Ltd
Total current investment securities
Total investment securities
Analysis of Accumulated impairment losses
At beginning of year

At end of year
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF INVESTMENT SECURITIES

At the end of the reporting year, the Group and the Society recognised the impairment losses of SGD 3,000,000 (2018:
SGD 2,061,418) for quoted bonds as there were significant declines in the fair value of these investments.
13. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
SOCIETY
2019
SGD
Unquoted shares, at cost
Impairment losses

2018
SGD

5,517,155

5,517,155

(1,000,000)

(1,000,000)

4,517,155

4,517,155

1,000,000

-

-

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

Analysis of impairment losses
At beginning of year
Charged to profit or loss
At end of year
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13. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Details of subsidiaries:
Name

* Choice Décor
Co-operative Society Ltd
* SPCS Consultancy Pte. Ltd.

Principal Activities

Renovation and decor

Country of

Proportion (%)

Incorporation and

of Ownership Interest

Business Carried Out in

2019

2018

Singapore

99.75%

99.75%

Singapore

100%

100%

business.
Consultancy services
related to security, law and
order and other areas.

* Audited by P G Wee Partnership LLP, Singapore.
SPCS Consultancy Pte. Ltd. has a 50% partner in a Consortium, a joint arrangement formed with POLWEL Co-operative
Society Limited, to enter a project, SGSecure awareness, which is incorporated in Singapore. Although the
Consortium is legally separated from the parties, the Joint Operator has classified it as a joint operation. This is on the
basis that the partners are legally obliged to take the entire output produced by the Consortium and will be the only
source of funding to settle its liabilities. During the year, the Consortium was liquidated.
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
At the end of reporting year, management performed an impairment test for the investment in Choice Décor
Co-operative Society Ltd. An impairment loss of SGD 1,000,000 (2018: SGD 1,000,000) was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2019 to write down this subsidiary to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the
investment in subsidiary has been based on cash-generating unit determined after consideration of net assets of the
subsidiary that are not part of the cash-generating unit to the Society.
14. LOAN TO A SUBSIDIARY
SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Loans on:
Current
470,000

470,000

-

28,811

470,000

498,811

-

150,152

470,000

648,963

(470,000)

-

-

648,963

Addition during the year

470,000

-

At end of year

470,000

-

- Overdraft facility (Note (a))
- Commercial property loan (Note (b))
Non-current
- Commercial property loan (Note (b))
Total loans to a subsidiary
Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables
Analysis of Allowance for Impairment of Receivables
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14. LOAN TO A SUBSIDIARY (CONT’D)

a) The overdraft facility is unsecured and not subject to any terms of repayment. Interest is charged at 2.60% (2018:
2.60%) per annum.
b) Commercial property loan was secured by the subsidiary's leasehold property. The current year interest rate is
4.50% (2018: 4.50%). The loan has been settled during the year.
15. LOANS TO MEMBERS
GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
At beginning of year

30,578,110

33,785,246

Add: Loans given during the year

14,528,920

18,600,580

45,107,030

52,385,826

(18,386,544)

(21,187,685)

(156,294)

(101,374)

-

(2,681)

26,564,192

31,094,086

(696,041)

(515,976)

25,868,151

30,578,110

Less: Repayments during the year
Write-off against provision
Reversal of allowance for impairment of receivables
Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables
At end of year

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES (“ECL”)
The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of loans to members computed based on lifetime ECL was as follows:
GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
Analysis of Allowance for Impairment of Receivables
At beginning of year

(515,976)

(313,782)

Addition during the year

(336,359)

(303,568)

156,294

101,374

(696,041)

(515,976)

Receivable within the next 12 months – Current assets

10,612,699

12,015,597

Receivable after the next 12 months – Non-current assets

15,255,452

18,562,513

25,868,151

30,578,110

Write-off against provision
At end of year
As disclosed in the statement of financial position:

Loans amounting to SGD 762,504 (2018: SGD 703,520) are secured by savings.
The rates of interest for loans to members ranged between 3% to 12% (2018: 3% to 12%) per annum. Interest rates are
fixed at contract dates. Loans to members are repayable within a period of 1 month up to 120 months.

68

Annual Report 2019

15. LOANS TO MEMBERS (CONT’D)

Loans to members that were determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting date relate to members that were
in significant financial difficulties and had defaulted on payments. These loans were not secured by any collateral or
credit enhancements.
16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
GROUP
2019
SGD
Trade receivables

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

2018
SGD

405,547

2,215,897

286,220

296,023

-

(1,324,398)

-

-

405,547

891,499

286,220

296,023

Dividend receivables

-

-

-

30,000

GST receivables

-

315,735

-

313,849

420,197

939,461

370

900,020

1,785,707

1,619,879

1,763,258

1,594,338

Rental receivables

10,800

-

-

-

CCF Grant receivables

22,783

21,750

22,783

21,750

2,645,034

3,788,324

2,072,631

3,155,980

Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables

Other receivables
Interest receivables

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on 30 days' credit terms.
Other receivables include SGD Nil (2018: SGD 900,000) represents proceed from structured deposit.
RECEIVABLES THAT ARE IMPAIRED
The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting year and the movement of the allowance
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Movement in allowance accounts:
At beginning of year
Charged to profit or loss
Written off
At end of year

1,324,398

-

-

1,324,398

(1,324,398)

-

-

1,324,398

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting year relate to debtors
that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any
collateral or credit enhancements.
RECEIVABLES THAT ARE PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED
The Group and the Society have trade receivables that are past due at the end of the reporting year but not impaired.
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of the ageing at the end of the reporting year is as follows:
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Trade receivable past due
Less than 30 days

286,220

296,023

286,220

296,023

31 days to 60 days

14,400

262,771

-

-

61 days to 90 days

8,920

11,630

-

-

More than 90 days

22,708

49,010

-

-

332,248

619,434

286,220

296,023

Trade receivables amounting to SGD 286,220 (2018: SGD 296,023) represent deductions through salary check-off for
the month of December 2019 which had been received in January 2020.
17. OTHER ASSETS
GROUP
2019
SGD
Deposits
Prepayments

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

35,614

446,543

6,493

395,760

115,334

24,322

95,466

15,396

150,948

470,865

101,959

411,156

Deposits include SGD Nil (2018: SGD 391,000) paid to third party for the purchase of intangible assets.
18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Cash in hand

6,407

8,114

1,000

2,503

Cash at bank

3,290,403

1,705,183

1,253,731

1,419,415

108,000,000

82,654,122

108,000,000

81,000,000

111,296,810

84,367,419

109,254,731

82,421,918

Fixed deposits

Fixed deposits bear interest rates ranging from 1.25% to 2.22% (2018: 1.40% to 2.06%) per annum and for a tenure of
approximately 7 to 1,096 days (2018: 91 to 452 days).
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

The maturity of fixed deposits:
Maturing more than 12 months
Maturing less than 12 months

6,000,000

7,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

102,000,000

75,654,122

102,000,000

74,000,000

108,000,000

82,654,122

108,000,000

81,000,000
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18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONT’D)

BANKING FACILITIES OF THE GROUP
At the end of the reporting year, the Group and the Society have bank facilities as follows:
GROUP
2019
SGD
Bank overdraft
Performance guarantees

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

1,990,000

1,990,000

1,990,000

1,990,000

10,000

10,000

10,000

10,000

5,000

5,000

-

-

Bank guarantee (HDB)

The interest charged on the overdraft is the bank's prevailing prime rate, which is 5% (2018: 5%) per annum, with
monthly rest. The bank overdraft facilities are not utilised.
The bank overdraft facilities are secured by investment properties (note 11).
A banker’s guarantee of SGD 5,000 (2018: SGD 5,000) issued in favour of the Housing Development Board is secured
against monies in the current account with the financial institution.
19. GENERAL RESERVE FUND
GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
At beginning of year

16,200,142

16,200,142

At end of year

16,200,142

16,200,142

The reserve fund shall be used (By-Law 8.6):
a) to meet unforeseen losses;
b) to provide a margin beyond the liabilities of the Society so as to ensure its ability to pay such liabilities in full in the
event of dissolution; and
c) to enable the Society by reason of the income derived from the Reserve Fund to reduce the rate of interest on
loans granted to members without causing a reduction in the rate of dividend on share capital, bonus shares and
subscription capital.
20. COMMON GOOD FUND
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

At beginning of year

674,510

654,234

669,510

649,234

Transferred from accumulated fund

60,000

60,000

60,000

60,000

Disbursed during the year

(71,144)

(39,724)

(71,144)

(39,724)

663,366

674,510

658,366

669,510

At end of year
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20. COMMON GOOD FUND (CONT’D)

The Common Good Fund was set up for the benefit of the members of the Society and may be devoted to any
educational, medical, social or charitable purposes.
The fund shall be derived from an annual contribution not exceeding ten percent of the net surplus of the Society
(By-Law 8.7).
21. SCHOLARSHIP FUND
GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
At beginning of year

13,000

13,000

Transferred from accumulated fund

13,000

13,000

(13,000)

(13,000)

13,000

13,000

Disbursed during the year
At end of year

This fund is set up for the purpose of awarding scholarship to deserving children of members.
22. FAIR VALUE RESERVE
GROUP
2019
SGD
At beginning of year
Cumulative effects of adopting new accounting standards
Balance as at 1 January 2019, restated
Fair value changes
Gain on disposal of investment at FVOCI
Impairment loss
At end of year

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

3,378,720

2,565,028

2,801,970

2,565,028

-

1,131,500

-

702,800

3,378,720

3,696,528

2,801,970

3,267,828

907,935

(336,792)

907,935

(484,842)

48,737

23,757

19,000

23,757

-

(4,773)

-

(4,773)

4,335,392

3,378,720

3,728,905

2,801,970

23. TERM DEPOSITS
GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
At beginning of year

17,370,746

21,570,074

10,865,824

14,851,689

- 2 years

1,135,582

744,528

- 3 years

621,843

859,991

12,623,249

16,456,208

Add: Received during the year
- 1 year & 6 months
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23. TERM DEPOSITS (CONT’D)

GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
Less: Withdrawals during the year
- 1 year & 6 months

13,896,452

17,556,151

- 2 years

1,247,590

1,487,466

- 3 years

1,319,944

1,611,919

16,463,986

20,655,536

13,530,009

17,370,746

Payable within the next 12 months – Current liabilities

9,886,097

12,916,725

Payable after the next 12 months – Non-current liabilities

3,643,912

4,454,021

13,530,009

17,370,746

At end of year
As disclosed in the statement of financial position:

The term deposits received from members and staff are for a period of 6 months, 12 months, 24 months and 36
months respectively at various interest rates payable on maturity. The members and staff can roll over the term
deposits after the expiration of the term or they can withdraw, subject to bank charges and other costs, at any time
within the term. The interest rates of term deposits are 0.50% to 0.80% (2018: 0.50% to 0.80%) per annum.
At the end of reporting year, the Society's staff have SGD 33,950 (2018: SGD 33,748) under the term deposits.
24. MEMBERS' SPECIFIC DEPOSITS
GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
At beginning of year

60,617,317

57,946,358

21,368,364

22,033,950

361,270

344,903

82,346,951

80,325,211

Less: Withdrawn during the year

(19,976,461)

(19,707,894)

At end of year

62,370,490

60,617,317

Payable within the next 12 months – Current liabilities

19,958,557

19,397,542

Payable after the next 12 months – Non-current liabilities

42,411,933

41,219,775

62,370,490

60,617,317

Add: Received during the year
Interest credited

As disclosed in the statement of financial position:

Interest is calculated based on daily balance. Interest will be credited into members' accounts on the 1st day of
January and July annually. The interest rate of members' specific deposits is 0.60% (2018: 0.60%) per annum.
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25. SUBSCRIPTION-TO-SAVINGS SCHEME (STSS)
GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
STSS Series 3

-

17,133,523

STSS Series 5

3,693,408

3,860,849

STSS Series 6

9,896,088

10,173,838

STSS Series 7

9,374,964

9,611,441

STSS Series 8

12,800,294

13,039,644

STSS Series 9

14,176,759

-

49,941,513

53,819,295

3,990,278

17,417,963

45,951,235

36,401,332

49,941,513

53,819,295

As disclosed in the statement of financial position:
Payable within the next 12 months – Current liabilities
Payable after the next 12 months – Non-current liabilities

This is in respect of amount transferred from subscription capital. The members will earn interest on the principal sum
deposited.
STSS Series 5 was issued to replace STSS Series 2. The interest rate was 3.50% per annum for the period from 1
November 2016 to 31 October 2020.
STSS Series 6 was issued in year 2016. The interest rate was 3.25% per annum for the period from 1 November 2016 to
31 October 2021.
STSS Series 7 was issued to replace STSS Series 4. The interest rate was 3.25% per annum for the period from 1
November 2018 to 31 October 2022.
STSS Series 8 was issued in year 2018. The interest rate was 3.25% per annum for the period from 1 November 2018 to
31 October 2022.
STSS Series 9 was issued to replace STSS Series 3. The interest rate was 3.00% per annum for the period from 1
November 2019 to 31 October 2023.
For early withdrawals by a member, there will be a pro-rata claw-back of the interest paid out with corresponding
deduction made to the principal sum that would be repaid to the member.
At the end of the reporting year, the Society's staff have SGD 316,070 (2018: SGD 487,070) under the
subscription-to-savings scheme.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL
GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
Issued and fully paid share of SGD 1 each
At beginning of year
Additional shares issued
Less: Share withdrawn
At end of year

2,234,550

2,255,400

69,150

76,200

2,303,700

2,331,600

(74,950)

(97,050)

2,228,750

2,234,550

89,150

67,036

2,139,600

2,167,514

2,228,750

2,234,550

As disclosed in the statement of financial position:
Payable within the next 12 months – Current liabilities
Payable after the next 12 months – Non-current liabilities

Each member shall hold at least 150 shares. No member shall hold more than one-fifth of the paid-up share capital of
the Society (By-Law 8.3).
27. SUBSCRIPTION CAPITAL
GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
At beginning of year

89,730,513

91,423,320

Contribution for the year

20,494,418

20,332,730

Withdrawn during the year

(8,798,733)

(8,985,893)

-

(13,039,644)

101,426,198

89,730,513

Payable within the next 12 months – Current liabilities

9,194,697

8,114,276

Payable after the next 12 months – Non-current liabilities

92,231,501

81,616,237

101,426,198

89,730,513

Transferred to Subscription-To-Savings Scheme (note 25)
At end of year
As disclosed in the statement of financial position:

Every member shall be allowed to subscribe a minimum monthly sum to his Subscription Account in accordance with
the Administrative Rules on Subscription (By-Law 8.4). The minimum monthly subscription is currently at SGD 40 for
each member. The maximum subscription contributed by each member should not exceed SGD 200 per month.
Subscription capital may not be withdrawn except for such purposes and under such conditions as laid down in the
By-Laws or except on a termination of membership.
At the end of the reporting year, subscription capital of SGD 72,900 (2018: SGD 42,340) were received from the
Society's staff.
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP
2019
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

2018
SGD

Trade payables

42,594

400,708

-

-

Other payables

277,411

102,765

277,411

102,682

Interest payables

528,417

614,233

528,417

614,233

686,090

381,431

351,431

282,618

Accrued costs

73,014

480,491

-

-

GST payables

27,234

-

27,234

-

Directors' fee

10,000

10,000

-

-

1,644,760

1,989,628

1,184,493

999,533

Accrued expenses

29. OTHER LIABILITIES
GROUP
2019
SGD
Received in advance
Rental deposits

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

2018
SGD

52,635

33,435

33,435

33,435

248,146

231,346

240,921

220,921

300,781

264,781

274,356

254,356

30. PROVISION
GROUP & SOCIETY
PROVISION
EXPENSES

TOTAL

SGD

PROVISION
FOR BUILDING
SINKING FUND
SGD

580,559

194,822

775,381

Addition during the year

39,053

-

39,053

Reversal during the year

(77,209)

-

(77,209)

Utilised during the year

(17,963)

(88,749)

(106,712)

At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019

524,440

106,073

630,513

Addition during the year

99,053

-

99,053

Utilised during the year

(3,103)

(102,000)

(105,103)

620,390

4,073

624,463

At 1.1.2018

At 31.12.2019

SGD

Provision expenses represent the Society's expenditure such as retirement party, employment and staff-related
program and other expenditures based on management estimates with current and historical information.
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30. PROVISION (CONT’D)

Provision for Building Sinking Fund represents the Society additional contribution towards the upgrading for SPCS
Building, 250 Sims Avenue, Singapore. This provision was based on the estimated replacement costs for the building
by the management agent of MCST 2135 during the 16th Annual General Meeting held on 12 February 2015.
31. CENTRAL CO-OPERATIVE FUND
Pursuant to Section 71 of the Co-operative Societies Act, Chapter 62, the Society shall contribute 5% of the first SGD
500,000 of the surplus resulting from the operations of the Society during the preceding financial year to the Central
Co-operative Fund; and 20% of any surplus in excess of SGD 500,000 from the operations of the Society during the
preceding financial year either to the Central Co-operative Fund or to the Singapore Labour Foundation as the Society
may opt.
GROUP
2019
SGD
Contribution for the year

652,341

2018
SGD
589,341

SOCIETY
2019
SGD
652,341

2018
SGD
589,341

32. HONORARIUM
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

4,700

5,993

4,700

4,700

-

(1,302)

-

(9)

(4,700)

(4,691)

(4,700)

(4,691)

Provision

4,700

4,700

4,700

4,700

At end of year

4,700

4,700

4,700

4,700

At beginning of year
Reversal during the year
Utilised during the year

The service of a member of the Board of Directors shall be gratuitous by way of honorarium subject to compliance
with By-Law 7.13.1. The Board of Directors of the Society has proposed SGD 4,700 for the current year (2018: SGD
4,700).
33. DIVIDENDS
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Declared and paid
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

-

-

PROPOSED BUT NOT RECOGNISED AS A LIABILITY
The Society's Board of Directors has proposed a final dividend of 1.50% (2018: 2.88%) on the members' shares and
subscriptions as at 31 December 2019.
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34. COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2019, the total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
contracted for but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Rental Payable
Not later than or equal to one year

51,777

73,336

-

-

Later than one year but not later than five years

19,315

24,561

-

-

71,092

97,897

-

-

Operating lease payments are for rental payable for office premises. The lease rental terms are negotiated for an
average term of one to three years and rentals are not subject to an escalation clause.
As disclosed in Note 2, the Group has adopted FRS 116 on 1 January 2019. The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
35. LEASES
THE GROUP AND SOCIETY AS A LESSOR
The Group and Society have entered into operating leases on its investment properties (Note 11).
At the end of the reporting year, the Group and Society have future minimum rent receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Rental Receivable
Not later than or equal to one year
Later than one year but not later than five years

1,364,755

1,282,382

1,330,533

1,215,957

853,053

1,424,746

854,738

1,409,346

2,217,808

2,707,128

2,185,271

2,625,303

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial statements
are as follows:
GROUP & SOCIETY
2019
2018
SGD
SGD
Capital commitments in respect of intangible assets

428,500

428,500
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37. OTHER MATTERS
The Group has performance bonds of SGD 840,810 (2018: 840,810) for painting works warranties. Management
considered that it is more likely that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The main risks from the Group's and the Society’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, currency risk, liquidity risk,
credit risk and price risk. The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below.
INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group's and the Society’s financial instruments
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group and the Society are exposed to interest rate risk
through the impact of rate changes on interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities.
Sensitivity Analysis for Interest Rate Risk
The following carrying amounts of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities of the Group and the Society
are exposed to interest rate risk:
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Interest-earning assets
Investment securities

91,777,971

111,079,767

89,261,650

108,302,367

Loans to members

25,868,151

30,578,110

25,868,151

30,578,110

111,290,403

84,359,305

109,253,731

82,419,415

228,936,525

226,017,182

224,383,532

221,299,892

Term deposits

13,530,009

17,370,746

13,530,009

17,370,746

Members' specific deposits

62,370,490

60,617,317

62,370,490

60,617,317

49,941,513

53,819,295

49,941,513

53,819,295

125,842,012

131,807,358

125,842,012

131,807,358

103,094,513

94,209,824

98,541,520

89,492,534

Cash and cash equivalents
Interest-bearing liabilities

Subscription-to-Savings scheme
Net interest-earning assets

At the end of the reporting year, if SGD interest rates had been 0.5% (2018: 0.5%) lower/ higher with all other variables
held constant, the Group's and the Society's profit would have been SGD 515,473 (2018: SGD 471,049) and SGD 492,708
(2018: SGD 447,463) higher/ lower respectively.
LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Society will not be able to meet their financial obligations as and when
they fall due. The Group's and the Society’s exposure to liquidity risk arise primarily from mismatches of the maturities
of financial assets and liabilities.
The Group and the Society review their working capital requirements to assess the adequacy of cash and cash
equivalents to finance the operations.

2,645,034

Trade and other receivables

Total net undiscounted assets (liabilities)

(82,167,556)

186,378,181

45,712,328
99,197,527

-

-

-

-

-

45,951,235

92,231,501

2,139,600

42,411,933

4,700

652,341

Central co-operative fund

Honorarium

43,602

Ex-member's accounts

1,644,760

Trade and other payables
248,146

3,990,278

Subscription-To-Savings Scheme (STSS)

Other liabilities

9,194,697

89,150

Subscription capital

Share capital

19,958,557

Members' specific deposits

3,643,912

104,210,625

144,909,855
9,886,097

6,000,000

-

-

15,951,493

82,259,132

MORE THAN
1 YEAR
SGD

GROUP
2019

105,296,810

Term deposits

Financial liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents

35,614

10,612,699

Loans to members

Other assets

26,319,698

1 YEAR
OR LESS
SGD

Investment securities

Financial assets

contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

17,029,971

232,090,509

4,700

652,341

43,602

248,146

1,644,760

49,941,513

101,426,198

2,228,750

62,370,490

13,530,009

249,120,480

111,296,810

35,614

2,645,034

25,564,192

108,578,830

SGD

TOTAL

77,285,500

60,755,338

4,700

589,341

26,781

231,346

1,989,628

17,417,963

8,114,276

67,036

19,397,542

12,916,725

138,040,838

77,367,419

446,543

5,112,722

12,015,597

43,098,557

1 YEAR
OR LESS
SGD

(61,008,902)

165,858,879

-

-

-

-

-

36,401,332

81,616,237

2,167,514

41,219,775

4,454,021

104,849,977

7,000,000

-

-

19,078,489

78,771,488

MORE THAN
1 YEAR
SGD

GROUP
2018

16,276,598

226,614,217

4,700

589,341

26,781

231,346

1,989,628

53,819,295

89,730,513

2,234,550

60,617,317

17,370,746

242,890,815

84,367,419

446,543

5,112,722

31,094,086

121,870,045

SGD

TOTAL

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's and the Society's financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting year based on

Analysis of Financial Instruments by Remaining Contractual Maturities

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)
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652,341

Central co-operative fund

Total net undiscounted assets (liabilities)

-

-

97,021,416

(84,684,047)

186,378,181

43,602

Ex-member's accounts

-

45,244,836

240,921

Other liabilities

-

-

1,184,493

Other payables

45,951,235

92,231,501

2,139,600

42,411,933

4,700

3,990,278

Subscription-To-Savings Scheme (STSS)

Honorarium

9,194,697

89,150

Subscription capital

Share capital

19,958,557

Members' specific deposits

3,643,912

101,694,134

142,266,252

9,886,097

6,000,000

-

-

15,951,493

-

79,742,641

MORE THAN
1 YEAR
SGD

SOCIETY
2019

103,254,731

Term deposits

Financial liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents

6,493

2,072,631

Trade and other receivables

Other assets

10,612,699

-

Loan to a subsidiary

Loans to members

26,319,698

Investment securities

Financial assets

1 YEAR
OR LESS
SGD

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

12,337,369

231,623,017

4,700

652,341

43,602

240,921

1,184,493

49,941,513

101,426,198

2,228,750

62,370,490

13,530,009

243,960,386

109,254,731

6,493

2,072,631

26,564,192

-

106,062,339

SGD

TOTAL

73,815,255

59,754,818

4,700

589,341

26,781

220,921

999,533

17,417,963

8,114,276

67,036

19,397,542

12,916,725

133,570,073

75,421,918

395,760

3,155,980

12,015,597

498,811

42,082,007

1 YEAR
OR LESS
SGD

(63,636,150)

165,858,879

-

-

-

-

-

36,401,332

81,616,237

2,167,514

41,219,775

4,454,021

102,222,729

7,000,000

-

-

19,078,489

150,152

75,994,088

MORE THAN
1 YEAR
SGD

SOCIETY
2018

10,179,105

225,613,697

4,700

589,341

26,781

220,921

999,533

53,819,295

89,730,513

2,234,550

60,617,317

17,370,746

235,792,802

82,421,918

395,760

3,155,980

31,094,086

648,963

118,076,095

SGD

TOTAL
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

CREDIT RISK
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a loss to the group.
Exposure to Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from the Group's lending and investment activities where members are unable to meet their
contractual liabilities when they fall due. Credit to members is reviewed regularly to ensure that credit risk is
supported by adequate guarantees and their earnings. Exposure to loan lending is minimised by a policy of generally
granting loans on the conduct of regular review. Loans are mainly granted to a co-operative in which the Society has
an equity interest and is represented on the Board of Directors.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables and loan to members. For other
financial assets (including cash and cash equivalents), the Group minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with
parties of high credit ratings.
The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. The Group performs ongoing
credit evaluation of its counterparties’ financial condition and generally does not require a collateral.
The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, as well as maximum exposure to credit risk
by credit risk rating categories:

NOTE

CATEGORY

15

Note 1

GROSS
LOSS
CARRYING ALLOWANCE
AMOUNT
SGD
SGD

NET
CARRYING
AMOUNT
SGD

31 December 2019
Loan to members

26,564,192

(696,041)

25,868,151

LOAN TO MEMBERS (NOTE 1)
The Group computes expected credit loss for this group of financial assets using the probability of default approach
and recognise amount based on computed figures recognised as at to date. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group consider historical default rates for each category of loan and adjusts for forward-looking factors like
the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor or significant delays in payments.
Price Risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk arising from investments classified as financial assets at FVOCI
(2018: FVOCI). These securities are listed in Singapore. To manage its price risk, the Group diversifies its portfolio in
accordance with the limits set by the Group.
Further details of these equity investments can be found in note 12 to the financial statements.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

Sensitivity Analysis for Equity Price Risk
At the end of the reporting year, if the prices for quoted equity securities had been 2% (2018: 2%) higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, the Group's fair value reserve would increase/decrease by SGD 111,369 (2018: SGD
94,638).
Funds placed with fund managers comprise a portfolio of equity instruments, debt instruments, derivatives and cash
and cash equivalents. The Group is exposed to changes in market prices, interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk
with respect to its funds placed with fund managers. Fair values of debt instruments at fixed rates may fluctuate due
to changes in market interest rates. A 2% increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the portfolio at the balance sheet date
would increase/(decrease) the Group’s fair value reserve by $102,498 (2018: $Nil).
39. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
a) Fair value hierarchy
The Group categories fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the valuation inputs
used as follows:
• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date;
• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and
• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

5,124,875

Funds placed with fund managers (note 12)
-

3,004,800

Singapore government securities bonds (note 12)

Unquoted investments (note 12)

5,568,469

1,207,515

-

-

-

QUOTED
SIGNIFICANT
PRICES IN UNOBSERVABLE
ACTIVE
INPUTS
MARKETS FOR
IDENTICAL
INSTRUMENTS
LEVEL 1
LEVEL 3
SGD
SGD

1,207,515

5,124,875

3,004,800

5,568,469

SGD

TOTAL

GROUP
2019
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AT THE
REPORTING DATE USING

Quoted equity securities (note 12)

At fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets:

reporting year.

-

5,124,875

3,004,800

5,568,469

1,207,345

-

-

-

QUOTED
SIGNIFICANT
PRICES IN UNOBSERVABLE
ACTIVE
INPUTS
MARKETS FOR
IDENTICAL
INSTRUMENTS
LEVEL 1
LEVEL 3
SGD
SGD

1,207,345

5,124,875

3,004,800

5,568,469

SGD

TOTAL

SOCIETY
2019
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AT THE
REPORTING DATE USING

The following table shows an analysis of the Group and the Society for each class of assets and liabilities measured at fair value at the end of the

b) Assets measured at fair value
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Unquoted investments (note 12)

Singapore government securities bonds (note 12)

Quoted equity securities (note 12)

At fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets:

39. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

-

10,010,200

4,731,912
2,128,403

-

-

QUOTED
SIGNIFICANT
PRICES IN UNOBSERVABLE
ACTIVE
INPUTS
MARKETS FOR
IDENTICAL
INSTRUMENTS
LEVEL 1
LEVEL 3
SGD
SGD

2,128,403

10,010,200

4,731,912

SGD

TOTAL

GROUP
2018
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AT THE
REPORTING DATE USING

-

10,010,200

4,731,912

1,111,853

-

-

QUOTED
SIGNIFICANT
PRICES IN UNOBSERVABLE
ACTIVE
INPUTS
MARKETS FOR
IDENTICAL
INSTRUMENTS
LEVEL 1
LEVEL 3
SGD
SGD

1,111,853

10,010,200

4,731,912

SGD

TOTAL

SOCIETY
2018
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AT THE
REPORTING DATE USING
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Investments properties (note 11)

Non-financial assets:

Financial assets:

Investments properties (note 11)

Non-financial assets:

Financial assets:

but for which fair value is disclosed.

41,620,000

LEVEL 2
SGD

SIGNIFICANT
OBSERVABLE
INPUTS OTHER
THAN QUOTED
PRICES

41,620,000

-

QUOTED
PRICES IN
ACTIVE
MARKETS FOR
IDENTICAL
INSTRUMENTS
LEVEL 1
SGD

37,060,000

LEVEL 2
SGD

SIGNIFICANT
OBSERVABLE
INPUTS OTHER
THAN QUOTED
PRICES

SGD

TOTAL

37,060,000

SGD

TOTAL

GROUP
2018
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AT THE
REPORTING DATE USING

-

QUOTED
PRICES IN
ACTIVE
MARKETS FOR
IDENTICAL
INSTRUMENTS
LEVEL 1
SGD

GROUP
2019
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AT THE
REPORTING DATE USING

41,620,000

LEVEL 2
SGD

SIGNIFICANT
OBSERVABLE
INPUTS OTHER
THAN QUOTED
PRICES

41,620,000

-

QUOTED
PRICES IN
ACTIVE
MARKETS FOR
IDENTICAL
INSTRUMENTS
LEVEL 1
SGD

37,060,000

LEVEL 2
SGD

SIGNIFICANT
OBSERVABLE
INPUTS OTHER
THAN QUOTED
PRICES

SGD

TOTAL

37,060,000

SGD

TOTAL

SOCIETY
2018
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AT THE
REPORTING DATE USING

-

QUOTED
PRICES IN
ACTIVE
MARKETS FOR
IDENTICAL
INSTRUMENTS
LEVEL 1
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AT THE
REPORTING DATE USING

The following table shows an analysis of the Group and the Society for each class of assets not measured at fair value at the end of the reporting year

c) Assets not carried at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed
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39. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

d) Level 2 fair value measurements
Information about significant observable inputs used in Level 2 fair value measurements
Investment properties
The investment properties were valued at SGD 41,620,000 (2018: SGD 37,060,000) on 31 December 2019 by JLL
Singapore, an independent professional valuer with recognised and relevant professional qualifications and with
recent experience in the location and category of the properties being valued. The valuations are based on the
properties highest-and-best-use using the Market Approach and Income Approach.
e) Level 3 fair value measurements
Information about significant observable inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurements
Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), for equity securities (unquoted
investments) is based on net tangible assets.
f) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are
reasonable approximation of fair value
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables, provisions
and other liabilities and amounts payable approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term
maturity of these financial instruments.
40. CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The following table summarises the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded at the end of the
reporting year.
GROUP
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

SOCIETY
2019
SGD

2018
SGD

Financial assets
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets measured at cost
Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income

228,618,780

220,249,963

223,458,856

215,492,898

1,900,000

1,900,000

1,900,000

1,900,000

14,905,659

16,839,060

14,905,489

15,822,510

232,090,509

226,614,217

231,613,442

225,613,697

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including share
capital repayable on demand)

41. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND FRSS INTERPRETATIONS
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, none of the FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS that were
issued but not yet effective are relevant to the group.

2.1(d)

2.1(c)

2.1(bb)

2.1(ba)

2.1(a)

In these By-Laws, unless the context otherwise

2.1

the Society which is responsible for the
management of the affairs of the Society;

responsible for the management of the affairs

of the Society;

the model by-laws

ranking executive appointed by the Board to
run the affairs of the Society;

To track the amendments to

“Chief Executive Officer" means the highest

2.1(ea)

the model by-laws

“By-Laws” means the Bby-laws of the Society;

2.1(d)

To track the amendments to

the model by-laws

governing body (by whatever name called) of

governing body of the Society which is

“By-Laws” means the By-laws of the Society;

To track the amendments to

2.1(c)

Section 33(1) and 36(4)(b) of the Act;

To comply with the Act

“Board” or “Board of Directors” means the

“Board” or “Board of Directors” means the

Section 33(1) and 36(4) of the Act;

“Auditor” means any person referred to in

“Auditor” means any person referred to in

prescribed in Section 36 of the Act;

prescribed in Section 36 of the Act;
2.1(bb)

with model by-laws

of the Society appointed by the Board as

of the Society appointed by the Board as

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee

Amended for consistency

with model by-laws

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee

2.1(ba)

time being in force in Singapore;

being in force in Singapore;

“Act” means the Co-operative Societies Act

requires –

In these By-Laws, unless the context otherwise

INTERPRETATION

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

(Cap. 62) or any amendment thereto for the

2.1(a)

2.1

2.

3 BYLAW
NO

(Cap 62) or amendment thereto for the time

“Act” means the Co-operative Societies Act

requires -

INTERPRETATION

2

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO

POLICE CO-OP AMENDMENTS TO BY-LAWS

TABLE SETTING OUT PROPOSED
AMENDMENTS TO BY-LAWS
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2.1(g)

2.1(f)

services or to the giving of security; and

services or to the giving of security; and

Society either or all of the following –

the Society;

paid staff of the Society;

2.1(ga)

shares and subscription held by them in the

bonus shares and subscription held by them in

“Employee" means a person who is a full-time

proportion to the paid-up share capital, bonus

in proportion to the paid-up share capital,

the model by-laws

staff of the Society an individual who is a staff of the

the model by-laws

marked for any specific purposes and it can serve
as a buffer to absorb unanticipated losses which

To track the amendments to

“General Reserve Fund” means a fund that is not

with the Society or appointed by the Board;

Society, whether or not under a contract of service

To track the amendments to

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

“Employee” means a person who is a full-time paid

(iii) the bonus shares held by Members in the Society.

the Society; and

(ii) the subscription capital held by Members in

the Society;

(i) the paid-up share capital held by Members in

the Society distributed among the mMembers in

“Dividend” means a portion of the net surplus of

of the Society distributed among the members

“Dividend” means a portion of the net surplus

2.1(g)

agreement or that is referable to the provision of

agreement or that is referable to the provision of

2.1(f)

(i) a deposit that is paid pursuant to a hire-purchase

(i) a deposit that is paid pursuant to a hire-purchase

(ii) such other deposit as may be prescribed.

capital, but does not include –

capital, but does not include

(ii) such other deposit as may be prescribed.

deposit account and includes subscription

“Deposit” means money received on current or

medical, social or charitable purposes;
Renumbering

the model by-laws

used for the benefit of the Members of the

2.1(ec)

To track the amendments to

“Common Good Fund” means a fund that is

2.1(eb)
Society and may also be used for educational,

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

3 BYLAW
NO

deposit account and includes subscription

“Deposit” means money received on current or

2.1(ea)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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2.1(hb)

2.1 (ha)
a person holding a position analogous to that of
chief executive officer, chief operating officer or
chief financial officer, and includes a person
purporting to act in any such capacity;
“Key Employee” means an individual who holds

officer, or a person holding a position

analogous to that of chief executive officer,

chief operating officer or chief financial officer,

and includes a person purporting to act in any

such capacity;

“Manager" means the most senior executive
employed by the Committee to run the affairs of
the Society;

“Manager" means the most senior executive

employed by the Committee to run the affairs

of the Society;

(iii) or (iv);

appointment mentioned in paragraphs (i), (ii),

(v) an appointment analogous to any

(iv) a chief investment officer;

(iii) a chief financial officer;

(ii) a chief operating officer;

general manager or otherwise);

(i) a chief executive officer (whether called

whether or not for reward –

purports to act in any of the following capacities,

any of the following appointments, or who

chief operating officer or chief financial officer, or

officer, chief operating officer or chief financial

“Key Employee” means a chief executive officer,

meaning of the Insurance Act (Cap. 142);

meaning of the Insurance Act (Cap. 142);
2.1(ha)

to the carrying on of insurance business within the

to the carrying on of insurance business within the

“Key Employee” means a chief executive

nature as may be prescribed, other than in relation

nature as may be prescribed, other than in relation

“Financial sService” means receiving dDeposits,

investments.

may arise from the Society’s operations or

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

granting loans, or such other service of a financial

2.1(gb)

3 BYLAW
NO

granting loans, or such other service of a financial

“Financial service” means receiving deposits,

2.1(ga)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS
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2.1(m)

2.1(k)

other person empowered under the Act, the
Rules or the By-Laws to give directives with
regard to the business of the Society or to
supervise such business;

empowered under the Act, the Rules or the

By-Laws to give directives with regard to the

business of the Society or to supervise such

business;

the model by-laws

Societies and the Assistant Registrars of
Co-operative Societies appointed under section
3 of the Act and includes a person exercising
such powers of the Registrar as may have been
conferred upon him under that section;
“Registrar" means the Registrar of Co-operative

Societies and the Assistant Registrars of

Co-operative Societies appointed under

section 3 of the Act and includes a person

exercising such powers of the Registrar as may

have been conferred upon him under that

section;

Section 3(1) of the Act, exercising such function,

Registrar or a public officer appointed under

and includes a Deputy Registrar, an Assistant

Societies appointed under Section 3(1) of the Act

To track the amendments to

2.1(m)

“Registrar" means the Registrar of Co-operative

“Registrar" means the Registrar of Co-operative

the model by-laws

eEmployee, Iinternal Aauditor, Lliquidator or any

Internal Auditor, Liquidator or any other person

under Section 66A of the Act;

committee constituted under the By-Laws,

constituted under the By-Laws, employee,

To track the amendments to

Executive Officer, Manager, member of any

Manager, member of any committee

“Ordinary Share” means an ordinary share issued

Aassistant Ttreasurer, member of the Board, Chief

Assistant Treasurer, member of the Board,

2.1(ka)

the model by-laws

Ssecretary, Aassistant Ssecretary, Ttreasurer,

Secretary, Assistant Secretary, Treasurer,

“Officer" includes a Chairman, Vice-Chairman,

To track the amendments to

Section 71 of the Act;

with Section 71;

Editorial amendments

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

“Officer” includes a Cchairman, Vvice-Cchairman,

Singapore Labour Foundation in accordance with

Singapore Labour Foundation in accordance
2.1(k)

the Central Co-operative Fund and/or the

for the Central Co-operative Fund and/or the

“Net Surplus” means the remaining portion of the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

surplus after provisions have been made for

2.1(j)

3 BYLAW
NO

the surplus after provisions have been made

“Net Surplus” means the remaining portion of

2.1(j)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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2.1(q)

2.1(oa)

2.1(na)

the model by-laws

days between 2 events, that number of days is
happen.

exclusive of the days on which those 2 events

To track the amendments to

Where there is a reference to a number of clear

importing the singular shall include the plural.

importing the singular shall include the plural.
2.2

the model by-laws

of membership; and

termination of membership;

include the feminine gender and words

down in the By-Laws or except on a termination

are laid down in the By-Laws or except on a

include the feminine gender and words

purposes and under such conditions as are laid

such purposes and under such conditions as

To track the amendments to

may not be withdrawn except for such specific

and which may not be withdrawn except for

Words importing the masculine gender shall

taken or guaranteed by a mMember and which

for loans taken or guaranteed by a member

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Editorial amendments

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Words importing the masculine gender shall

intended to serve as guarantee capital for loans

which is intended to serve as guarantee capital

“Subscription Capital” means a regular obligatory
savings deposit made by mMembers which is

2.1(oa)

obligatory savings deposit made by members

“Subscription Capital” means a regular

the Singapore Labour Foundation Act (Cap. 302);

under the Singapore Labour Foundation Act;

“Singapore Labour Foundation” means the
Singapore Labour Foundation established under

2.1(na)

Singapore Labour Foundation established

“Singapore Labour Foundation” means the

time being in force in Singapore;

being in force in Singapore;

“Rules" means the Co-operative Societies Rules

the Act;

officer (as the case may be) under Section 3(2) of

the Deputy Registrar, Assistant Registrar or public

duty or power of the Registrar as is delegated to

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

2009 or any rules made under the Act for the

2.1(n)

3 BYLAW
NO

or any rules made under the Act for the time

“Rules" means the Co-operative Societies Rules

2.1(n)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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3.1
3.1(b)

The objects of the Society shall be:

to encourage thrift, co-operation, self-help

3.1

3.1(b)

principles;
to provide fFinancial sServices to mMembers;

3.1(c)
3.1(d)

co-operative principles;

to provide financial services to members;

to establish and operate, either by itself or in

3.1(d)

3.1(e)

3.1(f)

or projects, subject to the provisions of the Act,
the Rules and the By-Laws; and

ventures or projects, subject to the provisions

of the Act, the Rules and the By-Laws; and

Cover under proposed
by-law 3.2(e)

to purchase, lease, or acquire interest in
immovable properties in Singapore or elsewhere
as may be required for use as shops, offices or for
any other purposes of the Society for the
conduct of its business and the general welfare
of the Society.

immovable properties in Singapore or

elsewhere as may be required for use as

shops, offices or for any other purposes of the

Society for the conduct of its business and the

general welfare of the Society.

Renumbering

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

co-operative

objectives of a credit

Not aligned with the

to purchase, lease, or acquire interest in

schemes, ventures and projects.

to establish and operate such co-operative

partnership with others, such schemes, ventures

partnership with others, such schemes,

to establish and operate, either by itself or in

of consumer goods and services on co-operative

selling of consumer goods and services on

3.1(c)

to promote and popularise the buying and selling

organisations or individuals

society in general;

for charitable purposes

donate or sponsor

To enable the society to

mutual assistance amongst its mMembers and

to encourage thrift, co-operation, self-help and

The objects of the Society shall be:

OBJECTS

to promote and popularise the buying and

and mutual assistance amongst its members

3.

OBJECTS

the model by-laws

include the feminine gender and words
importing the singular shall include the plural.

To track the amendments to

Words importing the masculine gender shall

2.3

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

3 BYLAW
NO

3

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO

92
Annual Report 2019

3.2(f)

3.2(e)

3.2(d)

3.2(c)

3.2(b)

3.2(a)

from mMembers and their immediate family
members subject to the Act and the By-lLaws;

from members and their immediate family

members subject to the Act and the By-laws;

Covered under proposed
by-law 3.2(c) and to track
the amendments to the
model by-laws

acquire in and holding for investment, resale and
to deal in shares, stocks and debenture stocks,
bonds and securities issued or guaranteed by
any company or undertaking subject always to
section 69 of the Act;

acquire in and holding for investment, resale

and to deal in shares, stocks and debenture

stocks, bonds and securities issued or

guaranteed by any company or undertaking

subject always to section 69 of the Act;

Renumbering

to buy, underwrite, exchange or otherwise

for performance of the business of the Society;

to appoint managers, brokers, agents and others

to buy, underwrite, exchange or otherwise

for performance of the business of the Society;

to appoint managers, brokers, agents and others

3.2(d)

accordance with Section 69 of the Act;

the Board;

Renumbering

the model by-laws

the manner as may be decided by the Board

Society in the manner as may be decided by

to invest and deal with the funds of the

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

to invest and deal with the funds of the Society in

3.2(c)

mMembers and non-members and dDeposits

members and non-members and deposits

to raise funds by obtaining loans from the

to appoint or to act as representatives and agents

to appoint or to act as representatives and

3.2(b)

relation thereto;

relation thereto;

to raise funds by obtaining loans from the

trademark, patent right, licence or permit in

trademark, patent right, licence or permit in

Society;

arrange for the registration, grant or use of any

arrange for the registration, grant or use of any

business of the Society;

sale of consumer goods and services and to

sale of consumer goods and services and to

for the purpose of carrying on the business of the

packing, transportation, display, distribution or

packing, transportation, display, distribution or

agents for the purpose of carrying on the

co-operative

manufacture, processing, packaging, storage,

manufacture, processing, packaging, storage,

Renumbering

objectives of a credit

non-members for the purchase, produce,

non-members for the purchase, produce,

3.2(a)

Not aligned with the

to enter into contracts with members and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

to enter into contracts with members and

In furtherance of these objects, the Society shall

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

be at liberty –

3.2

3 BYLAW
NO

shall be at liberty –

In furtherance of these objects, the Society

3.2

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO

93

co-operative movement;
to join the Consumers Association of Singapore;

Society;

to join the Consumers Association of

membership

employees under the Ministry of Home Affairs,
including civilian staff, National Servicemen
(NSmen) under the Ministry of Home Affairs,
Certis CISCO and its group of companies, AETOS
and its group of companies, organisations which
have the Society’s representative on the board of
directors and employees from the

to all employees under the Ministry of Home

Affairs, including civilian staff, National

Servicemen (NSmen) under the Ministry of

Home Affairs, Certis CISCO and its group of

companies, AETOS and its group of

companies, organisations which have the

Society’s representative on the board of

directors and employees from the

To set out the classes of

4.1

Renumbering

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

Not applicable

Renumbering

To track the model by-laws

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Membership of the Society shall be opened to all

Membership of the Society shall be opened

4.1

MEMBERSHIP

approval of the Registrar.

prior approval of the Registrar.
4.

of the objects of the Society subject to the prior

any of the objects of the Society subject to the

MEMBERSHIP

incidental or conducive to the attainment of any

incidental or conducive to the attainment of

to do all other things as may be necessary,

to do all other things as may be necessary,

proper conduct of the Society's businesses; and

the proper conduct of the Society's

businesses; and

other regulations as may be required for the

such other regulations as may be required for

to frame administrative policy and rules and

3.2(g)

business and the general welfare of the Society

of its business and the general welfare of the

to frame administrative policy and rules and such

purposes of the Society for the conduct of its

other purposes of the Society for the conduct

3.2(f)

required for use as shops, offices or for any other

required for use as shops, offices or for any

Singapore;

properties or any portion thereof as may be

properties or any portion thereof as may be

4

3.2(j)

3.2(i)

3.2(h)

dispose of such movable or immovable

or dispose of such movable or immovable

to purchase, lease, rent, hold, hire, develop,

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

mortgage, sell or otherwise acquire, deal with or

3.2(e)

3 BYLAW
NO

mortgage, sell or otherwise acquire, deal with

to purchase, lease, rent, hold, hire, develop,

3.2(g)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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1 BYLAW
NO

membership namely:
(a) Ordinary Member;
(b) Associate Member (Retiree);
(c) Associate Member (NSmen): and
(d) Associate Member (Affiliate).

four (4) classes of membership namely:

(a) Ordinary Member;

(b) Associate Member (Retiree);

(c) Associate Member (NSmen): and

(d) Associate Member (Affiliate).

4.2

Chambers. There will be four (4) classes of

Attorney-General’s Chambers. There will be

for ordinary membership

to employees under the following organisations:

representative on the Board of Directors.

Society which have the Society’s

(f) subsidiaries and associate companies of the

(e) Corrupt Practices Investigation Bureau; and

(d) Certis CISCO and its group of companies;

(c) Attorney-General’s Chambers;

(b) AETOS and its group of companies;

and statutory boards;

(a) Ministry of Home Affairs and its departments

To set out the requirements

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Ordinary membership of the Society shall be open

in By-Laws 4.2, 4.3, 4.4, and 4.5 respectively.

the individual requirements of which are set out

(d) Associate Member (NSmen),

(c) Associate Member (Affiliate); and

(b) Associate Member (Retiree);

(a) Ordinary Member;

There shall be 4 classes of membership namely:

Regulatory Authority and the Attorney-General’s

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

Casino Regulatory Authority and the

3 BYLAW
NO
Corrupt Practices Investigation Bureau, the Casino

EXISTING

Corrupt Practices Investigation Bureau, the

2
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4.16.2

Member (Retiree), subject to the Board’s
approval. and continue with his subscription, but
leave a minimum amount of $500.00 (Dollars Five
Hundred) to his credit in the Society and receive
his share of the annual dividend on his
subscription and share capital as provided for in
the By-Laws. Such members shall only be eligible

(Dollars Five Hundred) to his credit in the

Society and receive his share of the annual

dividend on his subscription and share capital

as provided for in the By-Laws. Such members

shall only be eligible for loan secured by

subscription or any other forms of guarantee

or collateral acceptable by the Board.

Society. Such members shall not be permitted to:
(a) exercise such voting power as specified in

be permitted to:

(a) exercise such voting power as specified in

(b) stand for election to office.

(b) stand for election to office.

the By-Laws; and

for the prompt payment of all their dues to the

dues to the Society. Such members shall not

the By-Laws; and

4.9 and 4.11

shall make their own arrangements themselves

themselves for the prompt payment of all their

4.16

consolidated into By-Law

standing for election

Restrictions on voting and

consolidated into By-Laws

Payment of dues

as Associate Members (Retiree) under this By-Law

Ordinary Members retaining their memberships

the Board.

forms of guarantee or collateral acceptable by

this By-Law shall make arrangement

4.3.2

his membership with the Society as an Associate

but leave a minimum amount of $500.00

Members retaining their membership under

liabilities as a borrower remain apply to continue

(Retiree) and continue with his subscription,

for loan secured by subscription or any other

of the Board, provided that he is free from

borrower, remain as an Associate Member
Renumbering

(Retiree)

Society shall cease. hHe may, with the permission

provided that he is free from liabilities as a

To clarify the obligations of

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Associate Members

If an Ordinary Mmember retires from his

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

employment, his Ordinary Membership with the

4.3.1

3 BYLAW
NO

may, with the permission of the Board,

If a member retires from his employment, he

4.16.1

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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(i) The Ministry of Home Affairs, including civilian

(i) The Ministry of Home Affairs, including

(iv) any organisation which has the Society’s

(iv) any organisation which has the Society’s

(v) The Corrupt Practices Investigation Bureau; or
(vi) The Casino Regulatory Authority; or
(vii) The Attorney General’s Chambers;
may apply to continue his membership with the
Society subject to the Board’s approval as an
Associate Member (Affiliate).

(v) The Corrupt Practices Investigation Bureau; or

(vi) The Casino Regulatory Authority; or

(vii) The Attorney General’s Chambers;

may apply to continue his membership with

the Society subject to the Board’s approval as

an Associate Member (Affiliate).

representative on the board of directors; or

(iii) AETOS and its group of companies; or

(iii) AETOS and its group of companies; or

representative on the board of directors; or

(ii) Certis CISCO and its group of companies; or

staff; or

terms as the Board may direct.

accordance with the terms of the loan or on such

accelerate the repayment of the indebtedness in

the former Ordinary Member shall be required to

Associate Member (Affiliate), where applicable),

Society as an Associate Member (Retiree) or

not approved to continue to be a Member of the

(and such Ordinary Member does not apply or is

membership ceases under By-Laws 4.3.1 or 4.4.2

Society and such Ordinary Member’s

(ii) Certis CISCO and its group of companies; or

civilian staff; or

Any member who is no longer an employee of:

Any member who is no longer an employee of:

If there is any indebtedness under any loan or

4.3.2
liability owing from an Ordinary Member to the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

3 BYLAW
NO

4.17

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO

4.4.2

Consolidated into By-Law

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS
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Board.

guarantee or collateral acceptable by the

collateral acceptable by the Board.

by subscription or other forms of guarantee or

Such members shall be eligible for loan secured

(b) stand for election to office.

the By-Laws; and

(a) exercise such voting power as specified in

Such members shall not be permitted to:

Such members shall be eligible for loan

secured by subscription or other forms of

cessation in accordance with By-Law 4.18.

(Affiliate) with the Society will continue until

Individual membership of Associate Members

members of National Police Cadet Corps.

(b) stand for election to office.

the By-Laws; and

(a) exercise such voting power as specified in

Such members shall not be permitted to:

Cadet Corps, members and former

(c) (iii) teachers associated with National Police

ex-employees under By-Law 4.4.24.17; or

Cadet Corps, members and former

members of National Police Cadet Corps.

admitted as Associate Members (Affiliate)

(b) (ii) former Ordinary Members who have been

Constabulary (VSC);

(ii) ex-employees under By-Law 4.17; or
(iii) teachers associated with National Police

Constabulary (VSC);

(a) (i) officers from the Voluntary Special

(i) officers from the Voluntary Special

Associate Members (Affiliate) shall include the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

following:

4.4.1

3 BYLAW
NO

following:

Associate Member (Affiliate) shall include the

4.19

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO

membership.

To clarify the conditions of

4.16

consolidated into By-Law

standing for election

Restrictions on voting and

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS
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Board.

guarantee or collateral acceptable by the

secured by subscription or other forms of

Such members shall be eligible for loan

(b) stand for election to office.

the By-Laws; and

collateral acceptable by the Board.

by subscription or other forms of guarantee or

Such members shall be eligible for loan secured

(b) stand for election to office.

the By-Laws; and

membership.

To clarify the conditions of

4.16

shall not be permitted to:
(a) exercise such voting power as specified in

consolidated into By-Law

with the Society will continue until cessation in
accordance with By-Law 4.18. Such members

standing for election

membership of Associate Members (NSmen)

members shall not be permitted to:

(a) exercise such voting power as specified in

Restrictions on voting and

Associate Members (NSmen). Individual

as Associate Member (NSmen). Such

renumbering

Ministry of Home Affairs may join the Society as

National Servicemen (NSmen) from under the

to the Board’s approval.

Society as an Associate Member (Affiliate) subject

apply to continue his membership with the

Membership with the Society shall cease. He may

representative of the Society, his Ordinary

ceased to have on its Board of Directors a

organisation under By-Law 4.2(f) which has

Editorial amendments and

membership

any of the organisations listed under By-Law 4.2,

4.5

To set out conditions of

If an Ordinary Member is no longer employed by

4.4.2
or if an Ordinary Member is employed by an

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

3 BYLAW
NO

Ministry of Home Affairs may join the Society

National Servicemen (NSmen) from the

4.18

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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4.5.1

4.4

4.3

(f) not be convicted of an offence punishable

may appeal in writing to a general meeting of the
Society. For the admission to membership by a
general meeting, a majority of two-thirds (2/3) of
those present and voting shall be necessary. The
approval or rejection of any application shall be
notified to such applicant without delay.

rejected may appeal in writing to a general

meeting of the Society. For the admission to

membership by a general meeting, a majority

of two-thirds (2/3) of those present and voting

shall be necessary. The election or rejection of

any application shall be notified to such

comply with section 14(2) of
the Act read with paragraph
7 of the Schedule to the Act.

By-Law 4.2 and associate membership under
By-Laws 4.4.1 and 4.5:
(a) eEntrance fee of $10.00 for an ordinary

(a) Entrance fee shall be of such amount as

the Board may determine from time to

time;

Board may determine from time to time;

Member or shall be of such amount as the

the model by-laws and

taking up of the ordinary membership under

taking up of membership:

The following dues shall become payable on

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

Renumbering

Renumbering

amendments to Act in 2018

though deleted by

To retain (c) and (d) even

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

The following dues shall become payable upon

4.9.1

therefor provided that an applicant so rejected

reason thereof provided that an applicant so

applicant without delay.

any application without assigning any reason

The Board shall have power to approve or reject

The Board shall have power to approve or

reject any application without assigning any

on a form prescribed by the Board.

submitted on a form prescribed by the Board.

Application for membership shall be

with imprisonment.

4.8

(d) not be convicted of an offence punishable

(e) not be an undischarged bankrupt; and
with imprisonment.
Application for membership shall be submitted

(d) not be legally or mentally disabled;
(c) not be an undischarged bankrupt; and

Singapore;

(d) not be legally or mentally disabled;

years of age or above;

(a) not be below the age of sixteen (16) years 16

Every person, applying for membership, shall:

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

(b) be of good character;
(b) be a citizen of Singapore or resident in Singapore;

4.7

4.6

3 BYLAW
NO

(c) be a citizen of Singapore or resident in

(b) be of good character;

(a) not be below the age of sixteen (16) years;

Every person, applying for membership, shall:

4.2

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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4.5.2

1 BYLAW
NO

EXISTING

paragraph 7 of the
Schedule to the Act.

4.4.2 shall pay an entrance fee of $20.00 or such
amount as the Board may determine from time to

paragraph 7 of the

for membership has been rejected.

sum of $150.00 (Dollars One Hundred and Fifty)
shall once only be transferred from his
subscription account to his share account as
payment for his minimum shares.

a sum of $150.00 (Dollars One Hundred and

Fifty) shall once only be transferred from his

subscription account to his share account as

payment for his minimum shares.

In the case of a mMember who is already on the

14(2) of the Act read with

and 4.11 shall be refunded where an application

Renumbering

Schedule to the Act.

To comply with section

Any payment made under By-Laws 4.9.1, 4.9.2

register of the Society on 31st December 1991, a

4.9.4

14(2) of the Act read with

to associate membership under By-Laws 4.3.1 and

time upon taking up the associate membership.

To comply with section

Renumbering

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Ordinary Members converting their membership

accordance with By-Law 8.4.

may determine from time to time in

(Dollars Ten) or such amount as the Board

register of the Society on 31st December 1991,

In the case of a member who is already on the

4.9.3

and

may determine from time to time in
(d) A minimum monthly subscription of S$10.00

(150) shares subject to By-Law 8.3.and 4.5.2

(Dollars Ten) or such amount as the Board

accordance with By-Law 8.4.

(c) Ppayment for at least one hundred and fifty

(c) A minimum monthly subscription of $10.00

determine from time to time; and

4.5.2; and

(b) entrance fee of $20.00 for an associate

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

Member or such amount as the Board may

4.9.2

3 BYLAW
NO

(150) shares subject to By-Laws 8.3 and

(b) Payment for at least one hundred and fifty

2
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such amount as the Board may prescribe from

Board may prescribe from time to time.

the model by-laws
Renumbering

member at least once a year.
A member is required to write in formally
regarding any query about his accounts with the
Society. To encourage a member to keep his
own accounts, only queries pertaining to his

A member is required to write in formally

regarding any query about his accounts with

the Society. To encourage a member to keep

his own accounts, only queries pertaining to

4.8.2

member at least once a year.

A Statement of Accounts shall be sent to every

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

accessible to members

To have an e-copy readily

A Statement of Accounts shall be sent to every

4.13

the By-Laws may be obtained on payment of

obtained on payment of such amount as the
time to time.

hard copy or in electronic form). Extra copies of

charge. Extra copies of the By-Laws may be

Every mMember shall, on admission, be provided
with a copy of the By-Laws free of charge (in

4.12

provided with a copy of the By-Laws free of

Every member shall, on admission, be

4.8.1 and

4.7

under By-Laws 4.9.1 or 4.9.2, where applicable.

shall be made together with the payments made

accordance with By-Law 8.4. The first payment

the Board may determine from time to time in

monthly subscription of $10.00 or such amount as

conversion, be required to pay a minimum

obligations of the members

By-lLaws unless otherwise as restricted.

otherwise as restricted.
memberships, whether by application or

mMember of the Society as laid down in the

Society as laid down in the By-laws unless

To set out the continuing

acquired all the rights, duties and liabilities of a

duties and liabilities of a member of the

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Every Member shall, on taking up their

4.9.2, where applicable, be deemed to have

4.5, be deemed to have acquired all the rights,

4.11

the obligatory dues stipulated in By-Laws 4.95.1 or

of the obligatory dues stipulated in By-Law

Every mMember who has been admitted to the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

membership of the Society shall, on payment of

4.10

3 BYLAW
NO

membership of the Society shall, on payment

Every member who has been admitted to the

4.6

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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4.11

4.10

4.9

1 BYLAW
NO

To track the amendments to
the model by-laws
Renumbering
Renumbering

Every mMember shall keep the Secretary Society
informed of any change in his address. All notices
posted or sent to his last known address shall be
deemed to have been duly served.
Every mMember shall, unless otherwise

Every member shall keep the Secretary

informed of any change in his address. All

notices posted or sent to his last known address

shall be deemed to have been duly served.

Every member shall, unless otherwise

disqualified or restricted under the Act or the
By-Laws, have the right to -

disqualified or restricted under the Act or the

By-Laws, have the right to:

4.16.1

4.15

be paid on his death.

may be paid on his death.

Renumbering

(2) witnesses to whom sums due to him may shall

two (2) witnesses to whom sums due to him

Every mMember may in writing nominate one (1)

of receipt of the Member’s request.

the Society within 6 months preceding the date

financial transaction between that Member and

electronic form) containing particulars of each

Editorial amendments

the model by-laws

Member’s request, provide to the Member a
statement of accounts (in hardcopy form or

To track the amendments to

within 10 working days after receiving a

financial year; and

between that Member and the Society in that

containing particulars of each financial transaction

or more persons in the presence of at least two

4.14

the model by-laws

the close of each financial year, a statement of
accounts (in hardcopy form or electronic form)

To track the amendments to

provide to each Member, within 6 months after

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

(1) or more persons in the presence of at least

Every member may in writing nominate one

(b)

(a)

The Society must –

of query will be answered.

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

the date of query will be answered.

3 BYLAW
NO
accounts for the past two (2) years from the date

EXISTING

his accounts for the past two (2) years from

2

103

Renumbering
Renumbering
Renumbering

be co-opted to hold office in the Society;
participate observe at general meeting; and
enjoy all other rights provided under the By-Laws.

4.16.1(b)
4.16.1(c)
4.16.1(d)

be co-opted to hold office in the Society;

participate at a general meeting; and

enjoy all other rights provided under the

4.11(d)

4.11(e)

4.11(f)

4.12

Renumbering

stand for election to office;

stand for election to office;

4.11(c)

shares held or subscribed by him and the
nominal value of any bonus certificates or bonus
shares held by him. The liability of a past
mMember for the debts of the Society as they
existed on the date on which he ceased to be a
mMember shall not continue for a period of
more than two (2) years reckoned from after that
date.

of the shares held or subscribed by him and

the nominal value of any bonus certificates or

bonus shares held by him. The liability of a

past member for the debts of the Society as

they existed on the date on which he ceased

to be a member shall not continue for a

period of more than two (2) years reckoned

from that date.

The liability of a mMember, present or past, of the

(b) stand for election to office.

Renumbering

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

election

on voting and standing for

(a) exercise voting power at a general meeting;
and

To consolidate restrictions

Only Ordinary Members shall have the right to:

Society shall not exceed the nominal value of the

4.17

4.16.2

the Society shall not exceed the nominal value

The liability of a member, present or past, of

By-Laws.

Renumbering

avail himself of all services of the Society;

avail himself of all services of the Society;

4.11(b)
4.16.1(a)

the model by-laws

By-Laws;

By-Laws;

To track the amendments to

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

exercise such voting power as specified in the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

exercise such voting power as specified in the

3 BYLAW
NO

4.11(a)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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4.14

imprisonment;
(f) bankruptcy; or
(g) insanity; or

Board may accept a shorter notice of resignation
at its discretion. The effective date of cessation of
membership by resignation shall be upon the
expiry of the six (6) months' notice or such
shorter notice accepted by the Board, as the case
may be. During this period of notice, such
mMember shall not be eligible to vote or to incur

The effective date of cessation of membership

by resignation shall be upon the expiry of the

six (6) months' notice. During this period of

notice, such member shall not be eligible to

vote or to incur fresh liabilities with the Society.

The Board may allow a shorter notice period

at its own discretion.

discretion.

allow a shorter notice period at its own

fresh liabilities with the Society. The Board may

(6) months' notice of resignation in writing. The

six (6) months' notice of resignation in writing.

Renumbering

the model by-laws

Society may resign from the Society on giving six

Society may resign from the Society on giving

Any member who is not indebted to the

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

(g) death.
Any mMember who is not indebted to the

(h) death.

(f) bankruptcy;

imprisonment;

(g) insanity; or

and 4.4.2
(c) permanent removal of residence beyond

(b) cessation in accordance with By-Laws 4.3.1

accordance with By-Law 4.2;

(a) resignation subject to By-Law 4.194.14;
(b) becoming ineligible for membership in

Individual Membership shall cease by:

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

Singapore;
(d) expulsion subject to By-Law 4.205;
(e) conviction of an offence punishable with

4.19

4.18

3 BYLAW
NO

(e) conviction of an offence punishable with

(d) expulsion subject to By-Law 4.15;

Singapore;

(c) permanent removal of residence beyond

accordance with By-Law 4.2;

(b) becoming ineligible for membership in

(a) resignation subject to By-Law 4.14;

Membership shall cease by:

4.13

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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Board if not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the
members present and voting so decide
appeal in writing to the Society either:

decision of the Board if not less than

two-thirds (2/3) of the members present and

voting so decide.

various subscribe to such savings schemes as the
Board may determine from time to time
introduce. The Board shall adopt such rules and
regulations frame the terms and conditions

time to time. The Board shall frame the terms

and conditions governing various savings

schemes as may be required.

The Society Every Member may introduce

SAVINGS SCHEMES

present and voting at the meeting so decide.

the Board if not less than two-thirds of the Members

The general meeting may reverse the decision of

shall be heard at the following general meeting.

meeting and the appeal against the expulsion

(b) at least 21 days before the following general

heard at the next general meeting; or

and the appeal against the expulsion shall be

schemes as the Board may determine from

5.1

meeting, which may reverse the decision of the

general meeting, which may reverse the

The Society may introduce various savings

however, appeal in writing to the next general

may, however, appeal in writing to the next

5.1

not be expelled. An expelled member may

should not be expelled. An expelled member

5.

opportunity to show cause as to why he should

opportunity to show cause as to why he

SAVINGS SCHEMES

provided that he is given a reasonable

provided that he is given a reasonable

5

the Society, he may be expelled by the Board

Society, he may be expelled by the Board

(a) at least 21 days before the next general meeting

or acts in any way detrimental to the interests of

any way detrimental to the interests of the

If any A mMember who contravenes any of the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

provisions of the Act, the Rules or these By-Laws

4.20

3 BYLAW
NO

the Act, the Rules or these By-Laws or acts in

If any member contravenes any provisions of

4.15

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO

with the model by-laws

Amended for consistency

with the model by-laws

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS
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6.5

6.4

6.3

6.2

by the Board and shall be held as soon as
practicable but not later than 6 months after the
end of the financial year, unless the approval of
the Registrar has, within the said period of 6
months, been obtained to extend that period.

the Board and shall be held as soon as

practicable but not later than 6 months after

the end of the financial year, unless the

approval of the Registrar has, within the said

period of 6 months, been obtained to extend

with the model by-laws

convened by the Board whenever it thinks fit, or
on receipt of a requisition for such a meeting
signed by at least one-fifth (1/5) 20% or sixty (60)
of the mMembers of the Society, whichever is
the less, stating the objects of the meeting.

convened by the Board whenever it thinks fit

or on receipt of a requisition for such a

meeting signed by at least one-fifth (1/5) or

sixty (60) of the members, whichever is the

less, stating the objects of the meeting.

To track the amendments to
the model by-laws

accordance with By-Law 6.4 within one month
after of receiving the requisition for the meeting,
the mMembers making the requisition shall have

accordance with By-Law 6.4 within one (1)

month of receiving the requisition for the

meeting, the members making the requisition

If the Board fails to convene a meeting in

If the Board fails to convene a meeting in

6.5

Amended for consistency

An Extra-Ordinary General Meeting shall be

An Extra-Ordinary General Meeting shall be

6.4

with the model by-laws

An Annual General Meeting shall be convened

Annual General Meeting shall be convened by

that period.

Amended for consistency

General Meeting.

Extra-Ordinary General Meeting.
6.3

Annual General Meeting and Extra-Ordinary

Editorial amendments

with the model by-laws

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

meetings, Annual General Meeting and

There shall be two (2) kinds of general meetings,

attend and vote.

has a right to attend and vote.
6.2

which every Ordinary mMember has a right to

members at which every Ordinary member

There shall be two (2) kinds of general

in the general meeting of Ordinary mMembers at

vested in the general meeting of Ordinary

Subject to the provision of these By-Laws, the
supreme authority of the Society shall be vested

6.1

Subject to the provision of these By-Laws, the

6.1

GENERAL MEETING

requiredit may deem fit.

governing various savings schemes as may be

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

supreme authority of the Society shall be

6.

GENERAL MEETING

3 BYLAW
NO

6

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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6.7

1 BYLAW
NO

Board has failed to convene the meeting.

the fact that the Board has failed to convene

proposed amendment to the By-laws, at least 15
clear days, prior to the date of the general
meeting. The notice shall state the matters for
discussions and the resolutions to be proposed
and no other subject shall be discussed without
the consent of the majority of the mMembers
present and voting at such general meeting.

the case of a proposed amendment to the

By-Laws, at least fifteen (15) clear days, prior to

the date of the general meeting. The notice

shall state the matters for discussion and the

resolutions to be proposed and no other

subject shall be discussed without the consent

of the majority of the members present and

voting at such general meeting.

6.8(b)

6.8(a)

6.8

least 15seven (7) clear days and, in the case of a

meeting at least seven (7) clear days and, in

the model by-laws

be made available to every Member entitled to

the model by-laws

statements and audit report mentioned in Section

To track the amendments to
the model by-laws

such other document as the Registrar thinks
necessary and directs to be made available.

reports and statements; and

required under the Act to be attached to those

34(1) of the Act, including every document

To track the amendments to

the Society’s annual report, audited financial

clear days before the meeting –

attend the annual general meeting, at least 15

To track the amendments to

A copy of each of the following documents must

with the model by-laws

amended for consistency

the model by-laws and

each mMember entitled to attend the meeting at

to each member entitled to attend the

Notice of every general meeting shall be sent

To track the amendments to

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Notice of every general meeting shall be sent to

6.7

objects of the meeting and the fact that the

Society stating the objects of the meeting and

the meeting.

notice to all mMembers of the Society stating the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

themselves by notice to all members of the

3 BYLAW
NO
power to convene the meeting themselves by

EXISTING

shall have power to convene the meeting

2
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6.9.1

6.8(j)

6.8(i)

6.8(g)

6.8(h)

6.8(d)

6.8(a)

the mMembers.

the members.

with model by-laws

meeting unless a quorum of mMembers is
present. The quorum necessary for such
transaction shall be one fifth (1/5) 20% or 30 of all
mMembers qualified to vote, whichever is the
less.

meeting unless a quorum of members is

present. The quorum necessary for such

transaction shall be one-fifth (1/5) or thirty (30)

of all members qualified to vote, whichever is

the less.

No business shall be transacted at any general

Amended for consistency

Editorial amendments

Renumbering

No business shall be transacted at any general

6.10

Society of which due notice has been given to

to transact any other general business of the

Society of which due notice has been given to

6.9(j)

of the Act and By-Laws 10; and

the provisions of the Act and By-Laws 10; and

to transact any other general business of the

the Society may borrow subject to the provisions

amount the Society may borrow subject to

to consider and determine the maximum

to consider and determine the maximum amount

benefits subject to By-lLaw 7.27;

other benefits subject to By-law 7.13.1;
6.9(i)

renumbering

allowance or honorarium and provision of other

allowance or honorarium and provision of

to consider and authorise the payment of

Editorial amendments and

6.9(h)

with model by-laws

of the Society;

Renumbering

Amended for consistency

to appoint where necessary the external auditors

with model by-laws

Amended for consistency

with model by-laws

Amended for consistency

with model by-laws

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

to consider and authorise the payment of

auditors of the Society;

6.9(g)

Rules and the By-lLaws;

the Rules and the By-laws;

to appoint, where necessary, the external

invested subject to the provisions of the Act, the

invested subject to the provisions of the Act,

to consider and resolve the manner in which any
available net surplus shall be distributed or

6.9(d)

any available net surplus shall be distributed or

to consider and resolve the manner in which

intervening general meeting;

intervening general meeting;

to consider and confirm the minutes of the last

the Society are shall be:

The functions of the Annual General Meeting of

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

Annual General Meeting and of any other

6.9(a)

6.9

3 BYLAW
NO

Annual General Meeting and of any other

to consider and confirm the minutes of the last

of the Society are:

The functions of the Annual General Meeting

6.8

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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6.10.1

6.10.1

and (b) any resolution passed at the meeting shall
not be valid unless it is passed with a majority of

quorum shall not have the power to

amend the By-Laws; and

holds and that vote shall be exercised in person
and not by proxy. Except as otherwise provided
in the Act or in these By-Laws, a question referred
to the members present at a general meeting
shall be decided by a majority of votes. In the
case of an equality of vote the motion shall be
held to be lost. The Chairman shall have no
casting vote. In the case of election or removal of
officers, voting shall be by secret ballot.

holds and such vote shall be exercised in

person and not by proxy. Except as otherwise

provided in the Act or in these By-Laws, a

question referred to the members present at a

general meeting shall be decided by a

majority of votes. In the case of an equality of

vote the motion shall be held to be lost. The

Chairman shall have no casting vote. In the

case of election or removal of officers, voting

Amended for consistency
with model by-laws

irrespective of the number of shares he holds and
such vote shall be exercised in person and not by
proxy. Except as otherwise provided in the Act or
in these By-Laws, a question referred to the
mMembers present at a general meeting shall be

vote irrespective of the number of shares he

holds and such vote shall be exercised in

person and not by proxy. Except as otherwise

provided in the Act or in these By-Laws, a

question referred to the members present at a

Every Ordinary member shall have one (1)

Every Ordinary member shall have one (1) vote

6.13

the model by-laws

vote, irrespective of the number of shares he

vote irrespective of the number of shares he

shall be by secret ballot.

To track the amendments to

with model by-laws

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Every Ordinary mMember shall have only one

Every Ordinary member shall have one (1)

members present.

majority of two-thirds (2/3) of the

not be valid unless it is passed with a

6.12

shall not have the power to amend the By-lLaws;

(a) a general meeting with such reduced

two-thirds of the mMembers present.

(a) a general meeting with such reduced quorum

quorum, except that:

(b) any resolution passed at the meeting shall

present shall form a quorum, except that

meeting, the members present shall form a

If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

time fixed for a general meeting, the mMembers

6.11

3 BYLAW
NO

minutes after the time fixed for a general

If a quorum is not present within thirty (30)

6.9.2

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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6.10.3(b)

6.10.3(a)

6.10.3

6.10.2

1 BYLAW
NO

resolution shall only be deemed to be passed if
not less than the prescribed majority of the total
number of votes are cast in favour of the
resolution.

meeting, the resolution shall only be deemed

to be passed if not less than the prescribed

majority of the total number of votes are cast

in favour of the resolution.

the voting papers have been sent to all Members
of the Society and that the number of returned
votes is not less than one-third (1/3) of the total
membership or 500, whichever is the less, and
the returned votes are examined and counted
under the supervision of the Registrar.

that the voting papers have been sent to all

members of the Society and that the number

of returned votes is not less than one-third

(1/3) of the total membership or five hundred

(500), whichever is the less, and the returned

votes are examined and counted under the

supervision of the Registrar.

quarters (3/4) of the votes returned, provided that

quarters (3/4) of the votes returned, provided

if a referendum is held, by not less than three

meeting duly summoned; or

meeting duly summoned; or
6.15(b)

mMembers present and voting at a general

members present and voting at a general

if a referendum is held, by not less than three

number of votes at the disposal of the

by not less than three-quarters (3/4) of the total

to amend the By-lLaws shall be passed either:

total number of votes at the disposal of the

by not less than three-quarters (3/4) of the

to amend the By-laws shall be passed either:
6.15(a)

present and voting at a general meeting, the

members present and voting at a general

In the case of amendment of the By-lLaws, a resolution

less than a prescribed majority of the mMembers

not less than a prescribed majority of the

In the case of amendment of the By-laws, a resolution

By-Laws that a resolution shall be passed by not

By-laws that a resolution shall be passed by

6.15

voting shall be by secret ballot.

removal of officers, voting shall be by secret ballot.
Where it is provided in the Act or in these

the case of election or removal of oOfficers,

have no casting vote. In the case of election or
6.14

lost. The Cchairman shall have no casting vote. In

motion shall be held to be lost. The Chairman shall

Where it is provided in the Act or in these

equality of votes, the motion shall be held to be

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

votes. In the case of an equality of vote the

3 BYLAW
NO
decided by a majority of votes. In the case of an

EXISTING

general meeting shall be decided by a majority of

2

Renumbering

Renumbering

Renumbering

with model by-laws

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS
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6.18(a)

6.18

share capital of the Society.

to contribute to the share capital of the

the model by-laws

consent in writing having been first obtained, be

the model by-laws

shares than the number held by him at the date

amount unpaid upon him at that date; or

the shares so held any sum exceeding the

of registration of the amendment, or to pay upon

To track the amendments to

requires him to take or to subscribe for more

far as that amendment –

registered after he became a Member, if and so

bound by any amendment of the By-Laws

To track the amendments to

A Member of the Society shall not, without his

observe all the provisions of the By-Laws.

himself and his personal representatives to

covenants on the part of each Member for

were signed by each Member and contained

Members thereof to the same extent as if they

when registered, bind the Society and the

the model by-laws

way increases his liability to contribute to the

amendment in any way increases his liability

amendment to the By-Laws of the Society shall,

member, if and so far as that amendment in any

became a member, if and so far as that

To track the amendments to

the By-laws registered after he became a

amendment of the By-laws registered after he

Subject to By-Law 6.18, the By-Laws and any

first obtained, be bound by any amendment of

having been first obtained, be bound by any

6.17

not, without his consent in writing having been

Society shall not, without his consent in writing

Society.

by the Registrar. A member of the Society shall

registered by the Registrar. A member of the

To track the amendments to

No By-lLaw or amendment to a By-lLaw of the
the model by-laws

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

Society shall be valid until it has been registered

6.16

3 BYLAW
NO

Society shall be valid until it has been

No By-law or amendment to a By-law of the

6.10.4

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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the next meeting and shall, if confirmed or after
amendment, be signed by the Cchairman of that
meeting and the Ssecretary, and when so signed
shall be evidence of anything contained therein.

at the next meeting and shall, if confirmed or

after amendment, be signed by the Chairman

of that meeting and the Secretary, and when

so signed shall be evidence of anything

contained therein.

shall be taken as read if previously circulated at

The minutes of each meeting shall be read or

shall be taken as read if previously circulated

6.22

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

The minutes of each meeting shall be read or

all resolutions and decisions made at the meeting.

6.21(d)

6.11.2

the time the meeting commenced and ended; and

6.21(c)

Renumbering

To track the amendments to

all resolutions and decisions made at the meeting.

the name of the Cchairman who presided;

the model by-laws

6.11.1(c)

6.21(b)

meeting; and

To track the amendments to

the model by-laws

the model by-laws

the time the meeting commenced and

presided;

meeting and the name of the Chairman who

the number of mMembers present at the

6.21(a)

the number of members present at the

Minutes of the general meeting shall be entered

General Meeting is held.

30 days after the date on which the Annual

minutes to be entered in the minute book within

To track the amendments to

the model by-laws

been considered and confirmed at an Annual
General Meeting, the Board shall cause those

To track the amendments to

After the minutes of the general meeting have

in the minutes book and shall contain --

6.21

6.20

the model by-laws

endorsed by the Board within 60 days after the
date on which that general meeting is held.

To track the amendments to

Minutes of the general meeting shall be

ended; and

6.11.1(b)

6.11.1(a)

the model by-laws

contribute to the share capital, subscription
6.19

To track the amendments to

increases (in any other way) his liability to

6.18(b)
capital or loan capital of the Society.

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

3 BYLAW
NO

entered in the minutes book and shall contain --

Minutes of the general meeting shall be

6.11.1

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.2

their appointment or election. end of a two
(2)-year term or at the general meeting. A retired

general meeting. A retired member of the

Board may be eligible for re-election unless

All members of the Board shall retire from office

before the deadline stipulated by the Society.

form must be submitted to the Society on or

Ordinary Members of the Society. The completed

seconder. The proposer and seconder must be

be signed by the candidate, his proposer and

website. The completed nomination form must

candidates at the Society’s office or on its

clarifications

Editorial amendments and

the model by-laws

be made on the nomination form prescribed by
the Society, which shall be available to

To track the amendments to

The nomination of candidates to the Board must

at the second Annual General Meeting following

7.4

7.3

the model by-laws

individuals who are independent of the Society in
the manner prescribed in the Rules.

To track the amendments to

the Act

comply with section 59(1) of

with the model by-laws, to

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

The Board shall comprise at least a majority of

on the Board shall not be less than 5.

provided always that the number of individuals

elected by the general meeting.

(b) not more than eight (8) members individuals

appointed by the President; and

(a) not more than seven (7) members individuals

entrusted to a Board of Directors comprising:

The control of the affairs of the Society shall be

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND KEY EMPLOYEES

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

office at the end of a two (2)-year term at the

All members of the Board shall retire from

by the general meeting.

(b) not more than eight (8) members elected

appointed by the President; and

(a) not more than seven (7) members

comprising:

7.2

7.1

The control of the affairs of the Society shall

7.1

be entrusted to a Board of Directors

7.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND KEY EMPLOYEES

3 BYLAW
NO

7

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.6

1 BYLAW
NO

comply with section 59(2)
of the Act

a general meeting shall not be made unless a
resolution that it shall be so made has first been

the model by-laws and
comply with section 59(3)
of the Act
To track the amendments to
the model by-laws comply
with section 59(4) of the Act

made in contravention of By-Law 7.5 shall be
void, whether or not its being so moved was
objected to at the time.
Where a resolution pursuant to a motion made in
contravention of By-Law 7.5 is passed, no
provision for the automatic re-election of retiring

with section 59(4) of the Act

treated as a motion for the individual’s election.

of the Act

co-opt an individual (who need not be a
Member of the Society) another member to
serve on the Board until the next general meeting

of a Director appointed by the President may

be filled by re-appointment by the President if

he deems fit.

provided that a vacancy of a Director appointed

comply with section 59(10)

if the number of members falls below 5, shall

next general meeting provided that a vacancy

Renumbering

the model by-laws and

To track the amendments to

the model by-laws and comply

for nominating an individual for election, must be
If, during the term of office of the Board, a

To track the amendments to

A motion for approving an individual’s election, or

election shall apply.

members of the Board in default of another

To track the amendments to

A resolution passed in pursuance of a motion

given against it.

vacancy occurs in the Board, the Board may, and

7.9

the model by-laws and

as members of the Board by a single resolution at

agreed to by the meeting without any vote being

To track the amendments to

A motion for the election of 2 or more individuals

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

may co-opt another member to serve until the

If a vacancy occurs in the Board, the Board

7.8

7.7

7.6

7.5

otherwise restricted in the Act, Rules or By-Laws.

eligible for re-election or re-appointment unless

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

By-Laws.

3 BYLAW
NO
memberRetiring members of the Board may be

EXISTING

otherwise restricted in the Act, Rules or

2
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comply with sections 59(11)
and (12) of the Act

individuals (each of whom need not be a
Member of the Society) to serve in the Board

7.11(b)

he is not a citizen of Singapore; or

he is not resident in Singapore, subject to

7.3(b)(i)

7.3(b)(ii)

except with the approval of the Registrar;

section 60(2) of the Act;

7.11(a)

he is under twenty one (21) years of age;

7.3(a)

except with the approval of the Registrar;

of the Act,

resident in Singapore ; subject to section 60(2)

(ii) subject to Section 60(2) of the Act, he is not

the model by-laws

(i) he is not a citizen of Singapore; or

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

To track the amendments to

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

Renumbering

the model by-laws

if he is not

if he is under 21 years of age;

a kKey eEmployee: if –

eEmployee, or remain a member of the Board or

member of the Board or a key employee if:

An individual is not No person shall be eligible for

all of the existing members of the Board.

appointment must be approved by a majority of
To track the amendments to

the model by-laws and

or not there is any vacancy in the Board, up to 2

until the next general meeting of the Society. The

To track the amendments to

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

The Board may appoint, at any time and whether

by the President if he deems fit.

by the President may be filled by re-appointment

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

membership of the Board, to be a kKey

7.11

7.10

3 BYLAW
NO

the Board, to be a key employee or remain a

No person shall be eligible for membership of

7.3

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO

116
Annual Report 2019

7.3(g)

7.3(f)

7.3(e)

mismanaged funds of a co-operative society; or

misused or mismanaged funds of a society; or

Section 94(1) or 94A(1) of the Act; or

society, or suspended by the Registrar, under

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

the model by-laws

has previously been removed by the Registrar
from the Committee of Management of any

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

except with the Registrar’s written approval, if he

he has been found to have previously misused or

7.11(g)

co-operative society;

he has been found to have previously

society;

if he has been dismissed as an eEmployee of a

he has been dismissed as an employee of a
7.11(f)

Act;

if he has been convicted of an offence under the

under the Act) involving fraud or dishonesty.

elsewhere, of any offence (not being an offence

the Act;

7.11(e)

with the Registrar’s written approval, if he has

Registrar;

he has been convicted of an offence under

except with the approval of the Registrar;except

dishonesty except with the approval of the
been convicted, whether in Singapore or

under the Act) involving fraud or dishonesty

offence under the Act) involving fraud or

he has been convicted, whether in Singapore or
elsewhere, of any offence (not being an offence

7.11(d)

he has been convicted, whether in Singapore

7.3(d)

bankruptcy);
Renumbering

the model by-laws

was adjudicated bankrupt by a Singapore court
or a foreign court having jurisdiction in

To track the amendments to

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

if he is an undischarged bankrupt (whether he

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

or elsewhere, of any offence (not being an

7.11(c)

he is an undischarged bankrupt;

3 BYLAW
NO

7.3(c)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.4.1(a)

7.4.1

7.5

dishonesty, the Board shall suspend the member
or the key employee from being a member of
the Board or a key employee respectively.
The Board shall suspend a member of the Board

dishonesty, the Board shall suspend the

member or the key employee from being a

member of the Board or a key employee

respectively.

Board in accordance with By-law 7.3;

Board in accordance with By-lLaw 7.37.11;

he becomes ineligible for membership of the

7.14.1(a)

he becomes ineligible for membership of the

A member of the Board shall cease to hold office

specified in the Rules.

specified in the Rules within such time as may be

comply with such other requirements, as may be

individual fails to complete such training, or

if:

7.14

Renumbering

Renumbering

the model by-laws

individual is not eligible to be re-elected or
co-opted as a member of the Board, if the

To track the amendments to

Except with the Registrar’s written approval, an

offence involving fraud or dishonesty.

the Board or the Key Employee in respect of any

proceedings are instituted against the member of

Board or a Key Employee, respectively, if any

office if:-

A member of the Board shall cease to hold

respect of any offence involving fraud or

respect of any offence involving fraud or

7.13

with the model by-laws

member of the Board or a key employee, in

member of the Board or a key employee, in

or a Key Employee from being a member of the

Amended for consistency

If any proceedings are instituted against a

7.12

Renumbering

with the model by-laws

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

If any proceedings are instituted against a

he becomes ineligible under any of the By-lLaws

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

of the Society.

7.11(h)

3 BYLAW
NO

By-laws of the Society.

he becomes ineligible under any of the

7.3(h)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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A member of the Board who resigns under

7.4.2

7.4.3

General Meeting.

member under By-lLaw 7.4.1(d) 7.14.1(d) or (e) shall
not be eligible for election until after an interval
of not less than two (2) years.

member under By-law 7.4.1(d) or (e) shall not

be eligible for election until after an interval of

not less than two (2) years.

A member of the Board who ceases to be a

less than one (1) year.

than one (1) year.
7.14.3

election to the Board until after an interval of not

to the Board until after an interval of not less

A member of the Board who ceases to be a

By-lLaw 7.4.1(c) 7.14.1(c) shall not be eligible for

By-law 7.4.1(c) shall not be eligible for election

A member of the Board who resigns under

needs of SPCS

he retires from the Board of the Society at a

7.14.1(g)
7.14.2

Amended to reflect the

he passes away.; or

7.14.1(f)

he passes away.

7.4.1(f)

Renumbering

Renumbering

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

reasons acceptable to the Board; or

reasons acceptable to the Board; or

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

meetings of the Board without satisfactory

he fails to be present at three (3) consecutive

7.14.1(e)

he fails to be present at three (3) consecutive

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

Renumbering

Renumbering

with the model by-laws

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

meetings of the Board without satisfactory

7.4.1(e)

the case of an appointed Director;

in the case of an appointed Director;

he is removed by a Ggeneral Mmeeting in the
case of an elected Director or by the President in

7.14.1(d)

he is removed by a General Meeting in the

7.4.1(d)

he gives notice of resignation to the Board;

case of an elected Director or by the President

7.14.1(c)

he gives notice of resignation to the Board;

7.4.1(c)

mentally unsound;

Treatment Act (Cap 174) he becomes legally or

and Treatment Act (Cap 174);

he becomes a mentally disordered person within

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

the meaning of the Mental Disorders and

7.14.1(b)

3 BYLAW
NO

within the meaning of the Mental Disorders

he becomes a mentally disordered person

7.4.1(b)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.8.1

7.7.3

7.7.2

with the model by-laws and

held by one and the same person but not the
other offices.
The Board shall have power to appoint committees
or sub-committees from among themselves or the
eEmployees or mMembers of the Society to be
fully responsible for the daily performance of the
Society’s business to be in charge of the daily
efficient functioning of the Society or for any other

held by one and the same person but not the

other offices.

The Board shall have power to appoint

committees or sub-committees from among

themselves, employees or members, to be

fully responsible for the daily performance of

the Society’s business or for any other

purposes.

Editorial amendments and
renumbering

represent the Society before all competent
public authorities and in all dealings and
transactions with third persons, with power to
institute or defend suits brought in the name of or
against the Society and, in general, direct and
supervise the business and property of the
Society and shall exercise all the necessary
powers to ensure the full and proper
administration and management of the affairs of
the Society, except those powers reserved for
the general meeting of mMembers and subject
to any restrictions duly laid down in a general
meeting or in the By-Laws.

represent the Society before all competent

public authorities and in all dealings and

transactions with third persons, with power to

institute or defend suits brought in the name

of or against the Society and, in general, direct

and supervise the business and property of

the Society and shall exercise all the necessary

powers to ensure the full and proper

administration and management of the affairs

of the Society, except those powers reserved

for the general meeting of members and

subject to any restrictions duly laid down in a

general meeting or in the By-Laws.

Subject to By-Law 16.3(b), the Board shall

Subject to By-Law 16.3(b), the Board shall

7.16.1

purposes, which it may deem fit.

Amended for consistency

The offices of Ssecretary and Ttreasurer may be

The offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be

renumbering

renumbering

Board.

elected members of the Board.

7.15.3

Editorial amendments and

among the appointed or elected members of the

deems fit from among the appointed or
7.15.2

Ssecretary and Ttreasurer as he deems fit from

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Vice-Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer as he

After the Annual General Meeting the President

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

shall appoint the Cchairman, Vvice-Cchairman,

7.15.1

3 BYLAW
NO

President shall appoint the Chairman,

After the Annual General Meeting the

7.7.1

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.8.2(d)

7.8.2(j)

7.8.2(c)

7.8.2(b)

7.8.2(a)

renumbering

the Society and encourage interest and a sense
of ownership on the part of the mMembers;

the Society and encourage interest and a sense

of ownership on the part of the members;

together with the audited financial statements of
the Society, and the auditor’s report for the year,
and such other documents as the Registrar may

year, together with the audited financial

statements of the Society and the auditor's

report for that year; and

Editorial amendments and
renumbering

Meeting of the Society a proposal for the
distribution of any net surplus accrued during the
preceding financial year, in accordance with the
Act and the By-Laws;

Meeting of the Society a proposal for the

distribution of any net surplus accrued during

the preceding financial year, in accordance

with the Act and the By-Laws;

to prepare and present to the Annual General

to prepare and present to the Annual General

7.16.2(g)

Society during the preceding financial year,

of the Society during the preceding financial

direct; and

the model by-laws

Society an annual report on the activities of the

the Society an annual report on the activities

Renumbering

To track the amendments to

to present to the Annual General Meeting of

to present to the Annual General Meeting of the

7.16.2(f)

Editorial amendments and

7.16.2(e)

with the model by-laws

Amended for consistency

to keep mMembers informed of the progress of

to keep members informed of the progress of

conditions;

financial conditions;
to appoint committees or sub-committees;

of the Society, its operations and financial

position of the Society, its operations and
7.16.2(d)

eEmployees which will disclose the true position

employees which will disclose the true

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

with the model by-laws

additional shares in the Society;
to call for and regularly examine reports from

Amended for consistency

Renumbering

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

to consider and approve or reject applications for

membership of the Society;

to consider and approve or reject applications for

7.16.1, the duties and powers of the Board are:

Without limiting the generality of By-Law 7.8.1

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

committees or sub-committees or oOfficers or

7.16.2(c)

7.16.2(b)

7.16.2(a)

7.16.2

3 BYLAW
NO

committees or sub-committees or officers or

to call for and regularly examine reports from

for membership of the Society;

to consider and approve or reject applications

the duties and powers of the Board are:

Without limiting the generality of By-Law 7.8.1,

7.8.2

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.8.3

7.8.2(k)

7.8.2(i)

7.8.2(h)

7.8.2(g)

7.8.2(f)

one (1) year; and

one (1) year;

with the model by-laws

proceedings of the Board in carrying out its
duties, and the records shall be available for
inspection by the Registrar, and by the Aauditor
and Audit Committee.

proceedings of the Board in carrying out its

duties, and the records shall be available for

inspection by the Registrar, the Auditor and

Audit Committee.

Renumbering

Amended for consistency

A full and correct record shall be kept of all

7.17

business as may be necessary.

of such business as may be necessary.

A full and correct record shall be kept of all

and to frame rules for the conduct of such

generally and to frame rules for the conduct

to carry on the business of the Society

Renumbering

Hundred Thousand), whichever is less, for any

Hundred Thousand), whichever is less, for any

to carry on the business of the Society generally

approved budget or $500,000 (Dollars Five

approved budget or $500,000 (Dollars Five

7.16.2(m)

renumbering

maximum of ten percent (10%) in excess of the

to sanction additional expenditure up to a

maximum of ten percent (10%) in excess of the

Renumbering
Editorial amendments and

7.16.2(l)

these By-lLaws;

to exercise any or all the powers conferred in

Renumbering

to sanction additional expenditure up to a

these By-laws;

7.16.2(k)

Section 67 of the Act and these By-Laws;

Section 67 of the Act and these By-Laws;

to exercise any or all the powers conferred in

loans subject to the provision laid down in

for loans subject to the provision laid down in

to consider and approve or reject applications

to consider and approve or reject applications for

Committee or the Aauditor;

Committee or the Auditor;
7.16.2(j)

renumbering

matters reported by the Registrar, the Audit

to consider and take immediate action on

matters reported by the Registrar, the Audit

mMembers;

the Society to its members;

Editorial amendments and

services provided by the Society to its

maintain or improve the services provided by

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

to consider and take immediate action on

considers necessary to maintain or improve the

recommendations as it considers necessary to

7.16.2(i)

financial year with such recommendations as it

preceding financial year with such

to make a report to the Annual General Meeting

7.16.2(h)
of the work of the Board during the preceding

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

3 BYLAW
NO

Meeting of the work of the Board during the

to make a report to the Annual General

7.8.2(e)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.9.2

7.9.1

discharge of his duties. Where a full-time Chief
Executive Officer Manager is appointed, any or all
all or any of the duties of the Ssecretary or
Ttreasurer, or both may be delegated to such
Chief Executive Officer Manager. Where all duties
of the sSecretary or Ttreasurer, or both are so
delegated, the Society may operate without

a full-time manager is appointed, any or all

duties of the Secretary or Treasurer, or both

may be delegated to the manager and where

all duties of the Secretary or Treasurer or both

are so delegated the Society may operate

without electing a Secretary or a Treasurer, or

both.

frequently than once in every three months.
Notice of every meeting of the Board shall be
sent to each member of the Board at least three
(3) 7 clear days prior to the date of the meeting.

less frequently than once in every three (3)

months. Notice of every meeting of the Board

shall be sent to each member of the Board at

least three (3) clear days prior to the date of

renumbering

half of the number of its members. Decisions shall
be taken on a simple majority of votes. The
Cchairman shall have no casting vote. No
member of the Board shall vote on any matter in
which he is individually interested.

be half of the number of its members.

Decisions shall be taken on a simple majority

of votes. The Chairman shall have no casting

vote. No member of the Board shall vote on

any matter in which he is individually

interested.

Editorial amendments and

Renumbering

with the model by-laws

Amended for consistency

Renumbering

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

The quorum for a meeting of the Board shall be

The quorum for a meeting of the Board shall

the meeting.

the Society may require and in any case not less

The Board shall meet as often as the business of

of the Society may require and in any case not

7.20

assist the Chief Executive Officer manager in the

manager in the discharge of his duties. Where

7.19

such other persons as it considers necessary to

persons as it considers necessary to assist the

The Board shall meet as often as the business

business affairs of the Society and may employ

of the Society and may employ such other

electing a Ssecretary or Ttreasurer, or both.

manager to administer and manage the general

administer and manage the general business

The Board may appoint, on such terms and

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

conditions as it thinks fit, a Chief Executive Officer

7.18

3 BYLAW
NO

conditions as it thinks fit, a manager to

The Board may appoint, on such terms and

7.8.4

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.11.1

In the conduct of the affairs of the Society, A a

discharge of the duties of his office. A member of
the Board, who acts in good faith, makes proper
inquiry where the need for inquiry is indicated by
the circumstances and has no knowledge that
such reliance is unwarranted, may, when
exercising powers or performing duties as a
member of the Board, rely on reports,
statements, financial data and other information
prepared or supplied and on professional or
expert advice given, by any of the following
persons:

member of the Board, who acts in good faith,

makes proper inquiry where the need for

inquiry is indicated by the circumstances and

has no knowledge that such reliance is

unwarranted, may, when exercising powers or

performing duties as a member of the Board,

rely on reports, statements, financial data and

other information prepared or supplied and

on professional or expert advice given, by any

of the following persons:

(a) an employee of the Society whom the

member of the Board believes on reasonable
grounds to be reliable and competent in
relation to the matters concerned;

reasonable grounds to be reliable and

competent in relation to the matters

concerned;

(a) an employee of the Society whom the

honestly and use reasonable diligence in the

discharge of the duties of his office. A

member of the Board believes on

member of the Board shall at all times act

honestly and use reasonable diligence in the

7.22

A member of the Board shall at all times act

a brief record of business done and decisions
unanimously or by a majority.

7.21(c)

Renumbering

with the model by-laws

Amended for consistency

Renumbering

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

the name of the Cchairman of the meeting; and

taken unanimously or by a majority.

a brief record of business done and decisions

7.10(c)

7.21(b)

Renumbering

the number and names of those present;

taken including whether each decision was taken

the name of the Chairman of the meeting; and

7.10(b)

7.21(a)

taken including whether each decision was

the number and names of those present;

7.10(a)

Renumbering

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

shall include –

after the date on which the meeting is held and

include –

Minutes of Board meetings shall be recorded by

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

the Ssecretary in the minute book within 60 days

7.21

3 BYLAW
NO

by the Secretary in the minute book and shall

Minutes of Board meetings shall be recorded

7.10

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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EXISTING

competence; or

expert competence; or

concerned did not serve, in relation to
matters within that other member’s or
committee’s designated authority.

Board concerned did not serve, in relation

to matters within that other member’s or

committee’s designated authority.

with the model by-laws.

transaction or proposed transaction with the
Society shall as soon as practicable after the
relevant facts have come to his knowledge
declare the nature and extent of his interest at a
meeting of the Board.

transaction or proposed transaction with the

Society shall as soon as practicable after the

relevant facts have come to his knowledge

declare the nature and extent of his interest at

a meeting of the Board.

character and extent of the conflict. The
declaration shall be made:

and the nature, character and extent of the

conflict. The declaration shall be made:

property,

possess the property,

if he is already a member of the Board, then after
he commenced to hold office or to possess the

7.24(b)

after he commenced to hold office or to

if he is already a member of the Board, then

at a meeting of the Board the fact and nature,

shall declare at a meeting of the Board the fact

7.12.2(b)

interests as a member of the Board shall declare

duties or interests as a member of the Board

Renumbering

Renumbering

might be created in conflict with his duties or

interests might be created in conflict with his

after he becomes a member of the Board; or

with the model by-laws.

whether directly or indirectly, duties or interests

whether directly or indirectly, duties or

7.24(a)

amended for consistency

office or possesses any property whereby,

office or possesses any property whereby,

after he becomes a member of the Board; or

Renumbering and

Every A member of the Board who holds any

7.24

amended for consistency

whether directly or indirectly, interested in a

whether directly or indirectly, interested in a

Every member of the Board who holds any

Renumbering and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Every A member of the Board who is in any way,

Every member of the Board who is in any way,

members on which the member of the Board

such members on which the member of the

(c) any other member, or any committee of such

the person’s professional or expert

be within the person’s professional or

(c) any other member, or any committee of

believes on reasonable grounds to be within

Board believes on reasonable grounds to

(b) a professional adviser or an expert in relation

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

to matters which the member of the Board

7.23

3 BYLAW
NO

relation to matters which the member of the

(b) a professional adviser or an expert in

2

7.12.2(a)

7.12.2

7.12.1

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.14.1

7.13.2

7.13.1

7.11.2

1 BYLAW
NO

EXISTING

Society (but not both), and other benefits from
the Society, provided that the payment of an
such honorarium or allowance and the provision
of any such benefits have been authorised by a
resolution to that effect passed by a general
meeting of the Society.

the Society (but not both), and other benefits,

provided that the payment of an honorarium

or allowance and the provision of any such

benefits have been authorised by a resolution

to that effect passed by a general meeting of

the Society.

renumbering
To track the amendments to
the model by-laws

following -to provide leadership to the Board as to how its
functions and responsibilities should be carried out;

following --

Editorial amendments and

The duties of the Cchairman shall include the

The duties of the Chairman shall include the
7.29.1(a)

7.29.1

own remuneration.

Renumbering

his own remuneration.

An employee of the Society shall not decide

An employee of the Society shall not decide his

receive an honorarium or allowance from the

receive an honorarium or an allowance from

7.28

who is not an eEmployee of the Society, may

being an employee of the Society, may

Renumbering

with the model by-laws

gratuitous. A member of the Board, not being

The services of all members of the Board shall

be gratuitous. A member of the Board, not

proper direction of the affairs of the Society.

direction of the affairs of the Society.

Amended for consistency

absolve the Board from its responsibility for the

Board from its responsibility for the proper

the model by-laws

The services of all members of the Board shall be

affairs of the Society, such appointment shall not

Society, the appointment shall not absolve the

7.27

or sub-committee to administer and manage the

administer and manage the affairs of the

Where the Board has appointed a person as a

To track the amendments to

with the model by-laws

pursuant to By-Laws 7.23 and 7.24 in the minutes of
the meeting at which the declaration was made.

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

The secretary shall record every declaration made

as the case requires.

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

manager Chief Executive Officer or a committee

7.26

7.25

3 BYLAW
NO

manager or a committee or sub-committee to

Where the Board has appointed a person as a

as the case requires.

2
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7.14.2

7.14.1(g)

7.14.1(f)

7.14.1(e)

7.14.1(d)

7.14.1(c)

7.14.1(b)

the By-lLaws or any the direction of the Board;
and

the Rules, the By-laws or the direction of the

Board;

Editorial amendments and
renumbering

In the absence of the Cchairman, his duties shall
be carried out by the Vvice-Cchairman or in the
absence of both the Cchairman and the
Vvice-Cchairman, by any other person elected by
a majority of those present at that meeting.

be carried out by the Vice-Chairman or in the

absence of both the Chairman and the

Vice-Chairman, by any other person elected

by a majority of those present at that meeting.

7.29.2

Board.

or Board.

In the absence of the Chairman, his duties shall

By-lLaws or entrusted to him by the President or

By-laws or entrusted to him by the President

Renumbering

and

Committee; and

to perform such other duties specified in these

the model by-laws

Sub-Committees constituted by the Committee;

Sub-Committees constituted by the

to perform such other duties specified in these

To track the amendments to

to serve on appropriate Committees or

to serve on appropriate Committees or

7.29.1(f)

the model by-laws

and statements required under the Act, the Rules,

returns and statements required under the Act,

Renumbering

To track the amendments to

to certify or sign appropriate documents, returns

7.29.1(e)

may decide;

may decide;

to certify or sign appropriate documents,

with the model by-laws

organisation or for any purposes as the Board

organisation or for any purposes as the Board

Renumbering

Amended for consistency

7.29.1(d)

oOfficers and eEmployees of the Society;

Renumbering

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

with the model by-laws

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

to represent the Society on any co-operative

to represent the Society on any co-operative

officers and employees of the Society;

to exercise general supervision over the

correctness;

correctness;
7.29.1(c)

minutes are confirmed in token of their

such minutes are confirmed in token of their

to exercise general supervision over the

to sign the minutes of all meetings at which such

to sign the minutes of all meetings at which

all meetings of the Board;

Society;

to preside at all meetings of the Board, and if

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

necessary, general meetings of the Society and

7.29.1(b)

3 BYLAW
NO

necessary, at the general meetings of the

to preside at all meetings of the Board, and if

7.14.1(a)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.15(h)

7.15(g)

7.15(f)

7.15(e)

7.15(d)

7.15(c)

7.15(b)

7.15(a)

with the model by-laws

it was made.

at which it was made.

bBy-lLaws; and.

these by-laws; and

and 7.12.2 in the minutes of the meeting at which

President or Board or specified in these

him by the President or Board or specified in

7.12.1 and 7.12.2 in the minutes of the meeting

and perform all the duties entrusted to him by the

Society and perform all the duties entrusted to

Amended for consistency

to conduct the ordinary business of the Society

to conduct the ordinary business of the

to record every declaration under By-Laws 7.12.1

renumbering

the prescribed period; and

within the prescribed period;

to record every declaration under By-Laws

Editorial amendments and

under the Act or called for by the Registrar within

under the Act or called for by the Registrar
7.30(g)

information, returns and statements required

Renumbering

Renumbering

Renumbering

Renumbering

Renumbering

Renumbering

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

information, returns and statements required

to submit all minutes of meetings and such

to submit all minutes of meetings and such
7.30(f)

Society;

to have custody of the common seal of the

Society;

to have custody of the common seal of the
7.30(e)

proceedings of such meetings in a minutes book;

proceedings of such meetings in a minutes

book;

meetings of the Board and to record the

and meetings of the Board and to record the

to summon and attend the general meetings and

to summon and attend the general meetings
7.30(d)

correspondence;

correspondence;

to sign on behalf of the Board and conduct its

to sign on behalf of the Board and conduct its
7.30(c)

to the Society;

belonging to the Society;

to keep an inventory of the property belonging

to keep an inventory of the property
7.30(b)

records, papers and registers of the Society;

records, papers and registers of the Society;

to maintain, correctly and up-to-date, all the

7.30(a)

to maintain, correctly and up-to-date, all the

The duties of the Ssecretary shall include the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

following –

7.30

3 BYLAW
NO

following –

The duties of the Secretary shall include the

7.15

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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7.17(b)

7.17(a)

7.17

7.16(d)

7.16(c)

7.16(b)

7.16(a)

Board;

of the Board;

to attend all meetings of the Society and of the

Society;

to manage the business and property of the

the model by-laws

shall include the following –

Renumbering

Renumbering

Renumbering

To track the amendments to

The duties of the Chief Executive Officer Manager

renumbering

President or Board or specified in these By-lLaws.

Board and to carry out all the instructions of the

7.32(b)

7.32(a)

7.32

Editorial amendments and

Renumbering

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

Renumbering

with the model by-laws

Amended for consistency

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

to perform all the duties entrusted to him by the

the Board and to carry out all the instructions

to attend all meetings of the Society and of

Society;

to manage the business and property of the

following:

The duties of the Manager shall include the

these By-laws.

the President or the Board or specified in

7.31(d)

accounts of the Society; and

accounts of the Society; and

to perform all the duties entrusted to him by

keeping of all the accounts and books of

keeping of all the accounts and books of

to be responsible for the proper and punctual

Board;

for by the Board;
7.31(c)

required by the By-lLaws or called for by the

documents required by the By-laws or called

to be responsible for the proper and punctual

vouchers, financial statements and documents

receipts, vouchers, financial statements and

to prepare or cause to be prepared all receipts,

directions of the Board;

with the directions of the Board;
7.31(b)

make disbursements in accordance with the

and to make disbursements in accordance

to prepare or cause to be prepared all

Society from banks, mMembers or others and to

the Society from banks, members or others

to take charge of all financial transactions of the

following –

The duties of the Ttreasurer shall include the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

Society including all monies received by the

7.31(a)

7.31

3 BYLAW
NO

the Society including all monies received by

to take charge of all financial transactions of

following:

The duties of the Treasurer shall include the

7.16

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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Subscription Capital

(b)

(a)

Share Capital, Bonus Shares and Bonus

(a)

(b)

8.1

The funds of the Society shall consist of --

8.1

Certificates;

8.

FUNDS OF THE SOCIETY

7.34

with the model by-laws

Officer shall not be held by one and the same

with the model by-laws

Executive Officer of the Society, the duties of the

sSubscription cCapital;

(iv) bonus shares issued on permanent shares;

institutional Members; and

(iii) permanent shares subscribed and paid up by

(ii) bonus shares issued on ordinary shares;

Members; and

(i) ordinary shares subscribed and paid up by

Editorial amendments

to the model by-laws

Certificates;
share capital consisting of –

To track the amendments

Share Capital, Bonus Shares and Bonus

The funds of the Society shall consist of –

FUNDS OF THE SOCIETY

Chief Executive Officer.

account the duties assigned by the Board to the

modified or altered by the Board, taking into

secretary or the treasurer of the Society may be

Amended for consistency

Where the Board appoints a person as a Chief

person.

Amended for consistency

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

Renumbering

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

The offices of chairman and Chief Executive

him by the President or the Board.

him by the President or the Board.
7.33

Ssecretary or Ttreasurer as may be entrusted to

Secretary or Treasurer as may be entrusted to

to perform all or any of the duties of the

7.32(d)

to perform all or any of the duties of the

8

7.17(d)

prescribed for that purpose; and

prescribed for that purpose; and

to record or cause to be recorded the whole of

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

the transactions of the Society in the books

7.32(c)

3 BYLAW
NO

of the transactions of the Society in the books

to record or cause to be recorded the whole

7.17(c)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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8.3

8.2

(g)

(Dollars One) each. The Share Capital may be
increased from time to time by a resolution of the
general meeting. Each mMember shall hold at least
one hundred fifty (150) Ordinary sShares of $1.00
each. No mMember, other than a society, shall
hold more than 20% one-fifth (1/5) of the paid-up
share capital of the Society unless the Registrar

million) shares of $1.00 (Dollars One) each. The

Share Capital may be increased from time to

time by a resolution of the general meeting.

Each member shall hold at least one hundred

fifty (150) shares. No member shall hold more

than one-fifth (1/5) of the paid-up share capital

of the Society.

more than 20% of its share capital to that Member.

grants written approval for the Society to issue

divided into 5,000,000 (five million) shares of $1.00

which shall be divided into 5,000,000 (five

The authorised share capital of the Society shall be
$5,000,000.00 (Dollars Five Million) which shall be

8.3

shall be $5,000,000.00 (Dollars Five Million)

The authorised share capital of the Society

the Society.

Society’s funds shall be in line with the objects of

manner as the Board thinks fit. The use of the

The funds of the Society shall be invested in the

The funds of the Society shall be invested in

the manner as the Board thinks fit.

By-Laws.

the By-Laws.
8.2

and subject to the Act, the Rules and/or the

any other Ffunds established in accordance with

any other Funds established in accordance

with and subject to the Act, the Rules and/or

Registrar;and

approval of the Registrar;and
(f)

by the Society without the prior approval of the

received by the Society without the prior

Donations made by third persons except that no
offered directly or otherwise, shall be received

7.1(f)

Donations made by third persons except that

(f)

Common Good Fund; and

whether offered directly or otherwise, shall be

(e)

Common Good Fund;

(e)

General Reserve Fund;

donations from any foreign source, whether

(d)

Reserve Fund;

(d)

mMembers’ dDeposits;

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

no donations from any foreign source,

(c)

Members’ Deposits;

3 BYLAW
NO

(c)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Editorial amendments

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Editorial amendments

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

131

1 BYLAW
NO

2

EXISTING

the model by-laws and
comply with section 14(2) of
the Act.

Ordinary Shares which the Member is required to
hold only when the Member ceases to be a
Member of the Society. The Member may

8.7

8.6

To track the amendments to

The Member may withdraw or transfer the

8.5

the model by-laws and
comply with section 14(2) of
the Act.

withdraw his share capital, subscription capital or
Deposits shall be made available on the website
of the Society and may be amended from time

withdrawal of subscription
capital

approval, to make withdrawals from his
subscription account during the term of his

from time to time upon appeal.

subject to any exemptions made by the Board

borrower at the time of application

(d) the Member is not liable to the Society as a

purpose as approved by the Board; and

(c) the amount withdrawn is applied for such

below $500.00;

the Member’s subscription accounts to fall

(b) the withdrawal does not cause the balance in

standing;

(a) his or her membership is of at least five years’

membership if:

To set out the terms for the

A Member may be allowed, upon the Board’s

to time at the Board’s discretion.

To track the amendments to

The administrative rules for a Member to

with the Act.

withdraw or transfer excess shares in accordance

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

3 BYLAW
NO
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8.6

the Act.

value of the shares, whichever is lower.

approval of the general meeting. The General

approval of the general meeting.

(a) to meet unforeseen losses;
(b) to provide a margin beyond the liabilities of
the Society so as to ensure its ability to pay
such liabilities in full in the event of dissolution;
and

(a) to meet unforeseen losses;

(b) to provide a margin beyond the liabilities

of the Society so as to ensure its ability to

pay such liabilities in full in the event of

dissolution; and

reduce the rate of interest on loans granted to
mMembers without causing a reduction in
the rate of dDividend on share capital, bonus
shares and subscription capital.

reduce the rate of interest on loans

granted to members without causing a

reduction in the rate of dividend on share

capital, bonus shares and subscription

capital.

income derived from the Reserve Fund to

income derived from the Reserve Fund to

(c) to enable the Society by reason of the

share of it. The Reserve Fund shall be used:

share of it. The Reserve Fund shall be used:

(c) to enable the Society by reason of the

mMember shall be entitled to claim a specific

The Reserve Fund shall be indivisible and no

shall be entitled to claim a specific share of it.

member shall be entitled to claim a specific

8.11

to be determined by the Board, subject to the

determined by the Board, subject to the

The Reserve Fund shall be indivisible and no

pay into the General Reserve Fund such amount

pay into the Reserve Fund such amount to be

Reserve Fund shall be indivisible and no Member

kept in the form of liquid assets. The Society may

Renumbering

Renumbering

comply with section 14(2) of

of the Society is the nominal value or net asset
The General Reserve Fund of the Society shall be

the model by-laws and

withdrawal of his share capital or the dissolution

8.9

To track the amendments to

The amount receivable by a Member upon

8.8

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

3 BYLAW
NO

in the form of liquid assets. The Society may

The Reserve Fund of the Society shall be kept

8.5

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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BORROWING POWERS

The Society shall have power to take loans or

10

10.2

the Act.

conditions as the Board may from time to time

10.2

10.

The Society shall have power to take loans or

BORROWING POWERS

society, with written approval of the Registrar.
To track the amendments to

and 67(2) of the Act.

member;
another society that is not a Member of the credit

comply with sections 67(1)

a Member of the Society or his immediate family

(c)

the model by-laws and

except –

an Employee of the Society; or

To track the amendments to

The Society shall not grant a loan to any person

(b)

(a)

9.3

comply with section 67 of

from the Society under such terms and
adopt.

the model by-laws and

Employee may be eligible to apply for a loan

Common Good Fund.

may be accepted to the Common Good Fund.

To track the amendments to

subject to By-Law 8.1(f), may be accepted to the

meeting. Donations, subject to By-Law 8.1(f),

A Member, a Member’s immediate family or an

approval of the general meeting. Donations

subject to the approval of the general

9.2

the net surplus of the Society, subject to the

percent (10%) of the net surplus of the Society,

LOAN SCHEMES

contribution, not exceeding ten percent (10%) of

annual contribution, not exceeding ten

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

9.

Good Fund shall be derived from an annual

Common Good Fund shall be derived from an

LOAN SCHEMES

social or charitable purposes. The Common

medical, social or charitable purposes. The

9

may be devoted to any educational, medical,

and may be devoted to any educational,

The Common Good Fund shall be used for the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

benefits of the mMembers of the Society and

8.10

3 BYLAW
NO

for the benefits of the members of the Society

The Common Good Fund shall be used only

8.7

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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the model by-laws

not less than five percent (5%) of the first
$500,000.00 (Dollars Five Hundred Thousand) of
the surplus shall be contributed to the Central
Co-operative Fund and twenty percent (20%) of
any surplus in excess of $500,000 shall be
contributed to the Central Co-operative Fund or
the Singapore Labour Foundation as the Society
may opt under the Act.
The Society shall contribute –

of not less than five percent (5%) of the first

$500,000.00 (Dollars Five Hundred Thousand)

of the surplus shall be contributed to the

Central Co-operative Fund and twenty

percent (20%) of any surplus in excess of

$500,000 shall be contributed to the Central

Co-operative Fund or the Singapore Labour

Foundation as the Society may opt under the

Act.

11.2

To track the amendments to

At the close of each financial year, an amount

11.2

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

At the close of each financial year, an amount of

FINANCIAL MATTERS

11.

FINANCIAL MATTERS

The immediate family members referred to in

11

10.4

these By-Laws 10.2 are as prescribed in the Rules.

The immediate family members referred to in

Registrar thinks necessary.

of the Act.

family members.

immediate family members.

on either or both of the maximum liabilities as the

deposits from members and their immediate

or deposits from members and their

comply with section 68(4)

maximum liability which it may incur in loans or

maximum liability which it may incur in loans

By-Laws 10.1 and 10.2 or impose such conditions

obtain approval from the Registrar on the

shall obtain approval from the Registrar on the

the model by-laws and

immediate family members. The Society shall

their immediate family members. The Society

both of the maximum liabilities determined under

or dDeposits from mMembers and their

incur in loans or deposits from members and

To track the amendments to

the maximum liability which it may incur in loans

meeting the maximum liability which it may

and 68(4) of the Act.

comply with sections 68(3)

the model by-laws and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

The Registrar may, at any time, reduce either or

determine from time to time at a general meeting

shall determine from time to time at a general

10.3

family members provided that the Society shall

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

family members provided that the Society

3 BYLAW
NO
dDeposits from mMembers and their immediate

EXISTING

deposits from members and their immediate

2

By-Law 10.2 are as prescribed in the Rules.

10.3

1 BYLAW
NO
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11.3(a)

the model by-laws

Rules) of the first $500,000 of the surplus resulting

case may be, as at the end of the financial year;

the financial year;

which the net surplus is distributed;

Members as at the end of the financial year for

shares, subscription and bonus shares held by

and past members on a pro-rata basis, as the

and
(ii) shares and bonus shares held by members

members as at the end of the financial year;

(i) subscription standing to the credit of

amount of

a dDividend not exceeding 10% pro rata on the

basis, as the case may be, as at the end of

members and past members on a pro-rata

(ii) shares and bonus shares held by

year; and

members as at the end of the financial

(i) subscription standing to the credit of

percent (10%) on the amount of:

subject to Section 72(2) of the Act, by payment of

by payment of a dividend not exceeding ten
11.3(a)

discretion of the general meeting:

ways at the discretion of the general meeting:

The remainder of the surplus may be distributed

Labour Foundation as the Society may opt.

Central Co-operative Fund or the Singapore

Society during the preceding financial year to the

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

Editorial amendments

the model by-laws

the Rules) of any surplus in excess of $500,000 of
the surplus resulting from the operations of the

To track the amendments to

20% (or any other rate as may be prescribed in

Co-operative Fund; and

preceding financial year to the Central

in one (1) or more of the following ways at the

11.3

(b)

To track the amendments to

5% (or any other rate as may be prescribed in the

(a)
from the operations of the Society during the

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

3 BYLAW
NO

distributed in one (1) or more of the following

The remainder of the surplus may be

11.3

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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11.4

11.3(f)

11.3(e)

11.3(d)

organisations or individuals
for charitable purposes

Board may determine subject to the approval of
the general meeting, whichever is lower, to a

purpose;

To track the amendments to
the model by-laws

A Member whose name appeared in the book of
the Society on the last day of the financial yearor
past member shall be eligible to draw dDividend
on shares, bonus shares and subscription when
declared, subject always to any restrictions
imposed in these By-lLaws. Dividend, if
unclaimed, shall be credited to the Dividend
Unclaimed Account, or the Savings Deposit

A member or past member shall be eligible to

draw dividend on shares, bonus shares and

subscription when declared subject always to

any restrictions imposed in these By-laws.

Dividend, if unclaimed, shall be credited to the

Dividend Unclaimed Account, or the Savings

Deposit Account of the member, as the case

may be.

Account of the member, as the case may be.

the model by-laws

bonus certificate or bonus shares; and

shares; and
11.4

To track the amendments to

by payment of bonus certificate or bonus

subject to Section 73 of the Act, by payment of

11.3(f)

Editorial amendments

donate or sponsor

(10%) of the net surplus or such quantum as the

(10%) of the net surplus to a charitable

charitable purpose;

To enable the society to

by a contribution not exceeding ten percent

by a contribution not exceeding ten percent
11.3(e)

Fund;

Editorial amendments

Fund;

by a contribution not exceeding ten percent
(10%) of the net surplus to the Common Good

11.3(d)

the model by-laws

To track the amendments to

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

(10%) of the net surplus to the Common Good

by a contribution not exceeding ten percent

remunerated subject to Section 65(1) of the Act

remunerated subject to By-Law 7.13.1;
and By-Law 7.13.17.27;

services which would not otherwise be

their services which would not otherwise be

by payment of honoraria to some or all of the

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

members of the Board in consideration of their

11.3(c)

3 BYLAW
NO

members of the Board in consideration of

by payment of honoraria to some or all of the

11.3(c)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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11.9.1

11.8

11.7
prescribed in By-lLaw 8.3 shall not be
withdrawable except on cessation of
membership in accordance with By-lLaw 4.183.
Shares in excess of the prescribed minimum may
be withdrawable and transferable, subject to the
provision of the Act and any limitations laid down
in the By-lLaws. The value of the shares
withdrawn shall not exceed the nominal value of
the shares or the book value as shown in the last
audited balance sheet, whichever is the less.

By-law 8.3 shall not be withdrawable except

on cessation of membership in accordance

with By-law 4.13. Shares in excess of the

prescribed minimum may be withdrawable

and transferable, subject to the provision of

the Act and any limitations laid down in the

By-laws. The value of the shares withdrawn

shall not exceed the nominal value of the

shares or the book value as shown in the last

audited balance sheet, whichever is the less.

to which all monies received shall be deposited.

Banking Act to which all monies received shall

the model by-laws
Editorial amendments and
renumbering

validity not exceeding six (6) months. All cheques
or payments made via online banking platforms
shall be signed or authorised by at least two (2)
oOfficers authorised by the Board. All payments
shall be correctly made and properly authorised
in accordance with the direction of the Board.

a validity not exceeding six (6) months. All

cheques shall be signed by at least two (2)

officers authorised by the Board. All payment

shall be correctly made and properly

authorised in accordance with the direction of

the Board.

All cheques drawn on such account shall have

To track the amendments to

Renumbering

All cheques drawn on such account shall have a

11.8.1

bank or banks registered under the Banking Act

any bank or banks registered under the

be deposited.

the name of the Society such account with any

in the name of the Society such account with

The Board shall open or cause to be opened in

The minimum number of Ordinary sShares

The minimum number of shares prescribed in

11.7

shares when declared.

dividend on bonus shares when declared.

The Board shall open or cause to be opened

the model by-laws and

shall be eligible to draw dividend on bonus

past member shall be eligible to draw

renumbering

To track the amendments to

shares were issued. A Member or a past Member

bonus shares were issued. A member or a

11.6

ten (10) years from the date when the bonus

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

after ten (10) years from the date when the

A Member holding bonus shares shall only be

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

entitled to withdraw or transfer the shares after

11.5

3 BYLAW
NO

entitled to withdraw or transfer the shares

A member holding bonus shares shall only be

11.6

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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11.12

11.11

11.10

the audited financial statements of the Society
and the audit report for that year. The financial
statements shall be in compliance with such
accounting standards as may be made or
formulated by the Accounting Standards Council
under Part III of the Accounting Standards Act
(Cap. 2B) and applicable to the Society or as may
be provided pursuant to the Act.

copy of the audited financial statements of the

Society and the audit report for that year. The

financial statements shall be in compliance

with such accounting standards as may be

made or formulated by the Accounting

Standards Council under Part III of the

Accounting Standards Act (Cap. 2B) and

applicable to the Society or as may be

Editorial amendments and
renumbering

maximum amount of cash which may be retained
by any oOfficer at any one time.

the amount of cash which may be retained by

any officer at any one time.

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

The Board shall from time to time authorise the

The Board shall from time to time authorise

11.11

financial year, submit to the Registrar a copy of

each financial year, submit to the Registrar a

provided pursuant to the Act.

later than six (6) months after the close of each

not later than six (6) months after the close of

The Society shall, as soon as practicable but

Board.
The Society shall, as soon as practicable but not

two (2) oOfficers so authorised by the Board.

least two (2) officers so authorised by the
11.10

renumbering

Society. All receipts shall be signed by at least

the Society. All receipts shall be signed by at

Receipts shall be issued for all monies paid to

Editorial amendments and

with the Mmember's consent.

to be made with the member's consent.

renumbering

Editorial amendments and

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Receipts shall be issued for all monies paid to the

and such payments shall be deemed to be made

payment and such payments shall be deemed
11.9

by inter-bank-giro or other modes of payment

account by inter-bank-giro or other modes of

All payments drawn on such account may also

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

be paid directly to the Mmember's bank account

11.8.2

3 BYLAW
NO

be paid directly to the member's bank

All payments drawn on such account may also

11.9.2

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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Loan and Deposit Register;
Minutes Books;

12.1(g)
12.1(h)
12.1(i)
12.1(j)

Loan and Deposit Register;

Minutes Books;

Copy of the Act, the Rules and the By-Laws;

Administrative policies and rules governing the

12.1(i)

12.1(k)

12.1(l)

12.1(m)

13

not be affixed to any document except with the
authority of the Board and such sealing shall be
done in the presence of at least three (3)
oOfficers authorised by the Board, who shall affix
their signatures to every document so sealed.

shall not be affixed to any document except

with the authority of the Board and such

sealing shall be done in the presence of at

least three (3) officers authorised by the Board,

who shall affix their signatures to every

AUDITORS

AUDITORS

sealed with the seal of the Society. The seal shall

sealed with the seal of the Society. The seal

13.

contracts and important documents shall be

contracts and important documents shall be

document so sealed.

design approved by the Board. All bonds,

The Society shall have its own common seal of a

different funds of the Society; and

Administrative policies and rules governing the

a design approved by the Board. All bonds,

The Society shall have its own common seal of

12.3

Register of Member’s Liabilities;

12.1(j)

Register of Member’s Liabilities;

12.1(j)

12.3

Purchases Book;

12.1(h)

Purchases Book;

12.1(h)

different funds of the Society; and

Sales Book;

12.1(g)

Sales Book;

12.1(g)

Copy of the Act, the Rules and the By-Laws;

To track the amendments to

Register of Subscription Capital Register;

12.1(c)

Subscription Register;

12.1(c)

Editorial amendments

Renumbering

Renumbering

Renumbering

Renumbering

To track the model by-laws

To track the model by-laws

To track the model by-laws

the model by-laws

the model by-laws

shares;

bonus shares;

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

To track the amendments to

12.1(b)

Register of shares, bonus certificates and

12.1(b)

BOOKS, DOCUMENTS AND SEAL OF THE SOCIETY

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

Register of shares), bonus certificates and bonus

12.

BOOKS, DOCUMENTS AND SEAL OF THE SOCIETY

3 BYLAW
NO

12

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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13.8

13.7
cCommittee and shall appear before the aAudit
cCommittee when required to do so by the
aAudit cCommittee.
Upon the request of the external auditor, the

committee and shall appear before the audit

committee when required to do so by the

audit committee.

Upon the request of the external auditor, the

(c)

(b)

(a)

13.9

To track the amendments to
the model by-laws

approved policies and processes;

the model by-laws

and relevant regulatory requirements;
review the society’s compliance with its

To track the amendments to

the model by-laws

society’s internal controls;
review the Society’s compliance with its By-Laws

To track the amendments to

the model by-laws

not limited to –
review the adequacy and effectiveness of the

To track the amendments to

The functions of internal auditors shall include but

of the Society.

among Members at the Annual General Meeting

the model by-laws

Society.

of the Board or the Society.

auditors may be elected yearly by and from

brought to the attention of the Board or the

believes should be brought to the attention

To track the amendments to

matter the external auditor believes should be

consider any matter the external auditor

14.4

By-law is repeated in By-law

Editorial amendments

Editorial amendments

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

Subject to By-Law 13.11, two or more internal

meeting of the audit committee to consider any

convene a meeting of the audit committee to

13.8

chairman of the audit committee shall convene a

chairman of the audit committee shall

13.8

be heard at any meeting of the aAudit

The external auditor has the right to appear and

The external auditor has the right to appear

and be heard at any meeting of the audit

consecutive years.

consecutive years.
13.7

the external auditor shall not exceed five (5)

the external auditor shall not exceed five (5)

An external auditor shall have the powers

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

prescribed under the Act. The appointment of

13.6

3 BYLAW
NO

prescribed under the Act. The appointment of

An external auditor shall have the powers

13.6

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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14.1

An audit committee shall be appointed by the

14.1

14.2

14.

the model by-laws

Committee on the possible corrective and

AUDIT COMMITTEE

To track the amendments to

provide recommendations to the Audit

the model by-laws

meeting the appointment of any organisation or

of the Board), each of whom who shall must be

manner prescribed in the Rules.

cCommittee resigns, dies or for any other reason
ceases to be a member with the result that the
number of members is reduced below three (3),
the Board shall, within three (3) months from the

reduced below three (3), the Board shall,

within three (3) months from the date the

vacancy occurs, appoint such number of new

If a vacancy occurs in member of the aAudit

prescribed in the Rules.

qualifications, training or experience as may be

the Audit Committee must process such

prescribed in the Rules. At least one member of

with the result that the number of members is

If a vacancy occurs in the audit committee

individuals (who may but need not be members

shall be independent of the Society in the

independent of the Society in the manner

composed of at least three (3) members

composed of at least three (3) members who

An aAudit cCommittee shall be appointed by the

AUDIT COMMITTEE

under By-Law 13.8 shall be dispensed with.

general meeting, the election of internal auditor

Board from among themselves and shall be

14.2

To track the amendments to

The Board may recommend to the general

with model by-laws

Amended for consistency

of the Act.

comply with section 36(2)

the model by-laws and

To track the amendments to

the model by-laws

the Society for the performance of his duties.

firm as internal auditor. If approved by the

To track the amendments to

An internal auditor may be paid an allowance by

Board from among themselves and shall be

13.11

13.10

its reviews.

preventive actions to address any findings from

the model by-laws

from the reviews; and
(e)

To track the amendments to

report to the Audit Committee the findings arising

(d)

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

3 BYLAW
NO

14

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO
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these By-Laws or the Act;

By-Laws or the Act;

(iii) the assistance given by the oOfficers of the

(iii) the assistance given by the officers of the

Society to the auditor;

them to the Board; and

and

summoned by the Registrar or by any person
authorised by the Registrar. In his absence, one (1)
of the Vice-Presidents shall take the chair.

summoned by the Registrar or by any person

authorised by the Registrar. In his absence,

one (1) of the Vice-Presidents shall take the

chair.

meetings if necessarywhen present except those

The President shall preside at all the general

meetings when present except those

16.2

Society’s subsidiary and thereafter to submit

thereafter to submit them to the Board;

The President shall preside at all general

financial statements submitted by the

submitted by the Society’s subsidiary and

16.2

balance-sheet, income and expenditure

income and expenditure statement

PRESIDENT AND VICE PRESIDENTS

Society and, if any, the consolidated

if any, the consolidated balance-sheet,

PRESIDENT AND VICE PRESIDENTS

expenditure financial statements of the

(v) the balance-sheet and income and

and

(iv) the scope and results of the audit procedures;

expenditure statement of the Society and,

(v) the balance-sheet and income and

procedures; and

(iv) the scope and results of the audit

7.29.1(b).

with proposed by-law

Amended for consistency

Editorial amendments

(ii) with the external auditor, his audit report;

(ii) with the auditor, his audit report;

16.

the model by-laws

(i) with the external auditor, the audit plan;

(i) with the auditor, the audit plan;

Society to the external auditor;

To track the amendments to

to review :

to review –

14.3(b)

with model by-laws

auditor(s);, notwithstanding anything contained in

notwithstanding anything contained in these

to nominate a person or persons as auditor(s),

Amended for consistency

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS

to nominate a person or persons as external

14.3(a)

the minimum number of three (3) members.

new members as may be required to make up

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

minimum number of three (3) members.

3 BYLAW
NO
date the vacancy occurs, appoint such number of

EXISTING

members as may be required to make up the

2

16

14.3(b)

14.3(a)

1 BYLAW
NO
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the existence of any defect in the constitution of
the Society or of the Board or of any Ccommittee
or Ssub-Ccommittee in the appointment or
election of an oOfficer or on the ground that
such oOfficer was disqualified for his
appointment.

reason only of the existence of any defect in

the constitution of the Society or of the Board

or of the Committee or Sub-Committee in the

appointment or election of an officer or on the

ground that such officer was disqualified for

his appointment.

No act of the Society or the Board or any oOfficer
shall be deemed to be invalid by reason only of

17.4

No act of the Society or the Board or any

17.4

GENERAL

officer shall be deemed to be invalid by

17.

expedient in the interests of the Society;

and expedient in the interests of the Society;

GENERAL

Sub-Committee as he considers necessary and

or Sub-Committee as he considers necessary

to call for any information from the Board or from
any oOfficer or eEmployee or Committee or

16.3(d)

from any officer or employee or Committee

to call for any information from the Board or

17

16.3(d)

Society or to remove them from the Board;

Society or to remove them from the Board;

to appoint not more than seven (7) members of

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

the Board from among the members of the

16.3(a)

3 BYLAW
NO

of the Board from among the members of the

to appoint not more than seven (7) members

16.3(a)

EXISTING

2

1 BYLAW
NO

Editorial amendments

Editorial amendments

Editorial amendments

REASON FOR
AMENDMENTS
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PROPOSED ADJUSTMENTS
FOR FY2020 AND
ESTIMATED EXPENDITURE
FOR FY2021
EXPENDITURE FOR FY2020 – FY2021
REVENUE EXPENDITURE FOR

FY2020
SGD

FY2020

FY2021

SGD

SGD

(ADJUSTMENTS)

6,521,982

(923,604)

5,796,478

Investment Properties:

822,200

(1,000)

821,440

• 259 Holland Avenue

-

-

-

• 261 Holland Avenue

-

-

-

• #01-01 & #02-01/01A Guthrie Building

-

-

-

• #01-01 to #03-01 SPCS Building

-

-

-

7,344,182

(924,604)

6,617,918

Office at 250 Sims Ave #04-01

Total

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE FOR

FY2020
SGD

FY2020

FY2021

SGD

SGD

(ADJUSTMENTS)

155,000

489,990

165,000

• 259 Holland Avenue

-

-

-

• 261 Holland Avenue

-

-

-

15,000

-

-

-

5,000

-

170,000

494,990

165,000

Office at 250 Sims Ave #04-01
Investment Properties:

• #01-01 & #02-01/01A Guthrie Building
• #01-01 to #03-01 SPCS Building
Total

Please refer to Pages 146-147 for detailed listing of expenditure.
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REVENUE EXPENDITURE (OFFICE) FOR FY2020 – FY2021
OFFICE:
250 SIMS AVE #04-01
Advertising & Promotion

FY2020
SGD

FY2020

FY2021

SGD

SGD

(ADJUSTMENTS)

145,000

(39,400)

150,760

2,750

-

2,750

Auditor’s Remuneration (Internal-Professional)

30,000

-

30,000

Auditor's Remuneration(External)

24,000

-

25,000

Bank & Broking Charges

14,000

-

14,000

198,670

-

198,670

783,000

(213,000)

641,300

356,000

(21,000)

355,000

Donation/Sponsorship

50,000

-

50,000

General Meeting Expense (AGM/EOGM)

21,500

45,000

29,000

General Expenses

94,000

6,300

85,000

Goods & Services Tax

40,000

-

60,000

Interest on Fixed Deposit

145,000

(74,450)

59,500

Interest on Specific Deposit

790,500

(403,000)

410,000

2,078,000

(230,000)

1,755,000

180,000

(39,000)

309,000

Property Maintenance Fund & Other Expense

32,232

1,896

34,128

Property Sinking Fund

56,880

-

56,880

Property Tax

12,800

(500)

12,300

Postage

18,000

-

18,000

Professional Fee

50,000

50,000

100,000

Printing & Stationery

40,000

-

40,000

PUB Charges

20,000

-

20,000

Service Charges

40,000

-

40,000

Staff Medical/Insurance Expenses

26,000

(5,250)

26,000

Staff Service Benefit

16,000

(1,200)

16,540

1,168,650

-

1,168,650

Staff Training

20,000

-

20,000

Study Tour/Retreat

20,000

-

20,000

Telephone/SMS

14,000

-

14,000

Training (Directors)

20,000

-

20,000

Transport/Despatch

15,000

-

15,000

6,521,982

(923,604)

5,796,478

(Include social and recreational activities)
Affiliation Fee

CPF & SDF
Debts Recovery Expense
(including legal and loan insurance premium)
Depreciation

Interest on Subscription-To-Savings Scheme
Maintenance Expenses

Staff Salaries & Bonuses
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REVENUE EXPENDITURE (INVESTMENT PROPERTIES) FOR FY2020 – FY2021
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES:
� 259 HOLLAND AVENUE
� 261 HOLLAND AVENUE
� #01-01 GUTHRIE BUILDING
� #02-01/01A GUTHRIE BUILDING
� #01-01 SPCS BUILDING
� #02-01 SPCS BUILDING
� #03-01 SPCS BUILDING
Depreciation

FY2020

SGD

FY2020

FY2021

SGD

SGD

(ADJUSTMENTS)

410,000

-

410,040

-

-

-

45,000

-

45,000

222,200

4,100

226,500

Other Expenses

20,000

-

20,000

Property Tax

125,000

-

119,900

822,200

4,100

821,440

Interest on Financing
(reclassified under Interest on Fixed Deposits)
Maintenance/Repairs
Maintenance Fund/Sinking Fund

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE (OFFICE) FOR FY2020 – FY2021
OFFICE:
250 SIMS AVE #04-01
Computer Software Program

FY2020
SGD

FY2020

FY2021

SGD

SGD

(ADJUSTMENTS)

80,000

447,800

88,000

5,000

47,190

7,000

Furniture & Fittings

-

20,000

20,000

Office Equipment

-

15,000

20,000

70,000

(40,000)

30,000

155,000

489,990

165,000

Computer Hardware

Renovation
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DETAILS ON RESTRICTED
INVESTMENTS AS AT
31 DECEMBER 2019 AND
PROPOSED
INVESTMENT PLAN
RESOLUTION 11 - RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS
To adopt, and if approved, the following resolution:
“that the general meeting authorise the Board to invest up to 30% of the Society’s total assets in restricted
investments, from the date of Annual General Meeting 2020 to the date of Annual General Meeting 2023. Following
the approval of members, the Board will seek approval from the Registrar.”
As at 31 December 2019, the Society’s restricted investments amounted to $74,137,778 or 28% of total assets. The
breakdown of the investment is as follows:
NO RESTRICTED
INVESTMENTS

AS AT 31
DECEMBER 2019

AS AT 31
DECEMBER 2018

INCOME
2019

INCOME
2018

a

Securities listed on SGX

$5,568,469

$4,700,457

$263,398

$266,923

b

Corporate Bonds
(including variable notes)

$58,196,541

$59,684,034

$2,006,238

$2,273,737

c

Shares in Joint Venture
Companies (private limited)

$5,724,501

$5,629,008

$296,000

$168,000

d

Shares in other co-operatives
(invest after 30 June 2010)

-

-

-

$30,000

e

Investment Properties
(invest after 30 June 2010)

$4,648,267

$4,789,124

$133,500

$5,867

Total

$74,137,778

$74,802,263

$2,699,136

$2,744,527

3.64%

3.67%

Annual Return
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RESOLUTION 11 - RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS (CONT’D)
Based on total assets of $259,876,660 as at 31 December 2019, 30% of total assets will amount to $77,962,998.
If members approve the 30% limit, the Board plans to place the investible funds broadly based on the following asset
allocation:
NO PORTFOLIO

CURRENT
(APPROVED ON 1 JUNE 2017)

PROPOSED

max 87.5%

max 85%

a

Corporate Bonds (including variable notes)

b

Securities listed on SGX

max 10%

max 15%

c

Investment Properties

max 10%

max 15%

d

Joint Ventures

max 10%

max 10%

e

Unit Trust

Nil

Nil

f

Managed Funds

max 80%

max 25%

100%

100%

Total

With the proposed investment plan, the Board hopes to generate annual returns of at least 50 basis points above the
annual average of 12-month fixed deposit rates published by the Monetary Authority of Singapore for the next 3
years.
All investment transactions are to be approved by the Investment Committee and/or the Board.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING
THE SINGAPORE POLICE CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LTD
(REGISTRATION NO: S26CS0004D)
27 July 2020
NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SINGAPORE POLICE CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LTD
Dear member,
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 90th Annual General Meeting of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Ltd
(“the Co-op”) will be convened and held by way of electronic means on Tuesday, 18th August 2020 at 11.00am for
the following purposes:
AGENDA 1:

Opening Address by the Chairman, Mr Moh Tser Loong Alvin.

AGENDA 2:

Speech from the President of the Co-op, Commissioner of Police, Mr Hoong Wee Teck, for his
appointment of 7 directors to be read by Chairman.

AGENDA 3:

To consider and confirm the Minutes of the 89th Annual General Meeting held on 13 June 2019.
(Resolution 1)

AGENDA 4:

To consider and approve the report of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended 31
December 2019 (“FY2019”). (Resolution 2)

AGENDA 5:

To consider and approve the auditor’s report and to approve the audited financial statements for
FY2019. (Resolution 3)

AGENDA 6:

To approve the appropriation of net surplus of $3,636,705 as follows:
(1) To Central Co-operative Fund at 5% on the first $500,000
and 20% on the remainder………………………………………………………………………………………………. $ 652,341
(2) Payment of dividends at 2.88% on members' shares and
subscription as at 31st December 2018…………………………………………………………………………… $ 2,644,453
(3) To Scholarship Fund…………………………………………………………………………………………………………. $ 13,000
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NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SINGAPORE POLICE CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LTD (CONT’D)

(4) To Honorarium………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. $ 4,700
(5) To Common Good Fund………………………………………………………………………………………………….. $ 60,000
(6) To Accumulated Fund………………………………………………………………………………………………………. $ 262,211
(Resolution 4)
AGENDA 7:

To approve the proposed amendments to the by-laws of the Co-op. (Resolution 5)

AGENDA 8:

To elect/re-elect up to 8 individuals from the following candidates as a member of the Board of
Directors from the 90th to 92nd Annual General Meeting:
(1) Chong Hung Li Grace
(2) Lim Wei-Yang Julius
(3) Wong Xing Shun Justin
(4) Gong Wai Liat
(5) Chua Chee Wai
(6) Poh Wee Yong
(7) Mohaideen Abdul Kadir Bin Gose Ahmad Sha
(8) Tan Cheng Siong
(Resolution 6)

AGENDA 9:

To appoint PG Wee Partnership LLP as the external auditors of the Co-op. (Resolution 7)

AGENDA 10:

To adopt, if approved, the following resolution:
“That the Society be and is authorised to receive deposits of up to $255 million (from the current $245
million) from members and their immediate family members.” (Resolution 8)

AGENDA 11:

To approve a final dividend payment of 1.50% based on members’ shares and subscription as at 31
December 2019 to be paid on 3 September 2020. (Resolution 9)

AGENDA 12:

To approve the adjustments for FY2020 and the estimated expenditure for FY2021. (Resolution 10)

AGENDA 13:

To authorise the Board to invest up to 30% of the Co-op’s total assets in restricted investments, from
the date of Annual General Meeting 2020 to the date of Annual General Meeting 2023. (Resolution 11)
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IMPORTANT NOTES
1)

Due to the current COVID-19 situation in Singapore, a member will not be able to attend the Annual General
Meeting in person.

2)

The Annual General Meeting will be convened and held by electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19
(Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Charities, Co-operative Societies and Mutual
Benefit Organisations) Order 2020.

3)

Please refer to Annex A: Alternative Arrangements for details of how the Annual General Meeting will be
conducted, including how members may electronically access the meeting, send to the chairman of the
meeting the substantial and relevant matters which they wish to raise, and cast their votes.

4)

An Ordinary member must appoint the chairman of the meeting as his/her proxy to attend, speak and vote on
his/her behalf at the Annual General Meeting if such Ordinary member wishes to exercise his/her voting rights
at the Annual General Meeting. Please refer to Annex B: Proxy Form for information on how the chairman of the
meeting may be appointed as proxy to vote.

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The following documents or information to be laid or produced at the Annual General Meeting may be accessed
online at https://agm.conveneagm.org/policecoopagm2020:
a)

Minutes of the last (89th) Annual General Meeting

b)

Board of Directors’ Report for FY2019

c)

The Co-op’s auditor’s report and audited financial statements for FY2019

d)

Table setting out the proposed amendments to the by-laws

e)

Key information on each individual proposed to be elected or re-elected to the Board of Directors

f)

Key information on PG Wee Partnership LLP (auditor) proposed to be re-appointed

g)

Proposed adjustments for FY2020 and the estimated expenditure for FY2021

h)

Details of the Co-op’s restricted investments as at 31 December 2019 and proposed investment plan

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY
By submitting an instrument appointing the chairman of the meeting as proxy to attend, speak and vote at the Annual
General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, an Ordinary Member is deemed to have consented to the
collection, use and disclosure of the Ordinary Member’s personal data by the Co-op (or its agents or service
providers) for the purposes of:
a)

processing and administration of the Ordinary Member’s appointment of the chairman of the meeting as proxy
for the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof);

b)

preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Annual
General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof); and

c)

compliance by the Co-op (or its agents or service providers) with any applicable laws, regulations, guidelines
and/or the Co-op’s by-laws.
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ANNEX A: ALTERNATIVE ARRANGEMENTS FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SINGAPORE POLICE
CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LTD ON 18 AUGUST 2020
1)

No personal attendance at the Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’): Due to the current COVID-19 situation in
Singapore, members will not be able to attend the AGM in person.

2)

Participation at the AGM electronically: Members may participate at the AGM by:
a) attending or observing and listening to the AGM proceedings by electronic means;
b) submitting matters that they wish to raise in advance of the AGM; and
c) appointing the chairman of the meeting as proxy to attend, speak and vote on their behalf at the AGM (for
Ordinary Members only).

3)

Steps for pre-registration, pre-submission of questions and voting at the AGM:
STEPS

DETAILS

Pre-registration for

Members must pre-register at the pre-registration website at

attendance by

https://agm.conveneagm.org/policecoopagm2020 from now till 5.30pm on 11

electronic means

August 2020 to enable the Co-op to verify their status as members.
Following the verification, authenticated members will receive a confirmation
email by 5.30pm on 13 August 2020. The email will contain user ID and
password details, as well as the link to access the live audio-visual webcast and
a toll-free telephone number to access the live audio-only stream of the AGM
proceedings.
Members who do not receive a confirmation email by 5.30pm on 13 August
2020, but have registered by the deadline for pre-registration should contact
Ms Frances Ye at Tel: 63348055.

Submit questions in

Members will not be able to raise matters or ask questions at the AGM live

advance

during the webcast or audio-stream.
In advance of the AGM, members should send to the chairman of the meeting
the matters which they wish to raise at the meeting, in the following manner:
a) Via pre-registration website: Members who pre-register to observe and/or
listen to the AGM proceedings may submit their questions via the
pre-registration website at
https://agm.conveneagm.org/policecoopagm2020
b) By

email:

Questions

may

be

emailed

to

Secretary

at

Secretary@policecoop.org.sg
Deadline to submit questions: All questions must be submitted by 5.30pm on 11
August 2020.
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ANNEX A: ALTERNATIVE ARRANGEMENTS FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SINGAPORE POLICE CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY
LTD ON 18 AUGUST 2020 (CONT’D)

STEPS

DETAILS
Addressing questions:
All substantial and relevant matters raised before the deadline will be addressed
by the Board prior to, or at, the AGM.
The Board will endeavour to address all substantial and relevant matters raised
by members during the AGM through live audio-visual webcast and live
audio-only stream. However, as there may not be sufficient time to address all
such matters raised during the AGM itself, responses to those questions which
could not be addressed during the AGM will be published on the Co-op’s
website prior to the AGM.

Submit proxy forms

Appointment of chairman of the meeting as proxy: Ordinary Members who

to vote

wish to vote on the resolutions to be tabled at the AGM must appoint the
chairman of the meeting as their proxy to attend, speak and vote on their behalf
at the AGM, by depositing with the Co-op an instrument of appointment (‘proxy
form’). Detailed instructions may be found in the proxy form (Annex B).
Specific voting instructions to be given: Where Ordinary Members appoint the
chairman of the meeting as their proxy, they must give specific instructions as to
voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of each resolution in the proxy
form, failing which the appointment of the chairman of the meeting as proxy for
that resolution will be treated as invalid.
Submission of proxy forms: Proxy forms must be submitted by post or by email
(as specified in the proxy form), and must reach the Co-op by 5.30pm on 12
August 2020.

4)

The AGM will be held at 11.00am on 18 August 2020. Members may electronically access the meeting by:
a) Clicking on the link in the confirmation email and entering the user ID and password to access the live
audio-visual webcast of the AGM proceedings; or
b) Calling the toll-free telephone number in the confirmation email to access the live audio-only stream of the
AGM proceedings.
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PROXY FORM
THE SINGAPORE POLICE CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LTD
(REGISTRATION NO: S26CS0004D)
ANNEX B: PROXY FORM1 FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SINGAPORE POLICE CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY
LIMITED ON 18 AUGUST 2020
I,

[name of member as per NRIC] (*NRIC/FIN:

)

of
[address] being an Ordinary Member
of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited (‘the Co-op’) hereby appoint the chairman of the meeting as
my proxy to attend, speak and vote for me and on my behalf, at the Annual General Meeting of the Co-op, to be
convened and held by way of electronic means at https://agm.conveneagm.org/policecoopagm2020 on 18 August
2020 at 11.00 am and at any adjournment thereof in the following manner:

NO

PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS

1

To consider and confirm the Minutes of the 89th Annual General

FOR

AGAINST

ABSTAIN

Meeting held on 13 June 2019.
2

To consider and approve the report of the Board of Directors for
the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (“FY2019”).

3

To consider and approve the auditor’s report and to approve the
audited financial statements for FY2019.

4

To approve the appropriation of net surplus.

5

To approve the proposed amendments to the by-laws of the Co-op.

6(1)

To elect/re-elect Chong Hung Li Grace as a member of the Board
of Directors from 90th to 92nd Annual General Meeting.

6(2)

To elect/re-elect Lim Wei-Yang Julius as a member of the Board of
Directors from 90th to 92nd Annual General Meeting.

6(3)

To elect/re-elect Wong Xing Shun Justin as a member of the Board
of Directors from 90th to 92nd Annual General Meeting.

6(4)

To elect/re-elect Gong Wai Liat as a member of the Board of
Directors from 90th to 92nd Annual General Meeting.

6(5)

To elect/re-elect Chua Chee Wai as a member of the Board of
Directors from 90th to 92nd Annual General Meeting.

1

Instrument of appointment under the Second Schedule of the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for
Charities, Co-operative Societies and Mutual Benefit Organisations) Order 2020.
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ANNEX B: PROXY FORM FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SINGAPORE POLICE CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED ON 18
AUGUST 2020 (CONT’D)

NO

PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS

FOR

6(6)

To elect/re-elect Poh Wee Yong as a member of the Board of

AGAINST

ABSTAIN

Directors from 90th to 92nd Annual General Meeting.
To elect/re-elect Mohaideen Abdul Kadir Bin Gose Ahmad Sha as

6(7)

a member of the Board of Directors from 90th to 92nd Annual
General Meeting.
6(8)

To elect/re-elect Tan Cheng Siong as a member of the Board of
Directors from 90th to 92nd Annual General Meeting.

7

To appoint PG Wee Partnership LLP as the external auditors of the
Co-op.

8

To approve the following resolution:
“That the Society be and is authorised to receive deposits of up to
$255 million (from the current $245 million) from members and their
immediate family members.”

9

To approve a final dividend payment of 1.50% based on members’
shares and subscription as at 31 December 2019 to be paid on 3
September 2020.

10

To approve the adjustments for FY2020 and the estimated
expenditure for FY2021.

11

To authorise the Board to invest up to 30% of the Co-op’s total
assets in restricted investments, from the date of Annual General
Meeting 2020 to the date of Annual General Meeting 2023.

If you wish the chairman of the meeting as your proxy to cast all your votes For or Against a resolution, please tick
with “√” in the For or Against box in respect of that resolution. If you wish the chairman of the meeting as your proxy
to Abstain from voting on a resolution, please tick with “√” in the Abstain box in respect of that resolution. In the
absence of specific directions in respect of a resolution, the appointment of the chairman of the meeting as your
proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.
Dated this

day of

2020.

Signature of member
Important Notes:
1)

The Annual General Meeting will be convened and held by electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19
(Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Charities, Co-operative Societies and Mutual
Benefit Organisations) Order 2020.
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ANNEX B: PROXY FORM FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SINGAPORE POLICE CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED ON 18
AUGUST 2020 (CONT’D)

2)

Alternative arrangements relating to attendance at the Annual General Meeting via electronic means (including
the means by which the meeting can be electronically accessed), sending of substantial and relevant matters to
be raised to the chairman of the meeting in advance of the Annual General Meeting, addressing of substantial
and relevant matters before or at the Annual General Meeting, and voting by appointing the chairman of the
meeting as proxy at the Annual General Meeting, are set out in the accompanying Notice of Annual General
Meeting dated 27 July 2020.

3)

Due to the current COVID-19 situation in Singapore, a member will not be able to attend the Annual General
Meeting in person. An Ordinary Member must appoint the chairman of the meeting as his/her proxy to
attend, speak and vote on his/her behalf at the Annual General Meeting if such Ordinary Member wishes to
exercise his/her voting rights at the Annual General Meeting.

4)

By submitting this proxy form, the Ordinary Member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set
out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 27 July 2020.

5)

Where an Ordinary Member appoints the chairman of the meeting as his/her proxy, he/she must give specific
instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of a resolution in the form of proxy, failing which
the appointment of the chairman of the meeting as proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

6)

The instrument appointing the chairman of the meeting as proxy (i.e. this Proxy Form) must be deposited with
the Co-op in the following manner:
a) if submitted by post, be lodged with the Co-op at the following mailing address:
Police Co-op AGM 2020
30 Cecil Street #21-08
Prudential Tower
Singapore 049712
or
b) if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to Rae Chan at proxy@ardent.com.sg,
in either case, by 5.30 pm on 12 August 2020.

7)

An Ordinary Member who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy must first download, complete and sign the
proxy form, before submitting it by post to the mailing address provided above, or before scanning and sending
it by email to the email address provided above.

8)

In view of the current Covid-19 situation and the related safe distancing measures which may make it difficult
for Ordinary Members to submit completed proxy forms by post, Ordinary Members are strongly
encouraged to submit completed proxy forms electronically via email.

9)

The instrument appointing the chairman of the meeting as proxy must be under the hand of the appointer or of
his attorney duly authorised in writing or, where it is executed by an organisation, be executed either under its
seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

10)

The Co-op shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing the chairman of the meeting as proxy if it is
incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointer are not
ascertainable from the instructions of the appointer specified in the instrument appointing the chairman of the
meeting as proxy.

The Singapore Police
Co-Operative Society Ltd
250 Sims Avenue #04-01,
SPCS Building, Singapore 387513
6334 8055
6334 8497
www.policecoop.org.sg
The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Ltd

